

WOOLWORTHS HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa with limited liability under registration number 1929/001986/06)

unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by

WOOLWORTHS PROPRIETARY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa with limited liability under registration number 1956/000518/07)

ZAR10,000,000,000

Domestic Medium Term Note Programme

Under this ZAR10,000,000 Domestic Medium Term Note Programme (the **Programme**), Woolworths Holdings Limited (the **Issuer**) may from time to time issue notes (the **Notes**), which expression shall include Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes (each as defined below) denominated in any currency agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) (as defined below) and further subject to all applicable laws and, in the case of Notes is the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) (as defined below) and further subject to all applicable laws and, in the case of Notes to the Issuer and the relevant authority, the listings requirements of the JSE or such other Financial Exchange(s) (as defined herein), that are subject to the terms and conditions (the Terms and Conditions) contained in this Programme Memorandum. Any other terms and conditions not contained in the Terms and Conditions that are applicable to any Notes, replacing or modifying the Terms and Conditions, will be set forth in a pricing supplement (the **Applicable Pricing Supplement**).

Capitalised terms used in this Programme Memorandum are defined in the section of this Programme Memorandum headed "Terms and Conditions of the Notes", unless separately defined, and/or in relation to a Tranche of Notes, in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

As at the Programme Date, the Programme Amount is ZAR10,000,000. This Programme Memorandum will apply to the Notes issued under the Programme in an aggregate outstanding Nominal Amount which will not exceed ZAR10,000,000,000 unless such amount is increased by the Issuer as set out in the section of this Programme Memorandum headed *"General Description of the Programme"*.

Woolworths Proprietary Limited (the **Guarantor**) irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees to the holders of the Notes (the **Noteholders**) the due and punctual fulfilment of all obligations and the payment by the Issuer of all amounts owing by the Issuer in respect of the Notes arising under the Programme.

The Notes may comprise, without limitation, Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Mixed Rate Notes, Index-Linked Notes, Zero Coupon Notes and/or such combination of the foregoing Notes and/or such other type of Notes as may be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) (as defined below) and specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement. Notes will be issued in individual Tranches which, together with other Tranches, may form a Series of Notes. A Tranche of Notes will be issued on, and subject to, the Terms and Conditions, as replaced, amended and/or supplemented by the terms and conditions of that Tranche of Notes set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

This Programme Memorandum has been approved by the JSE on 17 March 2017. A Tranche of Notes may be listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE or on such other or additional Financial Exchange(s) as may be determined by the Issuer, subject to all applicable laws. Unlisted Notes may also be issued under the Programme. Claims against the BESA Guarantee Fund may only be made in respect of the trading of Notes listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE in accordance with the listings requirements of the BESA Guarantee Fund. The holders of Notes that are not listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will have no recourse against the JSE or the BESA Guarantee Fund. Unlisted Notes are not regulated by the JSE. A copy of the Applicable Pricing Supplement relating to a Tranche of Notes which is to be listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will be delivered to the JSE and the CSD, on or before the Issue Date, and the Notes in that Tranche may be traded by or through members of the JSE will be gracer to accordance with the electronic settlement procedures of the JSE and the CSD. The placement of a Tranche of unlisted Notes may (at the sole discretion of the Issuer) be reported through the JSE reporting system, in which event the settlement of trades in such Notes will take place in accordance with the electronic settlement procedures of the JSE and the CSD for all trades done through the JSE. The settlement and redemption procedures for a Tranche of Notes listed on any Financial Exchange (other than or in addition to the JSE) will be specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis and be placed by one or more of the Dealers specified under the section headed "Summary of the Programme" and any additional Dealer(s) appointed under the Programme from time to time by the Issuer, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis. References in this Programme Memorandum to the "relevant Dealer(s)" shall, in the case of Notes being (or intended to be) placed by more than 1 (one) Dealer, be to all Dealers agreeing to place such Notes.

As at the Programme Date, the Issuer is rated. The Guarantor and the Programme are not rated but may after the Programme Date be rated by a Rating Agency on a national or international scale basis. A Tranche of Notes may, on or before the Issue Date, be rated by a Rating Agency on a national scale basis. Unrated Tranches of Notes may also be issued. The Applicable Pricing Supplement will reflect the Rating, if any, which has been assigned to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or a Tranche of Notes, as the case may be, as well as the Rating Agency or Rating Agencies which assigned such Rating(s).

Arrangers The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division Rand Merchant Bank a division of FirstRand Bank Limited Dealers Absa Corporate and Investment Bank, a division of Absa Bank Limited Investec Bank Limited acting through its Corporate and Institutional Banking division Nedbank Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division JSE Debt Sponsor Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited

Programme Memorandum dated 17 March 2017

GENERAL

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "General" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

The Issuer and the Guarantor accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Programme Memorandum and all documents incorporated by reference (see the section of this Programme Memorandum headed "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*"). To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer and the Guarantor (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this Programme Memorandum is in accordance with the facts and does not omit any fact which would make any statement false or misleading and all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made. This Programme Memorandum contains all information required by law and the debt listings requirements of the JSE.

The JSE takes no responsibility for the contents of this Programme Memorandum, any Applicable Pricing Supplements, or the annual reports of the Issuer (as amended or restated from time to time), makes no representation as to the accuracy or completeness of any of the foregoing documents and expressly disclaims any liability for any loss arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of this Programme Memorandum, any Applicable Pricing Supplements, or the annual reports of the Issuer (as amended or restated from time to time).

The Issuer and the Guarantor, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that this Programme Memorandum contains or incorporates all information which is material in the context of the issue and the offering of Notes, that the information contained or incorporated in this Programme Memorandum is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading, that the opinions and the intentions expressed in this Programme Memorandum are honestly held and that there are no other facts, the omission of which would make this Programme Memorandum or any of such information or expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading in any material respect.

This document is to be read and construed with any amendment or supplement thereto (this document, as amended or supplemented, the **Programme Memorandum**) and in conjunction with any other documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see the section headed "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*") and, in relation to any Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes, should be read and construed together with the Applicable Pricing Supplement. This Programme Memorandum shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated into and form part of this Programme Memorandum.

The Arrangers, the Dealer(s), the JSE Debt Sponsor or any of their respective subsidiaries or holding companies or a subsidiary of their holding companies (**Affiliates**), other professional advisers named herein and the JSE have not separately verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility is accepted by the Arrangers, the Dealer(s), the JSE Debt Sponsor nor any of their Affiliates or other professional advisers as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information provided by the Issuer or the Guarantor. The Arrangers, the Dealer(s), the JSE Debt Sponsor, any of their Affiliates and other professional advisers do not accept any liability in relation to the information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information contained in this Programme Memorandum or any other information provided by the Issuer and/or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme.

No Person has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or inconsistent with this Programme Memorandum or any other document entered into in relation to the Programme or any other information supplied by the Issuer in connection with the Programme and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arrangers, the Dealer(s), the JSE Debt Sponsor nor any of their Affiliates or other professional advisers.

Neither this Programme Memorandum nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is intended to provide a basis for any credit or other evaluation, or should be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Arrangers, the Dealer(s), the JSE Debt Sponsor, any of their Affiliates and other professional advisers that any recipient of this Programme Memorandum or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme should subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

Each Person contemplating the subscription for, or purchase of, any Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Programme Memorandum and should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and its subscription for, or purchase of, Notes should be based upon any such investigation as it deems necessary. Neither this Programme Memorandum nor any Applicable Pricing Supplement nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arrangers, any of the Dealers, the JSE Debt Sponsor, any of their Affiliates or other professional advisers to any Person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Programme Memorandum nor any Applicable Pricing Supplement nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note shall at any time imply that the information contained herein is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof, or that any other financial statements or other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct at any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Arrangers, the Dealer(s), the JSE Debt Sponsor, any of their Affiliates and other professional advisers expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor during the life of the Programme. Investors should review, *inter alia*, the most recent financial statements, if any, of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor when deciding whether or not to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

Neither this Programme Memorandum nor any Applicable Pricing Supplement constitutes an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase any Notes. The distribution of this Programme Memorandum and any Applicable Pricing Supplement and the issue, sale or offer of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this Programme Memorandum or any Applicable Pricing Supplement or any Notes come are required by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arrangers, the Dealer(s), the JSE Debt Sponsor, any of their Affiliates and other professional advisers to inform themselves about, and observe any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of this Programme Memorandum or any Applicable Pricing Supplement and other offering material relating to the Notes, see the section headed "Subscription and Sale".

None of the Issuer, the Guarantor, each Arranger, each Dealer, the JSE Debt Sponsor, any Affiliate nor any other professional adviser represents that this Programme Memorandum may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by the Issuer, the Arrangers, the Dealer(s), the JSE Debt Sponsor, any of their Affiliates or other professional advisers which would permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this document in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Programme Memorandum nor any advertisement nor other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any Applicable Laws and regulations. The Dealer(s) has represented that all offers and sales by it will be made on the same terms.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) (the "Securities Act"). Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. Persons except in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In connection with the issue and distribution of any Tranche of Notes under the Programme, the relevant Dealer(s), if any, that is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as the Stabilising Manager (or any Person acting for the Stabilising Manager) may, if specified in that Applicable Pricing Supplement and only if such stabilising is permitted by the debt listings requirements of the JSE and approved by the JSE, over-allot or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a limited period. However, there may be no obligation on the Stabilising Manager (or any agent of the Stabilising Manager) to do this. Such stabilising, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time and must be brought to an end after a limited period. Such stabilising shall be in compliance with all Applicable Laws, regulations and rules.

The price/yield and amount of a Tranche of Notes to be issued under the Programme will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing market conditions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	5
GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME	7
SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME	8
FORM OF THE NOTES	17
PRO FORMA APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT	19
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	28
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE GUARANTEE	69
USE OF PROCEEDS	72
DESCRIPTION OF WOOLWORTHS HOLDINGS LIMITED AND WOOLWORTHS PROPRIETARY LIMITED	73
INVESTOR CONSIDERATIONS	91
SETTLEMENT, CLEARING AND TRANSFER OF NOTES	95
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	97
SOUTH AFRICAN TAXATION	100
SOUTH AFRICAN EXCHANGE CONTROL	103
GENERAL INFORMATION	104

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "Documents Incorporated by Reference" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

The following documents shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Programme Memorandum:

- (a) all amendments and/or supplements to this Programme Memorandum prepared by the Issuer from time to time;
- (b) the Guarantee executed by the Guarantor in favour of the Noteholders;
- (c) each Applicable Pricing Supplement relating to any Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme;
- (d) as at the Programme Date, the published consolidated audited annual financial statements, and notes thereto, of the Issuer for the three financial years ended on or about 30 June 2014, 2015 and 2016 and the published consolidated audited annual financial statements, and notes thereto, of the Issuer in respect of further financial years, as and when such published consolidated audited financial statements become available;
- (e) as at the Programme Date, the published Integrated Report and the published Good Business Journey Report for the financial year ended 26 June 2016 and the published Integrated Report and the published Good Business Journey Report of the Issuer in respect of further financial years, as and when such published Integrated Report and such published Good Business Journey Report become available;
- (f) the unaudited and unreviewed interim financial statements of the Issuer, together with such statements, reports and notes attached to or intended to be read with such unaudited and unreviewed interim financial statements as and when such interim financial statements become available;
- (g) as at the Programme Date, the audited annual financial statements, and notes thereto, of the Guarantor for the three financial years ended on or about 30 June 2014, 2015 and 2016 and the audited annual financial statements, and notes thereto, of the Guarantor in respect of further financial years, as and when such audited financial statements become available; and
- (h) all information pertaining to the Issuer which is relevant to the Programme and/or this Programme Memorandum which will be electronically submitted through the Stock Exchange News Service (SENS) or similar service established by the JSE, to SENS subscribers, if required,

save that any statement contained in this Programme Memorandum or in any of the documents incorporated by reference in and forming part of this Programme Memorandum shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Programme Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained in any document subsequently incorporated by reference modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise).

The Issuer will, for as long as any Note remains Outstanding, provide at its registered office as set out at the end of this Programme Memorandum, without charge, a copy of all of the documents which are incorporated herein by reference, unless such documents have been modified or superseded, in which case the modified or superseding documentation will be provided, including the most recently obtained beneficial disclosure report made available by the Participant to the CSD. Requests for such documents should be directed to the Issuer at its registered office as set out at the end of this Programme Memorandum. In addition, the constitutive documents of the Issuer will be available at the registered office of the Issuer as set out at the end of this Programme Memorandum.

This Programme Memorandum, any amendments and/or supplements thereto, the Applicable Pricing Supplements relating to any issue of listed Notes, the audited annual financial statements and the unaudited and unreviewed interim financial statements of the Issuer are also available for inspection on the Issuer's website, <u>www.woolworthsholdings.co.za</u>. The audited financial statements of the Guarantor are available on request at the registered office of the Guarantor as set out at the end of this Programme Memorandum. In addition, this Programme Memorandum, any amendments and/or

supplements thereto and the Applicable Pricing Supplements relating to any issue of listed Notes will be filed with the JSE which will publish such documents on its website at <u>www.jse.co.za</u>. This Programme Memorandum does not constitute an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arrangers and the Dealer(s) or their Affiliates, the JSE Debt Sponsor or any other professional advisors to any Person in any jurisdiction to subscribe for or purchase any Notes.

The Issuer will, for so long as any Note remains outstanding and listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE, publish a new Programme Memorandum or a supplement to this Programme Memorandum, as the case may be, if:

- (i) a change in the condition (financial or trading position) of the Issuer or the Guarantor has occurred which is material in the context of the Notes so listed or the Guarantee and the Issuer's or the Guarantor's, as the case may be, payment obligations thereunder; or
- (ii) an event has occurred which affects any matter contained in this Programme Memorandum, the disclosure of which would reasonably be required by Noteholders and/or potential investors in the Notes; or
- (iii) any of the information contained in this Programme Memorandum becomes outdated in a material respect; or
- (iv) this Programme Memorandum no longer contains all the material correct information required by the Applicable Procedures,

provided that, in the circumstances set out in paragraphs (iii) and (iv) above, no new Programme Memorandum or supplement to this Programme Memorandum, as the case may be, is required in respect of the Issuer's and the Guarantor's audited annual financial statements if such audited annual financial statements are incorporated by reference into this Programme Memorandum and such audited annual financial statements are published, as required by the Companies Act.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "General Description of the Programme" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

The Issuer may from time to time issue one or more Tranches of Notes under the Programme, pursuant to this Programme Memorandum, provided that the aggregate outstanding Nominal Amount of all of the Notes issued under the Programme from time to time does not exceed the Programme Amount.

A Tranche of Notes may be listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE or on such other or additional Financial Exchange(s) as may be determined by the Issuer, subject to Applicable Laws. Unlisted Notes may also be issued under the Programme. The Applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether or not a Tranche of Notes will be listed and, if so, on which Financial Exchange. If the Issuer issues a Tranche of unlisted Notes or a Tranche of Notes is listed on any Financial Exchange other than (or in addition to) the JSE, the Issuer will, by no later than the last Day of the month of issue of that Tranche of Notes, inform the JSE in writing of the aggregate Nominal Amount and the Maturity Date (if any) of that Tranche of Notes.

This Programme Memorandum and any supplement thereto will only be valid for the issue of Notes in an aggregate Nominal Amount that, when added to the aggregate Nominal Amount then Outstanding of all the Notes previously or simultaneously issued under the Programme, does not exceed ZAR10,000,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies. For the purpose of calculating the South African Rand equivalent of the aggregate Nominal Amount of the Notes issued under the Programme from time to time, the South African Rand equivalent of the Notes denominated in another Specified Currency (as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) shall be determined as of the date of agreement to issue such Notes (the **Agreement Date**) on the basis of the spot rate for the sale of the South African Rand against the purchase of such Specified Currency in the South African foreign exchange market quoted by any leading bank selected by the Issuer on the Agreement Date (the **Conversion Rate**) and in respect of:

- (a) Zero Coupon Notes and other Notes, the Conversion Rate shall be applied to the net subscription proceeds received by the Issuer for the relevant issue; and
- (b) Partly-Paid Notes and Index-Linked Notes, the Conversion Rate shall be applied to the Nominal Amount regardless of the amount paid up on such Notes.

From time to time the Issuer may wish to increase the Programme Amount. Subject to the Applicable Procedures, all Applicable Laws and the Programme Agreement (as defined in the section headed *"Subscription and Sale"*), the Issuer may, without the consent of Noteholders, increase the Programme Amount by delivering a notice thereof to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*) of the Terms and Conditions, and to the Arrangers, the Dealer(s), the JSE and the CSD. Upon such notice being given to the Noteholders and the conditions set out in the Programme Agreement to exercise this right having been met, all references in this Programme Memorandum (and each agreement, deed or document relating to the Programme and/or this Programme Memorandum) to the Programme Amount will be, and will be deemed to be, references to the increased Programme Amount set out in such notice.

This Programme Memorandum will only apply to Notes issued under the Programme on or after the Programme Date.

A summary of the Programme and the Terms and Conditions appears below.

SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME

The following summary does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the remainder of this Programme Memorandum and, in relation to the Terms and Conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the Applicable Pricing Supplement. Words and expressions defined in the Terms and Conditions shall have the same meanings in this summary.

PARTIES		
Issuer	Woolworths Holdings Limited (registration number 1929/001986/06), a public company with limited liability duly incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa.	
Guarantor	Woolworths Proprietary Limited (registration number 1956/000518/07), a private company with limited liability duly incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa.	
Arrangers	(a)	The Standard Bank of South Africa, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division (registration number 1962/000738/06) (Standard Bank), a public company with limited liability and a registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa; and
	(b)	Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited (registration number 1929/001225/06) (Rand Merchant Bank), a public company with limited liability and a registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa.
Dealer(s)	(a)	Absa Corporate and Investment Bank, a division of Absa Bank Limited (registration number 1986/004794/06) (Absa Bank), a public company with limited liability and a registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa;
	(b)	Investec Bank Limited, acting through its Corporate and Institutional Banking division, (registration number 1969/004763/06) (Investec Bank), a public company with limited liability and a registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa;
	(C)	Nedbank Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division (registration number 1951/000009/06) (Nedbank), a public company with limited liability and a registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa;
	(d)	Rand Merchant Bank;
	(e)	Standard Bank; and/or
	(f)	any other additional Dealer(s) appointed under the Programme by the Issuer from time to time, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis, subject to the Issuer's right to terminate

the appointment of such Dealer(s).

Transfer Agent	Standard Bank, or such other entity appointed by the Issuer as Transfer Agent, in which event that other entity will act as Transfer Agent, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
Paying Agent	Standard Bank, or such other entity appointed by the Issuer as Calculation Agent, in which event that other entity will act as Calculation Agent, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
Calculation Agent	Standard Bank, or such other entity appointed by the Issuer as Calculation Agent, in which event that other entity will act as Calculation Agent, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
JSE Debt Sponsor	Rand Merchant Bank, or such other entity appointed by the Issuer from time to time.
CSD	Strate Proprietary Limited (registration number 1998/022242/07), a private company with limited liability duly incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa and registered as a central securities depository in terms of the Financial Markets Act or such additional, alternative or successor central securities depository as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s).
JSE	the JSE Limited (registration number 2005/022939/06), a public company with limited liability duly incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa and a licensed financial exchange in terms of the Financial Markets Act, or any exchange which operates as a successor exchange to the JSE.
GENERAL	
Blocked Rands	Blocked Rands may be used to subscribe for, or purchase, Notes, subject to the Exchange Control Regulations.
Clearing and Settlement	Each Tranche of Notes which is held in the CSD will be issued, cleared and settled in accordance with the Applicable Procedures through the electronic settlement system of the CSD. The CSD acts as the approved electronic clearing house, and carries on the role of matching, clearing and facilitation of settlement of all transactions carried out on the JSE. Each Tranche of Notes which is held in the CSD will be cleared by Participants who will follow the electronic settlement procedures prescribed by the JSE and the CSD (see the section of this Programme Memorandum headed "Settlement, Clearing and Transfers of Notes").
Cross-Default	The terms of the Notes will contain a cross-default provision relating to Indebtedness having an aggregate outstanding amount equal to or exceeding the greater of ZAR250,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies), or 1% (one percent) of the total assets of the Issuer as set out in Issuer's latest published audited financial statements as further described in Condition 17 (<i>Events of Default</i>), unless otherwise set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
Denomination	Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed by the Issuer and the relevant $\mbox{Dealer}(s)$ and as

	indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, save that the minimum denomination of each Note will be such as may be allowed or required from time to time by the central bank or regulator or any laws or regulations applicable to the Notes.
Description of Programme	Woolworths Holdings Limited ZAR10,000,000,000 Domestic Medium Term Note Programme.
Distribution	Notes may be distributed by way of private placement, auction or bookbuild or any other means permitted under South African law, and in each case on a syndicated or non- syndicated basis as may be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and reflected in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
Form of Notes	Each Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE and each Tranche of unlisted Notes will be issued in uncertificated form, and will be held in the CSD. The holder of a Beneficial Interest may exchange such Beneficial Interest for Notes in certificated form represented by an Individual Certificate (see the section of this Programme Memorandum headed <i>"Form of the</i> <i>Notes"</i>).
Governing Law	The Notes will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of South Africa in force from time to time.
Guarantee	The Guarantor unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the Noteholders the due and punctual performance of all obligations arising under the Programme pursuant to this Programme Memorandum which the Issuer may incur to the Noteholder and the due and punctual payment of all amounts owing by the Issuer in respect of the Notes arising under the Programme pursuant to this Programme Memorandum and further, if any obligation guaranteed by it is or becomes unenforceable, invalid or illegal, as an independent and primary obligation, indemnifies the Noteholders immediately on demand against any cost, loss or liability it incurs as a result of the Issuer not paying any amount which would, but for such unenforceability, invalidity or illegality, have been payable by it on the date when it would have been due. The amount payable by the Guarantor under this indemnity will not exceed the amount it would have had to pay under this Guarantee if the amount claimed had been recoverable on the basis of a guarantee. The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee obligations and will rank (subject to any obligations preferred by law) <i>pari passu</i> with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantee" and Condition 8 (<i>Guarantee</i>).
Interest	Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest bearing. Interest (if any) may accrue at a fixed rate or a floating rate or other variable rate or be index-linked, and the method of calculating interest may vary between the Issue Date and the Maturity Date.
Interest Period(s)/Interest Payment Date(s)	The Interest Rate, Interest Payment Date(s) and Interest Period(s), if any, applicable to a Tranche of Notes will be

	specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.		
Issue and Transfer Taxes	As at the Programme Date, no securities transfer tax or any similar tax is payable in respect of the issue, transfer or redemption of the Notes (see the section of this Programme Memorandum headed <i>"South African Taxation"</i>). Any future transfer duties and/or taxes that may be introduced in respect of (or may be applicable to) the transfer of Notes will be for the account of Noteholders.		
Issue Price	and at their	r Nomir nal Amo	ued on a fully paid or a partly paid basis nal Amount or at a discount or premium to punt as specified in the Applicable Pricing
Listing	This Programme has been approved by the JSE. Notes issued under the Programme may be listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE or on such other or additional Financial Exchange(s) as may be determined by the Issuer and the Dealer(s), subject to all Applicable Laws. Unlisted Notes may also be issued under the Programme. Unlisted Notes are not regulated by the JSE. The Applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether or not a Tranche of Notes will be listed and, if so, on which Financial Exchange(s).		
Maturities of Notes	Such maturity(ies) as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement. The Notes are not subject to any minimum or maximum maturity.		
Negative Pledge	The Senior Notes will have the benefit of a negative pledge as described in Condition 7 (<i>Negative Pledge</i>) of the Terms and Conditions.		
Notes	Notes may	compri	se:
	Fixed Notes	Rate	Fixed Rate interest will be payable in arrears on such date or dates as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s), as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement and on redemption, and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s).
	Floating Notes	Rate	Floating Rate Notes will bear interest calculated at a rate determined: (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions; or (ii) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on the agreed screen page of a commercial quoting service; or (iii) on such other basis as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s), as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement. The Margin (if any) relating to such Floating Rate Notes will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) for each issue of Floating Rate

Notes, as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both, as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Interest Period for Floating Rate Notes may be 1 (one), 2 (two), 3 (three), 6 (six) or 12 (twelve) months or such other period as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree, as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Zero Coupon Zero Coupon Notes will be issued at their Nominal Amount or at a discount to it and will not bear interest (except in the case of late payment as specified).

Index-Linked Payments (whether in respect of interest Notes On Indexed Interest Notes or in respect of principal on Indexed Redemption Amount Notes and whether at maturity or otherwise) will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree, as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Dual Currency Notes Payments (whether in respect of principal or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency Notes will be made in such currencies, and based on such rates of exchange, as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree, as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Mixed Rate Mixed Rate Notes will bear interest over Notes Mixed Rate Notes will bear interest over respective periods at the rates applicable for any combination of Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Zero Coupon Notes, Index-Linked Notes or Dual Currency Notes, each as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Instalment The Applicable Pricing Supplement will set out the dates on which, and the amounts in which, Instalment Notes may be redeemed.

Partly
NotesPaidThe Issue Price will be payable in two or
more instalments as set out in the
Applicable Pricing Supplement.

ExchangeableExchangeable Notes may be redeemed
by the Issuer in cash or by the delivery
of securities, as specified in the
Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Other Notes Terms applicable to any other type of Notes that are approved by the JSE, or

its successor, or such other or further exchange or exchanges as may be selected by the Issuer in relation to an issue of listed Notes, or as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) in respect of unlisted Notes, will be set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

The holders of Notes which are recorded as the registered Noteholders of those Notes in the Register. The CSD will be named in the Register as the registered Noteholder of each Tranche of Notes which is held in the CSD. Each holder of Notes which is represented by an Individual Certificate will be named in the Register as the registered Noteholder of such Notes.

As at the Programme Date, the Issuer is rated. The Guarantor and the Programme are not rated but may after the Programme Date be rated by a Rating Agency on a national scale basis. A Tranche of Notes may also, on or before the Issue Date, be rated by a Rating Agency on a national scale or international scale basis. Unrated Tranches of Notes may also be issued. The Rating assigned to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or the Notes, as the case may be, as well as the Rating Agency(ies) which assigned such Rating(s), will be specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

A Rating is not a recommendation to subscribe for, buy, sell or hold Notes and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the Rating Agency. Any adverse change in the Rating of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or a Tranche of Notes, as the case may be, could adversely affect the trading price of all or any of the Notes. Any amendment in the Rating of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or a Tranche of Notes, as the case may be, after the Programme Date, will be announced on SENS.

A Tranche of Notes will, subject to the Applicable Pricing Supplement, be redeemed on the Maturity Date, as set out in Condition 11.1 (*Redemption at Maturity*).

If so specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer may redeem the Notes of any Tranche at any time prior to the Maturity Date following the occurrence of a change in law and/or for tax reasons, as set out in Condition 11.2 (*Redemption for Tax Reasons*), unless otherwise set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

If "Early Redemption at the Option of the Issuer" is specified as applicable in the Applicable Pricing Supplement or pursuant to Condition 11.3 (*Redemption at the Option of the Issuer*), the Issuer may, having given not less than 30 (thirty) Days' nor more than 60 (sixty) Days' irrevocable notice (or such other period of notice as may be specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*), redeem the Tranche of Notes on any Optional Redemption Date(s), unless otherwise set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Noteholders

Rating

Redemption

If "Redemption at the Option of Senior Noteholders" is specified as applicable in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, the Senior Noteholders of any Tranche of Senior Notes may, having given not less than 30 (thirty) Days' nor more than 60 (sixty) Days' notice (or such other period of notice as may be specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement), require the Issuer to redeem Senior Notes on any Optional Redemption Date in the manner specified in Condition 11.4 (*Redemption at the Option of the Senior Noteholders*) and the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

If "Early Redemption in the event of a Change of Control" is specified as being applicable in the Applicable Pricing Supplement and (i) a Change of Control occurs (as defined below); and (ii) within the Change of Control Period (as defined below), (A) a Rating Downgrade (as defined below) occurs in relation to the Issuer and/or a Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or any Tranche of Notes, as the case may be; or (B) if, the Issuer and/or a Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or any Tranche of Notes are not so rated, a Negative Rating Event (as defined below) in respect of that Change of Control occurs, (in either case, a Change of Control Event); (C) and the Noteholders resolve by way of an Extraordinary Resolution to have their Notes redeemed by the Issuer, then each Noteholder in that Class of Noteholders shall have the option to require the Issuer to redeem each Note in that Tranche of Notes held by that Noteholder at its Early Redemption Amount together with accrued interest (if any) within 15 (fifteen) Days after the delivery by that Noteholder of a Change of Control Redemption Notice (as defined below), in the manner specified in Condition 11.5 (Redemption in the event of a Change of Control), unless otherwise set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

If "Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating" is specified as applicable in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, the Noteholders of any Tranche of Notes may, after having been notified by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*), require the Issuer to redeem Notes in the manner specified in Condition 11.6 (*Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating*) and the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Notes may be redeemed before their stated maturity at the option of the Issuer pursuant to the clean-up call option in terms of Condition 11.7 (*Clean-Up Call Option*).

The distribution of this Programme Memorandum and/or any Applicable Pricing Supplement and any offering or sale of or subscription for a Tranche of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions, and is restricted by law in the United States of America, the United Kingdom, the European Economic Area and South Africa (see the section of this Programme Memorandum headed "*Subscription and Sale*"). Any other or additional restrictions which are applicable to the placing of a Tranche of Notes will be set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement. Persons who come into possession of this Programme Memorandum and/or any Applicable Pricing Supplement must inform

Selling Restrictions

themselves about and observe all applicable selling restrictions.

- Size of the Programme As at the Programme Date, the Programme Amount is ZAR10,000,000,000. This Programme Memorandum will only apply to Notes issued under the Programme in an aggregate outstanding Nominal Amount which does not exceed the Programme Amount. The Issuer may increase the Programme Amount in the manner set out in the section of this Programme Memorandum headed "General Description of the Programme". The Programme Amount at the time of the issue of any Tranche of Notes will be set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
- **Specified Currency** South African Rand or, subject to all Applicable Laws and, in the case of Notes listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE and the debt listings requirements of the JSE, such other currency as is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
- Status of Senior Notes The Senior Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 7 (*Negative Pledge*)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* and rateably without any preference among themselves and, save for certain debts required to be preferred by law), equally with all other present or future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer from time to time outstanding.
- **Status and Characteristics relating to Subordinated Notes will** rank *pari passu* among themselves and will rank at least *pari passu* with all other present and future unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer.

Stabilisation

Subject to Applicable Law, in the event of the dissolution of the Issuer or if the Issuer is placed into liquidation or wound up or is subject to business rescue proceedings, then and in any such event the claims of the Persons entitled to be paid amounts due in respect of the Subordinated Notes shall be subordinated to all other claims in respect of any other indebtedness of the Issuer except for other Subordinated Indebtedness of the Issuer, to the extent that, in any such event, and provided as aforesaid, no amount shall be eligible for setting-off or shall be payable to any or all of the Persons entitled to be paid amounts due in respect of the Subordinated Notes in respect of the obligations of the Issuer thereunder until all other indebtedness of the Issuer which is admissible in any such dissolution, liquidation, winding-up or business rescue proceedings (other than Subordinated Indebtedness) has been paid or discharged in full.

In connection with the issue and distribution of any Tranche of Notes under the Programme, the Dealer(s), if any, that is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as the Stabilising Manager (or any Person acting for the Stabilising Manager) may, if specified in that Applicable Pricing Supplement and only if such stabilising is permitted by the debt listings requirements of the JSE and approved by the JSE, over-allot or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a limited period.

	However, there may be no obligation on the Stabilising Manager (or any agent of the Stabilising Manager) to do this. Such stabilising, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time and must be brought to an end after a limited period. Such stabilising shall be in compliance with all Applicable Laws, regulations and rules.
Taxation	A summary of the applicable tax legislation in respect of the Notes, as at the Programme Date, is set out in the section of this Programme Memorandum headed " <i>South African Taxation</i> ". The summary does not constitute tax advice. Potential investors in the Notes should, before making an investment in the Notes, consult their own professional advisers as to the potential tax consequences of, and their tax positions in respect of, an investment in the Notes.
Terms and Conditions	The terms and conditions of the Notes are set out in the section of this Programme Memorandum headed " <i>Terms and Conditions of the Notes</i> ". The Applicable Pricing Supplements may specify other terms and conditions (which may replace, modify or supplement the Terms and Conditions) in relation to specific terms and conditions of the Notes of any Tranche of Notes issued.
Use of Proceeds	The Issuer will use the issue proceeds of the Notes for its general corporate purposes, or as may otherwise be described in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
Withholding Taxes	In the event that any withholding tax or such other deduction is required by law, then the Issuer will, subject to certain exceptions as provided in Condition 12 (<i>Taxation</i>), pay such additional amounts as shall be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction.

FORM OF THE NOTES

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "Form of the Notes" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

Notes issued in certificated form

All certificated Notes will be represented by a single Individual Certificate in registered form. Notes represented by Individual Certificates will be registered in the Register in the name of the individual Noteholders of such Notes.

Subject to the Applicable Laws, title to Notes represented by Individual Certificates will be freely transferable and will pass upon registration of transfer in accordance with Condition 15.2 (*Transfer of Notes represented by Individual Certificates*) of the Terms and Conditions.

The Issuer shall regard the Register as the conclusive record of title to the Notes represented by Individual Certificates.

Payments of all amounts due and payable in respect of Notes represented by Individual Certificates will be made in accordance with Condition 10 (*Payments*) of the Terms and Conditions to the Person reflected as the registered Noteholder of such Notes in the Register at 17h00 (South African time) on the Last Day to Register, and the payment obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by proper payment to or to the order of such registered holder in respect of each amount so paid.

Notes issued in uncertificated form

A Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will, subject to Applicable Laws and Applicable Procedures, be issued in uncertificated form in terms of section 33 of the Financial Markets Act.

Notes issued in uncertificated form will not be represented by any certificate or written instrument. A Tranche of Notes issued in uncertificated form will be held by the CSD, and the CSD will be named in the Register as the registered Noteholder of that Tranche of Notes.

Beneficial Interests in Notes held in the CSD

A Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will be issued in uncertificated form and held in the CSD. A Tranche of unlisted Notes may also be held in the CSD. While a Tranche of Notes is held in the CSD, the CSD will be named in the Register as the sole Noteholder of the Notes in that Tranche.

The CSD will hold each Tranche of Notes subject to the Financial Markets Act and the Applicable Procedures. All amounts to be paid and all rights to be exercised in respect of Notes held in the CSD will be paid to and may be exercised only by the CSD for the holders of Beneficial Interests in such Notes.

The CSD maintains central securities accounts only for Participants. As at the Programme Date, the Participants are Citibank N.A. South Africa Branch; FirstRand Bank Limited; Nedbank Limited; Standard Chartered Bank, Johannesburg Branch; Société Générale, Johannesburg Branch; The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited and the South African Reserve Bank. Beneficial Interests which are held by Participants will be held directly through the CSD, and the CSD will hold such Beneficial Interests, on behalf of such Participants, through the central securities accounts maintained by the CSD for such Participants.

The Participants are in turn required to maintain securities accounts for their clients. Beneficial Interests which are held by clients of Participants will be held indirectly through such Participants, and such Participants will hold such Beneficial Interests, on behalf of such clients, through the securities accounts maintained by such Participants for such clients. The clients of Participants may include the holders of Beneficial Interests in the Notes or their custodians. The clients of Participants, as the holders of Beneficial Interests or as custodians for such holders, may exercise their rights in respect of the Notes held by them in the CSD only through their Participants. Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System (**Euroclear**) and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme, (Clearstream Luxembourg) (**Clearstream**) may hold Notes through their Participant.

In relation to each Person shown in the records of the CSD or the relevant Participant, as the case may be, as the holder of a Beneficial Interest in a particular outstanding Nominal Amount of Notes, a certificate or other document issued by the CSD or the relevant Participant, as the case may be, as to the outstanding Nominal Amount of such Notes standing to the account of any Person shall be *prima facie* proof of such Beneficial Interest. The CSD (as the registered Noteholder of such Notes named in the Register) will be treated by the Issuer, the Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent and the relevant Participant as the holder of that outstanding Nominal Amount of such Notes for all purposes.

Subject to Applicable Laws, title to Beneficial Interests held by Participants directly through the CSD will be freely transferable and pass on transfer thereof by electronic book entry in the central securities accounts maintained by the CSD for such Participants. Subject to Applicable Laws, title to Beneficial Interests held by clients of Participants indirectly through such Participants will be freely transferable and pass on transfer thereof by electronic book entry in the security accounts maintained by such Participants for such clients. Beneficial Interests may be transferred only in accordance with the Applicable Procedures. Holders of Beneficial Interests vote in accordance with the Applicable Procedures.

The holder of a Beneficial Interest will only be entitled to exchange such Beneficial Interest for Notes represented by an Individual Certificate in accordance with Condition 13 (*Exchange of Beneficial Interests and Replacement of Individual Certificates*) of the Terms and Conditions.

PRO FORMA APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT

Set out below is the form of Applicable Pricing Supplement that will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme:



WOOLWORTHS HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated with limited liability in the Republic of South Africa under registration number 1929/001986/06)

Unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by

WOOLWORTHS PROPRIETARY LIMITED

(Incorporated with limited liability in the Republic of South Africa under registration number 1956/000518/07)

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]

Under its ZAR10,000,000,000 Domestic Medium Term Note Programme

This Applicable Pricing Supplement must be read in conjunction with the Programme Memorandum, dated 17 March 2017, prepared by Woolworths Holdings Limited in connection with the Woolworths Holdings Limited ZAR10,000,000,000 Domestic Medium Term Note Programme, as amended and/or supplemented from time to time (the **Programme Memorandum**).

Any capitalised terms not defined in this Applicable Pricing Supplement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the section of the Programme Memorandum headed "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*".

This document constitutes the Applicable Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Notes described herein. The Notes described herein are issued on and subject to the Terms and Conditions as amended and/or supplemented by the Terms and Conditions contained in this Applicable Pricing Supplement. To the extent that there is any conflict or inconsistency between the contents of this Applicable Pricing Supplement and the Programme Memorandum, the provisions of this Applicable Pricing Supplement shall prevail.

PARTIES

1.	Issuer	Woolworths Holdings Limited
2.	Guarantor	Woolworths Proprietary Limited
3.	Dealer(s)	[]
4.	Manager	[]
5.	Debt Sponsor	[]
6.	Paying Agent	[]
	Specified Address	[]
7.	Calculation Agent	[]
	Specified Address	[]
8.	Transfer Agent	[]
	Specified Address	[]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES

PROV	ISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES	
9.	Status of Notes	[Senior/Subordinated]
		[Secured/Unsecured]
10.	Form of Notes	[Listed/Unlisted] Notes, issued in [uncertificated form and held by the CSD] / [certificated form represented by an Individual Certificate(s)]
11.	Series Number	[]
12.	Tranche Number	[]
13.	Aggregate Nominal Amount:	
	(a) Series	[]
	(b) Tranche	[]
14.	Interest	[Interest-bearing/Non-interest-bearing]
15.	Interest Payment Basis	[Fixed Rate/Floating Rate/Zero Coupon/Index- Linked/Dual Currency/Partly Paid/Instalment Notes/other]
16.	Automatic/Optional Conversion from one Interest/Redemption/Payment Basis to another	[Insert details including date for conversion]
17.	Issue Date	[]
18.	Nominal Amount per Note	[]
19.	Specified Denomination	[]
20.	Specified Currency	[]
21.	Issue Price	[]
22.	Interest Commencement Date	[]
23.	Maturity Date	[]
24.	Applicable Business Day Convention	[Floating Rate Business Day / Following Business Day / Modified Following Business Day / Preceding Business Day / other convention – insert details]
25.	Final Redemption Amount	[]
26.	Last Day to Register	[]
27.	Books Closed Period(s)	The Register will be closed from [] to [] and from [] to [] (all dates inclusive) in each year until the Maturity Date
28.	Default Rate	[]
FIXED	RATE NOTES	
29.	(a) Fixed Rate of Interest	[] percent. per annum [payable [annually/semi- annually/quarterly] in arrear]
	(b) Fixed Interest Payment Date(s)	[] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date/other
	(c) Fixed Coupon Amount(s)	[] per [] in Nominal Amount
	(d) Initial Broken Amount	[]
	(e) Final Broken Amount	[]

	(f)	Day Count Fraction	[]
	(g)	Any other terms relating to the particular method of calculating interest	[]
FLOAT	ING R	ATE NOTES	
30.	(a)	Floating Interest Payment Date(s)	[]
	(b)	Interest Period(s)	[]
	(C)	Definition of Business Day (if different from that set out in Condition 1 (<i>Interpretation</i>))	[]
	(d)	Minimum Rate of Interest	[] percent per annum
	(e)	Maximum Rate of Interest	[] percent per annum
	(f)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest (e.g.: Day Count Fraction, rounding up provision)	[]
31.		ner in which the Rate of est is to be determined	[ISDA Determination]/[Screen Rate Determination (Reference Rate plus Margin)]/[other – insert details]
32.	Margin		[[] basis points/ [] percent] to be added to/subtracted from the relevant ISDA Rate/ Reference Rate]
33.	If ISD	A Determination	
	(a)	Floating Rate	[]
	(b)	Floating Rate Option	[]
	(C)	Designated Maturity	[]
	(d)	Reset Date(s)	[]
	(e)	ISDA Definitions to apply	[]
34.	If Scr	een Determination:	
	(a)	Reference Rate (including relevant period by reference to which the Rate of Interest is to be calculated)	[]
	(b)	Interest Rate Determination Date(s)	[]
	(C)	Relevant Screen Page and Reference Code	[]
35.	other Deter Deter deter	te of Interest to be calculated wise than by ISDA mination or Screen mination, insert basis for mining Rate of est/Margin/ Fallback provisions	[]
36.		ulation Agent responsible for lating amount of principal and est	[]

ZERO COUPON NOTES

- 37. (a) Implied Yield
 - (b) Reference Price
 - Any other formula or basis for determining amount(s) payable

PARTLY PAID NOTES

- 38. (a) Amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price
 - (b) Dates upon which each payment is to be made by Noteholder
 - (c) Consequences (if any) of failure to make any such payment by Noteholder
 - (d) Interest Rate to accrue on the first and subsequent instalments after the due date for payment of such instalments

INSTALMENT NOTES

39. Instalment Dates

40. Instalment Amounts (expressed as a percentage of the aggregate Nominal Amount of the Notes)

MIXED RATE NOTES

- 41. Period(s) during which the interest rate for the Mixed Rate Notes will be (as applicable) that for:
 - (a) Fixed Rate Notes []
 - (b) Floating Rate Notes
 - (c) Index-Linked Notes
 - (d) Dual Currency Notes
 - (e) Other Notes []
- 42. The interest rate and other pertinent details are set out under the headings relating to the applicable forms of Notes

INDEX-LINKED NOTES

- 43. (a) Type of Index-Linked Notes
 - (b) Index/Formula by reference to which Interest Rate / Interest Amount is to be determined

[]

Percent [NACA] [NACM] [NACQ] [NACS] [other method of compounding]

- []
- []
- []

[]

[]

[]

[]

[]

[]

[]

[] percent per annum

[Indexed Interest Notes / Indexed Redemption Amount Notes]

[]

- (d) Interest Period(s)
- Interest Payment Date(s) (e)
- Provisions where calculation (f) by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable
- Definition of Business Day (if (g) different from that set out in Condition 1 (Interpretation))
- Minimum Rate of Interest (h)
- (i) Maximum Rate of Interest
- Other terms relating to the (j) method of calculating interest (e.g.: Day Count Fraction, rounding up provision)

DUAL CURRENCY NOTES

14.	(a)	Type of	f Dual	Currency	Notes
-----	-----	---------	--------	----------	-------

- Rate of Exchange/method of (b) calculating Rate of Exchange
- Provisions applicable where (C) calculation by reference to Rate of Exchange is impossible or impracticable
- (d) Person at whose option Currency(ies) Specified is/are payable

EXCHANGEABLE NOTES

45.	(a)	Mandatory applicable?	Exchange	[Ye
	(b)	Noteholders' E applicable?	xchange Right	[Ye
	(c)	Exchange Sec	urities	[]
	(d)	Manner of Exchange Price	determining e	[]
	(e)	Exchange Peri	od	[]
	(f)	Other		[]
OTHE		ſES		

46. If the Notes are not Partly Paid Notes, Instalment Notes, Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Mixed Rate Notes, Zero Coupon Notes, Index-linked Notes, Dual Currency Notes or Exchangeable Notes or if the Notes are a combination of any of the

[] percent per annum [] percent per annum []

[Dual Currency Interest/Dual Currency Redemption Amount] Notes

[]

[]

[]

[]

[]

[]

- []
- []

es/No]

es/No]

-]
- 1
-]
- 1

[]

aforegoing, set out the relevant description and any additional Terms and Conditions relating to such Notes.

PROVISIONS REGARDING REDEMPTION/MATURITY

47.	Rede Issue	emption at the Option of the er:	[Yes/No]		
	If yes:				
	(a)	Optional Redemption Date(s)	[]		
	(b)	Optional Redemption Amount(s) and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s)	[]		
	(c)	Minimum period of notice (if different from Condition 11.3 (<i>Redemption at the Option of</i> <i>the Issuer</i>))	[]		
	(d)	If redeemable in part:	[]		
		Minimum Redemption Amount(s)	[]		
		Higher Redemption Amount(s)	[]		
	(e)	Other terms applicable on Redemption			
48.		mption at the Option of the Senior nolders:	[Yes/No]		
	if yes	::			
	(a)	Optional Redemption Date(s)	[]		
	(b)	Optional Redemption Amount(s)	[]		
	(C)	Minimum period of notice (if different from Condition 11.4 (<i>Redemption at the Option of</i> <i>the Senior Noteholders</i>))	[]		
	(d)	If redeemable in part:			
		Minimum Redemption Amount(s)	[]		
		Higher Redemption Amount(s)	[]		
	(e)	Other terms applicable on Redemption	[]		
	(f)	Attach <i>pro forma</i> put notice(s)			
49.	Chan Notel Cond event any	emption in the event of a age of Control at the election of holders pursuant to lition 11.5 (<i>Redemption in the t of a Change of Control</i>) or other terms applicable to a age of Control	[Yes/No]		

50. Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating at the election of Noteholders pursuant to Condition 11.6 (*Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating*)

[Yes/No]

51. Early Redemption Amount(s) payable on redemption for taxation reasons, at the option of the Issuer terms of Condition 11.3 in (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer) at the option of the Noteholders in terms of Condition 11.4 (Redemption at the Option of the Senior Noteholders). in the event of a Change of Control Condition in terms of 11.5 (Redemption in the event of a Change of Control), Condition 11.7 (Clean-Up Call Option), Condition 11.6 (Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating) or on Event of Default in terms of Condition 17 (Events of Default) (if required or if different from that set out in the relevant Conditions).

If yes:

(a)	Amount payable; or	[]
(b)	Method of calculation of amount payable	[]

GENERAL

52.	Financial Exchange	[]
53.	Additional selling restrictions	[]
54.	ISIN No.	[]
55.	Stock Code	[]
56.	Stabilising manager	[]
57.	Provisions relating to stabilisation	[]
58.	Method of distribution	[Auction/Bookbuild/Private Placement]
59.	Credit Rating assigned to the [Issuer]/[Guarantor]/[Programme]/ [Notes]	[][issue date and renewal date of rating to be specified]
60.	Applicable Rating Agency	[]
61.	Governing law (if the laws of South Africa are not applicable)	[]
62.	Other provisions	[Other Events of Default in addition to the

[Other Events of Default in addition to the Events of Default referred to in Condition 17 (Events of Default)]

[Other covenants, provisions]

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS IN TERMS OF PARAGRAPH 3(5) OF THE COMMERCIAL PAPER REGULATIONS IN RELATION TO THIS ISSUE OF NOTES

63. Paragraph 3(5)(a)

The "ultimate borrower" (as defined in the Commercial Paper Regulations) is the [Issuer].

64. Paragraph 3(5)(b)

The Issuer is a going concern and can in all circumstances be reasonably expected to meet its commitments under the Notes.

65. Paragraph 3(5)(c)

The Auditor of the Issuer is [insert].

66. Paragraph 3(5)(d)

As at the date of this issue:

- the Issuer has [not issued]/[issued ZAR•,000,000] Commercial Paper (as defined in the Commercial Paper Regulations); and
- (ii) the Issuer estimates that it may issue [**ZAR•,000,000**] of Commercial Paper during the current financial year, ending [**Insert**].

67. Paragraph 3(5)(e)

All information that may reasonably be necessary to enable the investor to ascertain the nature of the financial and commercial risk of its investment in the Notes is contained in the Programme Memorandum and the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

68. Paragraph 3(5)(f)

There has been no material adverse change in the Issuer's financial position since the date of its last audited financial statements.

69. Paragraph 3(5)(g)

The Notes issued will be [listed/unlisted].

70. Paragraph 3(5)(h)

The funds to be raised through the issue of the Notes are to be used by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes.

71. Paragraph 3(5)(i)

The obligations of the Issuer in respect of the Notes are guaranteed in terms of the Guarantee provided by the Guarantor but are otherwise unsecured.

72. Paragraph 3(5)(j)

[Insert], the Auditor of the Issuer, have confirmed that [their review did not reveal anything which indicates / nothing has come to their attention to indicate] that this issue of Notes issued under the Programme will not comply in all material respects with the relevant provisions of the Commercial Paper Regulations.

Responsibility:

The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the information contained in this Applicable Pricing Supplement and the Programme Memorandum. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (who has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this Applicable Pricing Supplement and the Programme Memorandum is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything which would make any statement false or misleading and all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made. This Applicable Pricing Supplement and Programme Memorandum contains all information required by law and the debt listings requirements of the JSE.

As at the date of this Applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer confirms that the authorised Programme Amount of ZAR10,000,000 has not been exceeded.

Application [is hereby]/[will not be] made to list this issue of Notes [on • ••••].

SIGNED at ______ on this _____ day of _____20••

For and on behalf of

WOOLWORTHS HOLDINGS LIMITED

Name: Capacity: Director Who warrants his/her authority hereto Name: Capacity: Director Who warrants his/her authority hereto

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to be issued by the Issuer which will be incorporated by reference into each Note. A Tranche of Notes will be issued on, and subject to, the below Terms and Conditions, as replaced, amended and/or supplemented by the terms and conditions of that Tranche of Notes set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Before the Issuer issues any Tranche of listed Notes, the Issuer shall complete, sign and deliver to the JSE or such other or further Financial Exchange(s) and the CSD a pricing supplement based on the *pro forma* Applicable Pricing Supplement included in the Programme Memorandum setting out details of such Notes. The Issuer may determine that particular Notes will not be listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE or such other Financial Exchanges and, in that case, no Applicable Pricing Supplement will be delivered to JSE or such other or further Financial Exchanges (s).

If there is any conflict or inconsistency between provisions set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement and the provisions set out in these Terms and Conditions of the Notes, then the provisions in the Applicable Pricing Supplement will prevail.

Words and expressions used in the Applicable Pricing Supplement shall have the same meanings where used in these Terms and Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated. Any reference to legislation or a statute shall be to such legislation or statute as amended, varied or re-enacted from time to time.

1. **INTERPRETATION**

In these Terms and Conditions, unless inconsistent with the context or separately defined in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

11 0 11	
Absa Bank	Absa Corporate and Investment Bank, a division of Absa Bank Limited (registration number 1986/004794/06), a public company with limited liability and a registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa;
Affiliate	in relation to any Person, a Subsidiary of that Person or a Holding Company of that person or any other Subsidiary of that Holding Company;
Applicable Laws	in relation to any Person, all and any statutes and subordinate legislation and common law, regulations, ordinances and by-laws, directives, codes of practice, circulars, guidance notices, judgments and decisions of any competent authority, or any governmental, intergovernmental or supranational body, agency, department or regulatory, self-regulatory or other authority or organisation and other similar provisions, from time to time, compliance with which is mandatory for that Person;
Applicable Pricing Supplement	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the pricing supplement completed and signed by the Issuer in relation to that Tranche of Notes, setting out the additional and/or other terms and conditions as are applicable to that Tranche of Notes, based upon the <i>pro forma</i> pricing supplement which is set out in the section of the Programme Memorandum headed " <i>Pro Forma Applicable Pricing Supplement</i> ";
Applicable Procedures	the rules and operating procedures for the time being of the CSD, the Participants and the debt listings requirements of the JSE and/or any other Financial Exchange;
Banks Act	the Banks Act, 1990;
Beneficial Interest	in relation to a Tranche of Notes which is held in the CSD, the beneficial interest as co-owner of an undivided share of all of the Notes in that Tranche, as contemplated in section 37(1) of the Financial Markets Act, the nominal value of which beneficial interest, in relation to any number of Notes in that Tranche, is determined by reference to the proportion that the aggregate

	outstanding Nominal Amount of such number of Notes bears to the aggregate outstanding Nominal Amount of all of the Notes in that Tranche, as provided in section 37(3) of the Financial Markets Act;
BESA Guarantee Fund Trust	the guarantee fund trust established and operated by the JSE as a separate guarantee fund, in terms of sections 8(1)(h) and 17(2)(w) of the Financial Markets Act or any successor fund;
Books Closed Period	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the period, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, commencing after the Last Day to Register, during which transfers of the Notes will not be registered, or such shorter period as the Issuer may decide in order to determine those Noteholders entitled to receive principal and/or interest;
Business Day	a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday within the meaning of the Public Holidays Act, 1994) on which commercial banks settle ZAR payments in Johannesburg, save further that if the Applicable Pricing Supplement so provides, " <i>Business Day</i> " shall include a Saturday;
Calculation Agent	Standard Bank, unless the Issuer elects to appoint, in relation to a particular Tranche or Series of Notes, another entity as Calculation Agent in respect of that Tranche or Series of Notes, as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
Class of Noteholders	the holders of a Series of Notes or, where appropriate, the holders of different Series of Notes;
Commercial Paper Regulations	the commercial paper regulations of 14 December 1994 issued pursuant to paragraph (<i>cc</i>) of the definition of " <i>the business of a bank</i> " in the Banks Act, set out in Government Notice 2172 and published in Government Gazette 16167 of 14 December 1994;
Companies Act	the Companies Act, 2008;
Country Road Group	Country Road Group Proprietary Limited (registration number ACN 006 759 182), a proprietary limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the Commonwealth of Australia and each of its Subsidiaries from time to time;
CSD	Strate Proprietary Limited (registration number 1998/022242/07), a private company with limited liability duly incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa and registered as a central securities depository in terms of the Financial Markets Act or such additional, alternative or successor central securities depository as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s);
David Jones Group	David Jones Proprietary Limited (registration number ACN 000 074 573), a proprietary limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the Commonwealth of Australia and all of its Subsidiaries;
Day	a Gregorian calendar day unless qualified by the word "Business";
Day Count Fraction	in relation to a Tranche of Notes (where applicable) and the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the Calculation Period), the Day count fraction specified as such in the Terms and Conditions or the Applicable Pricing Supplement and:
	(a) if Actual/365 or Act/365 is so specified, means the actual number of Days in the Interest Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (i) the actual number of Days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the actual number of Days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in

a non-leap year divided by 365);

- (b) if Actual/Actual (ICMA) is so specified, means:
 - 1. where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which it falls, the actual number of Days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of Days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
 - 2. where the calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:
 - the actual number of Days in such Calculation i Period falling in the Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the actual number of Days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
 - ii. the actual number of Days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of Days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods normally ending in any year;
- (c) if Actual/Actual or Actual/Actual (ISDA) is so specified, means the actual number of Days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of Days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of Days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (d) if Actual/365 (Fixed) is so specified, means the actual number of Days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;
- (e) if Actual/360 is so specified, means the actual number of Days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;
- if 30/360, 360/360 or Bond Basis is so specified, means the (f) number of Days in the Calculation period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

Dav

 Y_1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first Day of the Calculation Period falls:

 Y_2 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first Day immediately following the last Day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 \mathbf{M}_1 is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first Day of the Calculation Period falls;

 M_2 is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first Day immediately following the last Day included in the Calculation Period falls:

 $\mathbf{D_1}$ is the first Day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

 D_2 is the Day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last Day included in the Calculation Period unless such number would be 31 and D_1 is greater than 29, in which case D_2 will be 30;

(g) if **30E/360** or **Eurobond Basis** is so specified, means the number of Days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction $\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$

where:

 \mathbf{Y}_1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first Day of the Calculation Period falls;

 $\mathbf{Y_2}$ is the year, expressed as a number, in which the Day immediately following the last Day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 \mathbf{M}_1 is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first Day of the Calculation Period falls;

 \mathbf{M}_2 is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the Day immediately following the last Day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 D_1 is the first Day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

 D_2 is the Day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last Day included in the Calculation Period unless such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30; and

(h) if **30E/360 (ISDA)** is so specified, means the number of Days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction $\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$

where:

 \boldsymbol{Y}_1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first Day of the Calculation Period falls;

 $\mathbf{Y_2}$ is the year, expressed as a number, in which the Day immediately following the last Day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 \mathbf{M}_1 is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first Day of the Calculation Period falls;

 \mathbf{M}_2 is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the Day immediately following the last Day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 D_1 is the first Day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period unless (i) that Day is the last Day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

	last D last D	the Day, expressed as a number, immediately following the ay included in the Calculation Period unless (i) that Day is the ay of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30;
Dealer(s)	Stand Issuer ongoin appoin	Bank, Investec Bank, Nedbank, Rand Merchant Bank and ard Bank and any other entity appointed as Dealer by the r, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ng basis, subject to the Issuer's right to terminate the ntment of any such Dealer, as indicated in the Applicable g Supplement;
Default Rate		tion to a Tranche of Notes, the default rate specified as such Applicable Pricing Supplement;
Dual Currency Notes	non-b	which pay interest in a base currency and the principal in a ase currency or <i>vice versa</i> , as indicated in the Applicable g Supplement;
Early Redemption Amount	Condi be red 11.2 (the O of the of a Condi	ation to a Tranche of Notes, the amount, as set out in tion 11.8 (<i>Early Redemption Amounts</i>), at which the Notes will deemed by the Issuer, pursuant to the provisions of Condition <i>Redemption for Tax Reasons</i>), Condition 11.3 (<i>Redemption at ption of the Issuer</i>), Condition 11.4 (<i>Redemption at the Option Senior Noteholders</i>), Condition 11.5 (<i>Redemption in the event Change of Control</i>), Condition 11.7 (<i>Clean-Up Call Option</i>), tion 11.6 (<i>Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE</i> of and Rating) and/or Condition 17 (<i>Events of Default</i>);
EBIT	profit	pect of any Measurement Period, the aggregated operating of the Woolworths SA Group before taxation (excluding the s from discontinued operations):
	(a)	before deducting any interest, commission, fees, discounts, prepayment fees, premiums or charges and other finance payments whether paid, payable or capitalised by any member of the Woolworths SA Group (calculated on a aggregated basis) in respect of any rolling 12 month period;
	(b)	not including any accrued interest owing to any member of the Woolworths SA Group;
	(C)	before taking into account any Exceptional Items;
	(d)	without double counting, including dividends received from WHL Group companies outside the Woolworths SA Group including <i>inter alia</i> , either directly or indirectly, Woolworths Financial Services Proprietary Limited, Country Road Group, David Jones Group and African subsidiaries;
	(e)	before taking into account any unrealised gains or losses on any derivative instrument / financial instrument (other than any derivative instrument which is accounted for on a hedge accounting basis);
	(f)	before taking into account any gain or loss arising from an upward or downward revaluation of any other asset, in each case, to the extent added, deducted or taken into account, as the case may be, for the purposes of determining operating profits of the Woolworths SA Group before taxation;
EBITDA	adding depre SA G	pect of any Measurement Period, EBIT for that period after g back any amount attributable to the amortisation, or ciation or impairment of assets of members of the Woolworths roup (and taking no account of the reversal of any previous ment charge made in that period);

Encumbrances	any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, cession <i>in securitatem debiti</i> , deposit by way of security or any other agreement or arrangement (whether conditional or not and whether relating to existing or to future assets), having the effect of providing a security interest to a creditor or any agreement or arrangement to give any form of a secured claim to a creditor but excluding statutory preferences, any security interest arising by operation of law;
Event of Default	in relation to a Series of Notes, any of the events described in Condition 17 (<i>Events of Default</i>);
Exceptional Items	any exceptional, one off, non-recurring or extraordinary items;
Exchangeable Notes	Notes which may be redeemed by the Issuer in the manner indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement by the delivery to the Noteholders of cash or of so many of the Exchange Securities as is determined in accordance with the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
Exchange Control Regulations	the Exchange Control Regulations, 1961, promulgated pursuant to the Currency and Exchanges Act, 1933;
Exchange Period	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, in respect of Exchangeable Notes to which the Noteholders' Exchange Right applies (as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement), the period indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement during which such right may be exercised;
Exchange Price	in relation to a Tranche of Exchangeable Notes, the amount determined in accordance with the manner described in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, according to which the number of Exchange Securities which may be delivered in redemption of an Exchangeable Note will be determined;
Exchange Securities	in relation to a Tranche of Exchangeable Notes, the securities indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement which may be delivered by the Issuer in redemption of the Exchangeable Notes to the value of the Exchange Price;
Extraordinary Resolution	(i) a resolution passed at a meeting (duly convened) or (ii) a written resolution of the Noteholders or a Class of Noteholders, as the case may be, by a majority consisting of not less than 66.67% (sixty-six point sixty-seven percent) votes given on such poll or if a vote by show of hands be duly demanded then by a majority consisting of not less than 66.67% (sixty-six point sixty-seven percent) of the Persons voting at such meeting on a show of hands;
Final Broken Amount	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the final broken amount specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
Final Redemption Amount	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the amount of principal specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement payable in respect of such Tranche of Notes upon the Maturity Date;
Financial Exchange	the JSE and/or such other or additional financial exchange(s) as may be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s), subject to Applicable Laws, and upon which the Notes are listed as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
Financial Markets Act	the Financial Markets Act, 2012;
Financial Half Year	the period of each Financial Year commencing on or about 1 July and ending on or about 31 December of that Financial Year;
Financial Year	the annual accounting period of the Woolworths SA Group ending on or about 30 June in each year;

Fixed Coupon Amount in relation to a Tranche of Fixed Rate Notes (where applicable), the amount specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement; **Fixed Interest Payment** in relation to a Tranche of Fixed Rate Notes, the date specified as Date such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement; **Fixed Interest Period** in relation to a Tranche of Fixed Rate Notes, the period from (and including) a Fixed Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Fixed Interest Payment Date or as otherwise set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement; **Fixed Rate Notes** Notes which will bear interest at the Fixed Rate of Interest, as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement; **Fixed Rate of Interest** in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the fixed rate of interest specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement; **Floating Rate Notes** Notes which will bear interest at a Floating Rate Interest as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement and more fully described in Condition 9.2 (Floating Rate Notes and Indexed Interest Notes); in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the floating rate of interest **Floating Rate** specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement; Guarantee the guarantee dated 17 March 2017 under which the Guarantor, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees to the Noteholders the due and punctual performance of all obligations arising under the Programme pursuant to this Programme Memorandum which the Issuer may incur to the Noteholders and the due and punctual payment of all amounts owing by the Issuer in respect of the Notes arising under the Programme pursuant to this Programme Memorandum and further, if any obligation guaranteed by it is or becomes unenforceable, invalid or illegal, as an independent and primary obligation, indemnifies the Noteholders immediately on demand against any cost, loss or liability it incurs as a result of the Issuer not paying any amount which would, but for such unenforceability, invalidity or illegality, have been payable by it on the date when it would have been due. The amount payable by the Guarantor under this indemnity will not exceed the amount it would have had to pay under this Guarantee if the amount claimed had been recoverable on the basis of a guarantee. The obligations of the Guarantor under the guarantee constitute the unconditional, (and subject to Condition 7 (Negative Pledge) unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of such Guarantor and will rank (subject to any obligations preferred by law) pari passu with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of such Guarantor. (See the section of this Programme Memorandum headed "Terms and Conditions of the Guarantee"); Guarantor Woolworths Proprietary Limited (registration number 1956/000518/07), a private company with limited liability duly incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa; Hiaher in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the higher redemption amount Redemption Amount specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement; **Holding Company** in relation to a company or corporation, any other company or corporation in respect of which it is a Subsidiary; **ICMA** International Capital Market Association; **IFRS** the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Standards International Accounting Board (IASB) and

interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting

Interpretations Committee of the IASB (as amended, supplemented or re-issued from time to time);

- Implied Yield in relation to a Tranche of Zero Coupon Notes, the yield accruing on the Issue Price of such Notes, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- Income Tax Act the Income Tax Act, 1962;
- Indebtedness any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money borrowed from any third party lender and (without double counting) guarantees or indemnities (other than those given in the ordinary course of business) given, whether present or future, actual or contingent;

Indexed Interest Notes Notes in respect of which the Interest Amount is calculated by reference to an index and/or a formula as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;

- Index-Linked Notes and Indexed Interest Note and/or an Indexed Redemption Amount Note, as applicable and as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- Indexed Redemption Notes in respect of which the Final Redemption Amount is calculated by reference to an index and/or a formula as may be indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- Individual Certificate a Note in the definitive registered form of a single certificate and being a certificate exchanged for Beneficial Interest in accordance with Condition 13 (*Exchange of Beneficial Interests and Replacement of Individual Certificates*) and any further certificate issued in consequence of a transfer thereof;
- **Initial Broken Amount** in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the initial broken amount specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- Instalment Amount in relation to a Tranche of Instalment Notes, the amount expressed (in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) as a percentage of the Nominal Amount of an Instalment Note, being an instalment of principal (other than the final instalment) on an Instalment Note;
- Instalment Notes Notes issued on the same date but redeemed in Instalment Amounts by the Issuer on an amortised basis on different Instalment Dates, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- Instalment Dates in relation to a Tranche of Instalment Notes, the dates specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;

Interest Amount in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the amount of interest payable in respect of each Nominal Amount of Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes and Indexed Interest Notes, as determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 9 (*Interest*);

Interest in relation to a Tranche of Notes (where applicable) the first date from which interest on the Notes, other than Zero Coupon Notes, will accrue, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;

Interest Determination in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the date specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;

Interest Payment Date in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the Interest Payment Date(s) and/or the Redemption Date specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement or, if no express Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, the last Day of the Interest Period commencing on the preceding Interest Payment Date, or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, commencing on the Interest Commencement Date;

Interest Period	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date;					
Interest Rate and Rate of Interest	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the rate or rates of interest applicable to Notes other than Zero Coupon Notes as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Interest Rate Market of the JSE	the separate platform or sub-market of the JSE designated as the "Interest Rate Market", or such other platform or submarket designated by the JSE from time to time, and on which Notes (and other debt securities) may be listed;					
Investec Bank	Investec Bank Limited, acting through its Corporate and Institutional Banking division, (registration number 1969/0047631/06), a public company with limited liability and a registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa;					
ISDA	the International Swaps and Derivatives Association Inc.;					
ISDA Definitions	the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by ISDA (as amended, supplemented, revised or republished from time to time) as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Issue Date	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the date specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Issue Price	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the price specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
lssuer	Woolworths Holdings Limited (registration number 1929/001986/06), a public company with limited liability duly incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa;					
JSE	the JSE Limited (registration number 2005/022939/06), a public company with limited liability duly incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa and a licensed financial exchange in terms of the Financial Markets Act or any exchange which operates as a successor exchange to the JSE;					
Last Day to Register	with respect to a particular Tranche of Notes (as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement), the last date or dates preceding a Payment Day on which the Transfer Agent will accept Transfer Forms and record the transfer of Notes in the Register for that particular Tranche of Notes and whereafter the Register is closed for further transfers or entries until the Payment Day;					
Mandatory Exchange	in relation to a Tranche of Exchangeable Notes, the mandatory exchange specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Margin	in relation to a Tranche of Notes (where applicable), the margin specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Material Indebtedness	any Indebtedness amounting in aggregate to an outstanding amount equal to or exceeding the greater of ZAR250,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies), or 1% (one percent) of the total assets of the Issuer as set out in the Issuer's latest published audited financial statements at the time of the occurrence of an Event of Default;					
Material Subsidiary	any member of the Woolworths SA Group which has earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (calculated on the same basis as EBITDA) representing 5% (five percent) or more of EBITDA or which has net assets representing 5% (five percent)					
		e of the net assets of the Woolworths SA Group calculated insolidated basis;				
--------------------------------	--	---	--	--	--	--
Maturity Date	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the date specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Measurement Date	the last day of each Financial Half Year and the last day of each Financial Year, provided that the first Measurement Date shall be on or about 31 December 2016;					
Measurement Period	means each period of 12 (twelve) Months ending on each Measurement Date;					
Minimum Redemption Amount	in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the minimum redemption amount specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Mixed Rate Notes	Notes which will bear interest over respective periods at differing Interest Rates applicable to any combination of Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Zero Coupon Notes or Index-Linked Notes, each as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement and as more fully described in Condition 9.4 (<i>Mixed Rate Notes</i>);					
NACA	nominal annual compounded annually;					
NACM	nomina	l annual compounded monthly;				
NACQ	nomina	l annual compounded quarterly;				
NACS	nominal annual compounded semi-annually;					
Nedbank	Nedbank Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division (registration number 1951/000009/06) a public company with limited liability and a registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa;					
Nominal Amount	in relation to any Note, the total amount, excluding interest and any adjustments on account of any formula, owing by the Issuer under the Note;					
Noteholders	the registered holders of the Notes as recorded in the Register;					
Noteholders' Exchange Right	in relation to Exchangeable Notes, if indicated as applicable in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, the right of Noteholders of Exchangeable Notes to elect to receive delivery of the Exchange Securities in lieu of cash from the Issuer upon redemption of such Notes;					
Notes	secured or unsecured registered notes issued or to be issued by the Issuer under the Programme, pursuant to this Programme Memorandum;					
Outstanding	in relation to the Notes, all the Notes issued under the Programme other than:					
	(a)	those which have been redeemed in full;				
	(b)	those in respect of which the date for redemption in accordance with the Terms and Conditions has occurred and the redemption moneys wherefore (including all interest (if any) accrued thereon to the date for such redemption and any interest (if any) payable under the Terms and Conditions after such date) remain available for payment against presentation of Individual Certificates (if any);				
	(C)	those which have been purchased and cancelled as				

(c) those which have been purchased and cancelled as provided in Condition 11 (*Redemption and Purchase*);

	(d)	those which have become prescribed under Condition 16 (<i>Prescription</i>);				
	(e)	those represented by mutilated or defaced Individual Certificates which have been surrendered in exchange for replacement Individual Certificates pursuant to Condition 13 (Exchange of Beneficial Interests and Replacement of Individual Certificates); or				
	(f)	(for the purpose only of determining how many Notes are Outstanding and without prejudice to their status for any other purpose) those Notes represented by Individual Certificates alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed and in respect of which replacement Individual Certificates have been issued pursuant to Condition 13 (<i>Exchange of</i> <i>Beneficial Interests and Replacement of Individual</i> <i>Certificates</i>),				
	provided that for each of the following purposes:					
	(a)	the right to attend and vote at any meeting of the Noteholders; and				
	(b)	 the determination of how many and which Notes are for the time being Outstanding for the purposes of Conditions 2 (Amendment of these Conditions) and 21 (Meetings of Noteholders), 				
	(subject the Issu	es (if any) which are for the time being held by the Issuer t to any Applicable Law) or by any Person for the benefit of uer and not cancelled shall (unless and until ceasing to be so be deemed not to be Outstanding;				
Optional Redemption Amount		ion to a Tranche of Notes, the optional redemption amount ed as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;				
Participant	a Person accepted by the CSD as a participant in terms of section 31 of the Financial Markets Act, and who is approved by the JSE, in terms of the debt listings requirements of the JSE, as a Settlement Agent to perform electronic settlement of funds and scrip;					
Partly Paid Notes	Notes which are issued with the Issue Price partly paid and which Issue Price is paid up fully by the Noteholder in instalments as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Paying Agent	Standard Bank, unless the Issuer elects to appoint another entity as Paying Agent, in which event that other entity shall act as a Paying Agent in respect of that Tranche or Series of Notes, as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Payment Day		y which is a Business Day and upon which a payment is due ssuer in respect of the Notes;				
Permitted Encumbrance		any Encumbrance of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary existing as at the Programme Date; or				
		any Encumbrance created over any asset, acquired, burchased, developed or constructed by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary after the Programme Date (including any Encumbrance over the shares or other ownership interests in, or securities of, any berson, acquired, subscribed for by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary after the Programme Date, or the assets of such other company or berson) if such Encumbrance was created for the sole burpose of financing or refinancing that asset by the Issuer,				

the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, provided that the Indebtedness so secured shall not exceed the *bona fide* arm's length market value (on or about the date of the creation of such Encumbrance) of that asset or the cost of the acquisition, purchase, development or construction of that asset by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary (including all interest and other finance charges, adjustments due to changes in circumstance and other charges reasonably incidental to such cost, whether contingent or otherwise) and where such market value and such cost both apply, the higher of the two; or

- (c) any Encumbrance created over or with respect to any receivables of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary after the Programme Date, if such Encumbrance was created pursuant to any securitisation or like arrangement in accordance with normal market practice and whereby the Indebtedness secured by such Encumbrance is limited to the value of such receivables (on or about the date of creation of such Encumbrance); or
- (d) any Encumbrance created over or with respect to any netting or set-off arrangement entered into by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary in the ordinary course of banking arrangements for purposes of netting debit and credit balances; or
- (e) any Encumbrance created by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, in the ordinary course of business which includes, but is not limited to, over stock-intrade, inventories, accounts receivable, deposit accounts; or
- (f) any Encumbrance with respect to inter-company Indebtedness incurred between the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any Subsidiary or between any Subsidiaries; or
- (g) any Encumbrance created by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary over deposit accounts securing a loan equal to the amounts standing to the credit of such deposit accounts, including any cash management system; or
- (h) in addition to any Encumbrance referred to in (a) to (g) above, all other Encumbrances securing in aggregate an amount which is equal to or less than (i) ZAR250,000,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) or (ii) 1% (one percent) of the total assets of the Issuer as set out in the Issuer's latest published audited financial statements, whichever is greater at the time the Encumbrance is established,
- Person shall be construed as a reference to any person, firm, company, corporation, government, state or agency of a state or any association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality) of two or more of the foregoing;
- Programme Woolworths Holdings Limited ZAR10,000,000,000 Domestic Medium Term Note Programme under which the Issuer may from time to time issue Notes;

- **Programme Amount** the maximum aggregate outstanding Nominal Amount of all of the Notes that may be issued under the Programme at any one point in time, being ZAR10,000,000,000 or such increased amount as is determined by the Issuer from time to time, subject to the Applicable Procedures, Applicable Laws and the Programme Agreement, as set out in the section of this Programme Memorandum headed "General Description of the Programme";
- **Programme Date** the date of this Programme Memorandum being 17 March 2017;
- **Rand Merchant Bank** Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited (registration number 1926/001225/06), a public company with limited liability and registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa;
- **Rating** in relation to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or a Tranche of Notes (where applicable), as the case may be, the rating on a national scale basis of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or the Tranche of Notes, as the case may be, granted by the Rating Agency, specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- Rating Agency Global Credit Rating Co. Proprietary Limited (GCR), Standard & Poor's Ratings Services (S&P) or Moody's Investors Service Limited (Moody's), as the case may be, and their successors or any other rating agency of equivalent international standing, as the case may be, and as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement (if applicable) and/or notified to Noteholders pursuant to Condition 19 (*Notices*);
- **Redemption Date** in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the date upon which the Notes are redeemed by the Issuer, in accordance with Condition 11 (*Redemption and Purchase*);
- **Reference Banks** four leading banks in the South African inter-bank market selected by the Calculation Agent;
- **Reference Rate** in relation to a Tranche of Notes (where applicable), the rate specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- **Reference Price** in relation to a Tranche of Notes (where applicable), the price specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- **Register** the register of Noteholders maintained by the Transfer Agent in terms of Condition 14 (*Register*), including any Uncertificated Securities Register, as the case may be;
- Regular Period(a)in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid
only by means of regular payments, each period from and
including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding
the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period
from and including one Interest Payment Date to but
excluding the next Interest Payment Date;
 - (b) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the Day and the month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and
 - (c) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only be means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but

excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the Day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period;

- **Relevant Date** in respect of any payment relating to the Notes, the date on which such payment first becomes due, except that, in relation to monies payable to the CSD in accordance with these Terms and Conditions, it means the first date on which (i) the full amount of such monies have been received by the CSD, (ii) such monies are available for payment to the holders of Beneficial Interests and (iii) notice to that effect has been duly given to such holders in accordance with the Applicable Procedures;
- **Relevant Screen Page** in relation to a Tranche of Notes (where applicable), the page, section or other part of a particular information service (including, without limitation, Reuters) specified as the Relevant Screen Page in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information service or such other information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the Person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the Reference Rate;
- **Representative** a Person duly authorised to act on behalf of a Noteholder, the Transfer Agent or the Paying Agent, as the case may be, who may be regarded by the Issuer (acting in good faith) as being duly authorised based upon the tacit or express representation thereof by such Representative, in the absence of express notice to the contrary from such Noteholder, the Transfer Agent and the Paying Agent;
- Senior Noteholders the Noteholders of Senior Notes;
- Senior Notes Notes issued with the status and characteristics set out in Condition 5 (*Status of Senior Notes*), as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- SENS the Stock Exchange News Service;
- Series a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Notes which are:
 - (a) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series; and
 - (b) identical in all respects (including as to listing) except for their respective Issue Dates, Interest Commencement Dates and/or Issue Prices;
- Settlement Agent a Participant, approved by the JSE in terms of the Applicable Procedures to perform electronic settlement of both funds and scrip on behalf of market participants;
- **Specified Currency** in relation to each Note in a Tranche of Notes, subject to all Applicable Laws, the currency specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- **Specified Denomination** in relation to each Note in a Tranche of Notes, the amount specified as such in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- **Specified Office** the office of the Transfer Agent, the Paying Agent and/or the Calculation Agent as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;
- **South Africa** the Republic of South Africa;
- Standard Bank The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division (registration number

	1962/000738/06), a public company with limited liability and a registered bank duly incorporated in accordance with the company and banking laws of South Africa;					
Subordinated Indebtedness	in the event of the dissolution of the Issuer or if the Issuer is wound up or placed in liquidation or is subject to business rescue proceedings, any indebtedness of the Issuer, including any guarantee by the Issuer, under which the right of payment of the Person(s) entitled thereto is, or is expressed to be, or is required by any present or future agreement of the Issuer to be, subordinated to the rights of all unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer;					
Subordinated Notes	Notes issued with the status and characteristics set out in Condition 6 (<i>Status and Characteristics of Subordinated Notes</i>), as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Subsidiary	in relation to any Person, a Person:					
	(a) which is controlled, directly or indirectly, by the first- mentioned Person; or					
	(b) which is a Subsidiary of another Subsidiary of the first- mentioned Person;					
Sub-unit	with respect to any currency, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency;					
Terms and Conditions	the terms and conditions incorporated in this section headed " <i>Terms and Conditions of the Notes</i> " and in accordance with which the Notes will be issued;					
Tranche	in relation to any particular Series, all Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing);					
Transfer Agent	Standard Bank, or such other entity appointed by the Issuer as Transfer Agent, in which event that other entity will act as Transfer Agent, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, or such other entity appointed by the Issuer as Transfer Agent, in which event that other entity will act as Transfer Agent, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;					
Transfer Form	the written form for the transfer of a Note, in the form approved by the Transfer Agent, and signed by the transferor and transferee;					
Uncertificated Securities Register	an Uncertificated Securities Register as contemplated in section 1 of the Companies Act;					
WHL Group	the Woolworths Holdings Limited group consisting of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries inclusive of the Guarantor (and its Subsidiaries), the David Jones Group, the Country Road Group and its investment in Woolworths Financial Services Proprietary Limited;					
Woolworths SA Group	the Issuer and its Subsidiaries which are incorporated in South Africa which excludes Woolworths Financial Services Proprietary Limited;					
ZAR	the lawful currency of South Africa, being South African Rand, or any successor currency;					
ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX	the mid-market rate for deposits in ZAR for a period of the Designated Maturity (as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) that appears on the Reuters Screen SAFEX Page as at 11h00, Johannesburg time on the relevant date; and					
Zero Coupon Notes	Notes which will be offered and sold at a discount to their Nominal Amount or at par and will not bear interest other than in the case of late payment, as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.					

2. **ISSUE**

- 2.1. The Issuer may, at any time and from time to time (without the consent of any Noteholder), issue one or more Tranche(s) of Notes pursuant to the Programme, provided that the aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount of all of the Notes issued under the Programme from time to time does not exceed the Programme Amount.
- 2.2. Notes will be issued in individual Tranches which, together with other Tranches, may form a Series of Notes. A Tranche of Notes will be issued on, and subject to the Terms and Conditions, as replaced, amended and/or supplemented by the terms and conditions of that Tranche of Notes set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement relating to that Tranche of Notes.
- 2.3. Each Note, may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Index-Linked Note, a Dual Currency Note, a Mixed Rate Note or such combination of any of the foregoing or such other type of Note as may be determined by the Issuer and specified in the relevant Applicable Pricing Supplement.
- 2.4. All payments in relation to the Notes will be made in the Specified Currency. Each Note will be issued in the Specified Denomination.
- 2.5. The Terms and Conditions of a Tranche of Notes are incorporated by reference into the Individual Certificate(s) (if any) representing the Notes in that Tranche. The Applicable Pricing Supplement relating to a Tranche of Notes issued in certificated form will be attached to the Individual Certificate(s) representing the Notes in that Tranche.

3. FORM AND DENOMINATION

3.1. General

- 3.1.1. A Tranche of Notes may be issued in the form of listed or unlisted Notes, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
- 3.1.2. A Tranche of Notes may be listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE or on such other or further Financial Exchange(s) as may be determined by the Issuer and the Dealer(s), subject to any Applicable Laws and Applicable Procedures. Unlisted Notes may also be issued under the Programme. The Applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether or not a Tranche of Notes will be listed and if so, the Financial Exchange on which such Tranche of Notes will be listed.

3.2. Registered Notes

A Tranche of Notes will be issued in certificated form or in uncertificated form, as contemplated in Condition 3.2.1 (*Notes issued in certificated form*) and Condition 3.2.2 (*Notes issued in uncertificated form*), as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement. Each Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE and issued in uncertificated form, will be held in the CSD, as contemplated in Condition 3.2.2 (*Notes issued in uncertificated form*) A Tranche of unlisted Notes may also be held in the CSD, as contemplated in Condition 3.2.3 (*Beneficial Interests in Notes held in the CSD*).

3.2.1. Notes issued in certificated form

All Notes issued in certificated form will be represented by Individual Certificates.

3.2.2. Notes issued in uncertificated form

A Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will, subject to Applicable Laws and Applicable Procedures, be issued in uncertificated form in terms of section 33 of the Financial Markets Act. Notes issued in uncertificated form will be held in the CSD. Notes issued in uncertificated form will not be represented by any certificate or written instrument. A Note which is represented by an Individual Certificate may be replaced by uncertificated securities in terms of section 33 of the Financial Markets Act.

3.2.3. Beneficial Interests in Notes held in the CSD

(i) A Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will be issued in uncertificated form and held in the CSD. A Tranche of unlisted Notes may also be held in the CSD.

- (ii) The CSD will hold Notes subject to the Financial Markets Act and the Applicable Procedures.
- (iii) All amounts to be paid and all rights to be exercised in respect of Notes held in the CSD will be paid to and may be exercised only by the CSD for the holders of Beneficial Interests in such Notes.
- (iv) A holder of a Beneficial Interest shall only be entitled to exchange such Beneficial Interest for Notes represented by an Individual Certificate in accordance with Condition 13 (*Exchange of Beneficial Interests and Replacement of Individual Certificates*).

3.2.4. Recourse to the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust

The holders of Notes that are not listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will have no recourse against the JSE or the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust. Claims against the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust may only be made in respect of the trading of Notes listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE and in accordance with the rules of the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust. Unlisted Notes are not regulated by the JSE.

4. TITLE

4.1. Notes issued in certificated form

- 4.1.1. Each holder of Notes represented by an Individual Certificate will be named in the Register as the registered holder of such Notes.
- 4.1.2. Title to Notes represented by an Individual Certificate will pass upon registration of transfer in the Register in accordance with Condition 15.2 (*Transfer of Notes represented by Individual Certificates*).
- 4.1.3. The Issuer, the Transfer Agent and the Paying Agent shall recognise a Noteholder as the sole and absolute owner of the Notes registered in that Noteholder's name in the Register (notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) and shall not be bound to enter any trust in the Register or to take notice of or to accede to the execution of any trust, express, implied or constructive, to which any Note may be subject.

4.2. Notes issued in uncertificated form

The CSD will be named in the Register as the registered holder of each Tranche of Notes which is issued in uncertificated form.

4.3. Beneficial Interests in Notes held in the CSD

- 4.3.1. While a Tranche of Notes is held in the CSD, the CSD will be named in the Register as the sole Noteholder of the Notes in that Tranche.
- 4.3.2. Beneficial Interests which are held by Participants will be held directly through the CSD, and the CSD will hold such Beneficial Interests, on behalf of such Participants, through the central securities accounts maintained by the CSD for such Participants.
- 4.3.3. Beneficial Interests which are held by clients of Participants will be held indirectly through such Participants, and such Participants will hold such Beneficial Interests, on behalf of such clients, through the securities accounts maintained by such Participants for such clients. The clients of Participants may include the holders of Beneficial Interests or their custodians. The clients of Participants, as the holders of Beneficial Interests or as custodians for such holders, may exercise their rights in respect of the Notes held by them in the CSD only through their Participants.
- 4.3.4. In relation to each Person shown in the records of the CSD or the relevant Participant, as the case may be, as the holder of a Beneficial Interest in a particular Nominal Amount of Notes, a certificate or other document issued by the CSD or the relevant Participant, as the case may be, as to the aggregate Nominal Amount of such Notes standing to the account of such Person shall be *prima facie* proof of such Beneficial Interest. The CSD (as the registered holder of such Notes named in the Register) will be treated by the Issuer, the Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent and the relevant Participant as the holder of that aggregate Nominal Amount of such Notes for all purposes.

- 4.3.5. Beneficial Interests in Notes may be transferred only in accordance with the Applicable Procedures. Such transfers will not be recorded in the Register and the CSD will continue to be reflected in the Register as the registered holder of such Notes, notwithstanding such transfers.
- 4.3.6. Any reference in the Terms and Conditions to the relevant Participant shall, in respect of a Beneficial Interest, be a reference to the Participant appointed to act as such by the holder of such Beneficial Interest.

5. STATUS OF SENIOR NOTES

The Senior Notes are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 7 (*Negative Pledge*)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* and rateably without any preference among themselves and (save for certain debts required to be preferred by law) equally with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer from time to time outstanding.

6. STATUS AND CHARACTERISTICS OF SUBORDINATED NOTES

- 6.1. Subordinated Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* among themselves and at least *pari passu* with all other present and future unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer, save for those which have been accorded preferential rights by law, or as otherwise set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
- 6.2. Subject to Applicable Laws, in the event of the dissolution of the Issuer or if the Issuer is placed into liquidation or wound-up or commences business rescue proceedings, the claims of the Persons entitled to payment of amounts due in respect of the Subordinated Notes, shall be subordinated to all other claims in respect of any other indebtedness of the Issuer except for other Subordinated Indebtedness, to the extent that, in any such event, and provided as aforesaid, no amount shall be eligible for setting-off or shall be payable to any or all of the Persons entitled to payment of amounts due in respect of the Subordinated Notes in respect of the obligations of the Issuer thereunder until all other indebtedness of the Issuer which is admissible in any such dissolution, insolvency, business rescue or winding-up (other than Subordinated Indebtedness) has been paid or discharged in full.

7. **NEGATIVE PLEDGE**

- 7.1. For so long as any Tranche of the Senior Notes remains Outstanding, the Issuer undertakes not to, and shall procure that the Guarantor and any other Material Subsidiary shall not, create or permit the creation of any Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances over any of their present or future business undertakings, assets or revenues to secure any present or future Indebtedness (save for those which have been accorded a preference by law) without at the same time securing all Senior Notes equally and rateably with such Indebtedness or providing such other security or arrangement as may be approved by Extraordinary Resolution of the Senior Noteholders, unless the provision of any such security is waived by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Senior Noteholders.
- 7.2. The Issuer and/or the Guarantor shall be entitled, but not obliged, to form, or procure the formation of, a trust or special purpose company (or more than one), or appoint, or procure the appointment of, an agent or agents to hold any such rights of security for the benefit or on behalf of such Noteholders.

8. GUARANTEE

8.1. In accordance with the terms of the Guarantee, the Guarantor, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees to the Noteholders all obligations which the Issuer may incur to the Noteholders and the due and punctual payment of all amounts owing by the Issuer in respect of the Notes arising under the Programme pursuant to this Programme Memorandum and further, if any obligation guaranteed by it is or becomes unenforceable, invalid or illegal, as an independent and primary obligation, indemnifies the Noteholders immediately on demand against any cost, loss or liability it incurs as a result of the Issuer not paying any amount which would, but for such unenforceability, invalidity or illegality, have been payable by it on the date when it would have been due. The amount payable by the Guarantor under this indemnity will not exceed the amount it would have had to pay under this Guarantee if the amount claimed had been recoverable on the basis of a guarantee.

- 8.2. The Guarantor is required to make any payment under the Guarantee by no later than 3 (three) Business Days after receipt of a demand under and in terms of the Guarantee and these Terms and Conditions. All payments under the Guarantee will discharge the Guarantor of its applicable obligations to Noteholders under the Guarantee and will *pro tanto* discharge the Issuer of its corresponding obligations to the Noteholders under the Notes.
- 8.3. The Guarantee, will be deposited with, and be held by, the Transfer Agent until the later of:
- 8.3.1 the date on which the Programme is terminated by the Issuer; and
- 8.3.2 the date on which all of the obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor under or in respect of the Notes and/or the Guarantee, as the case may be, have been discharged in full.
- 8.4. Each Noteholder shall be entitled to require the Transfer Agent to produce the original of the Guarantee, on request and further shall be entitled to require the Transfer Agent, which shall be obliged, to provide a copy of the Guarantee to that Noteholder on request. In holding the Guarantee, the Transfer Agent does not act in any fiduciary or similar capacity for the Noteholders and it shall not accept any liability, duty or responsibility to Noteholders in this regard.

9. INTEREST

9.1. Fixed Rate Notes

- 9.1.1. Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding Nominal Amount (or, if it is a Partly Paid Note, the amount paid up) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement at the rate(s) per annum equal to the Fixed Rate of Interest so specified, payable in arrears on the Fixed Interest Payment Dates in each year up to and including the Maturity Date.
- 9.1.2. The first payment of interest will be made on the Fixed Interest Payment Date next following the Interest Commencement Date.
- 9.1.3. Except as provided in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, the amount of interest payable per Note on each Fixed Interest Payment Date in respect of the Fixed Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount, provided that:
- 9.1.3.1. if an Initial Broken Amount is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, then the first Interest Amount shall equal the Initial Broken Amount specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- 9.1.3.2. if a Final Broken Amount is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, then the final Interest Amount shall equal the Final Broken Amount.
- 9.1.4. If interest is required to be calculated for a period other than a Fixed Interest Period, such interest shall be calculated by applying the Fixed Rate of Interest to each Specified Denomination, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest Subunit of the relevant Specified Currency, half such Sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

9.2. Floating Rate Notes and Indexed Interest Notes

9.2.1. Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note and Indexed Interest Note bears interest on its outstanding Nominal Amount (or, if it is a Partly Paid Note, the amount paid up) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, and such interest will be payable in arrears on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement. Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period (which expression shall, in these Terms and Conditions, mean the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date).

9.2.2. Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of the Floating Rate Notes and Indexed Interest Notes will be determined in the manner specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

9.2.3. Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the Applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of any such Interest Period determined in accordance with the above provisions is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest. If the Applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of any such Interest Period determined in accordance with the above provisions is greater than such Interest Period determined in accordance with the above provisions is greater than such Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Maximum Rate of Interest.

9.2.4. Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amount

The Calculation Agent, in the case of Floating Rate Notes and Indexed Interest Notes will at, or as soon as is practicable after, each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest and calculate the Interest Amount payable in respect of each Floating Rate Note and Indexed Interest Note in respect of each Specified Denomination for the relevant Interest Period, and the Calculation Agent shall notify the Issuer of the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period as soon as is practicable after calculating the same. Each Interest Amount shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Specified Denomination, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest Sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half a Sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

9.2.5. Interest Determination, Screen Rate Determination including Fallback Provisions

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this subparagraph, **ISDA Rate** for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by such agent as is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement under an interest rate swap transaction if that agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the most recent ISDA Definitions and under which:

(a) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement;

(b) the Designated Maturity is the period specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement; and

(c) the relevant Reset Date is either (i) if the applicable Floating Rate Option is based on ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX, the first Day of that Interest Period; or (ii) in any other case, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

For the purposes of the above sub-paragraph **Floating Rate**, **Floating Rate Option**, **Designated Maturity** and **Reset Date** have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject to the provisions below, be either:

- (a) if the Relevant Screen Page is available,
 - (i) the offered quotation (if only one quotation appears on the screen page); or
 - (ii) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen Page as at 11h00 (or as otherwise specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) (Johannesburg time) on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Calculation Agent. If 5 (five) or more such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations; or

- (b) if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, in the case of (a)(i) above, no such offered quotation appears or, in the case of (a)(ii) above, fewer than three such offered quotations appear, in each case as at the time specified in the preceding paragraph, the Calculation Agent shall request the principal Johannesburg office of each of the Reference Banks to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate at approximately 11h00 (Johannesburg time) on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such offered quotations plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Calculation Agent; or
- if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined by applying the provisions of (a) and (b) (C) above, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Calculation Agent determines as being the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the rates, as communicated to (and at the request of) the Calculation Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks offered, at approximately 11h00 (Johannesburg time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in an amount approximately equal to the nominal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series, for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate to prime banks in the Johannesburg inter-bank market plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any). If fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered rates, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period will be determined by the Calculation Agent as the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the rates for deposits in an amount approximately equal to the Nominal Amount of the Notes of the relevant Series, for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, quoted at approximately 11h00 (Johannesburg time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, by the Reference Banks plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any). If the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as being other than ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined as provided in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

9.2.6. Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amount

The Issuer will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the JSE and the CSD and/or every other relevant exchange or authority as soon as possible after their determination but in any event no later than the 3rd (third) Business Day before the relevant Interest Payment Date. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period.

Any such amendment will be promptly notified to the JSE, the CSD and/or every other relevant exchange or authority and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*).

9.2.7. Certificates to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this sub-paragraph 9.2 (*Floating Rate Notes and Indexed Interest Notes*), by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of wilful deceit, bad faith or manifest error or proven error) be binding on the Issuer and all Noteholders and in the absence as aforesaid no liability to the Issuer or the Noteholders shall attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

9.3. Dual Currency Interest Notes

In the case of Dual Currency Interest Notes, the Interest Rate or Interest Amount payable shall be determined in the manner specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

9.4. Mixed Rate Notes

The Interest Rate payable from time to time on Mixed Rate Notes shall be the Interest Rate payable on the form of interest-bearing Note (be it a Fixed Rate Note, Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Note or Dual Currency Note) specified for each respective period, each as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement. During each such applicable period, the Interest Rate on the Mixed Rate Notes shall be determined and fall due for payment on the basis that such Mixed Rate Notes are Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Index-Linked Notes or Dual Currency Notes, as the case may be.

9.5. Accrual of Interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the date of its redemption unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue at the Default Rate specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement until the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid, or, in respect of uncertificated Notes, the date on which the full amount of the money payable has been received by the CSD and/or the Participants and notice to that effect has been given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*).

9.6. Business Day Convention

If any Interest Payment Date (or other date), which is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention, would otherwise fall on a Day that is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is:

- (a) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date (or other date) shall be postponed to the next Day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event: (i) such Interest Payment Date (or other date) shall be brought forward to the first preceding Business Day and (ii) each subsequent Interest Payment Date (or other date) shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the number of months, or other period specified as the Interest Payment Date (or other date) has occurred; or
- (b) the **Following Business Day Convention**, such Interest Payment Date (or other date) shall be postponed to the next Day which is a Business Day; or
- (c) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date (or other date) shall be postponed to the next Day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date (or other such date) shall be brought forward to the first preceding Business Day; or

(d) the **Preceding Business Day Convention**, such Interest Payment Date (or other date) shall be brought forward to the first preceding Business Day.

10. PAYMENTS

10.1. General

Payments of principal and/or interest on an Individual Certificate shall be made to the registered holder of such Note, as set forth in the Register on the close of business on the Last Day to Register (as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement). In addition to the above, in the case of a final redemption payment, the holder of the Individual Certificate shall be required, on or before the Last Day to Register prior to the Maturity Date, to surrender such Individual Certificate at the offices of the Transfer Agent.

Payments of principal and/or interest in respect of uncertificated Notes shall be made to the CSD or the Participants, as shown in the Register on the Last Day to Register, and the Issuer will be discharged of its payment obligations by proper payment to the CSD or the Participants, in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the Persons shown in the records of the CSD and the Participants, as the case may be, shall look solely to the CSD or the Participant, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to the registered holder of such uncertificated Notes.

Payment will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws, directives and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 12 (*Taxation*).

10.2. Method of Payment

Payments will be made in the Specified Currency by credit or transfer, by means of electronic settlement, to the Noteholder.

Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws, directives and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 12 (*Taxation*).

If the Issuer is prevented or restricted directly or indirectly from making any payment by electronic funds transfer in accordance with the preceding paragraph (whether by reason of strike, lockout, fire, explosion, floods, riot, war, accident, act of God, embargo, legislation, shortage of or breakdown in facilities, civil commotion, unrest or disturbances, cessation of labour, Government interference or control or any other cause or contingency beyond the control of the Issuer), the Issuer shall make such payment by cheque marked "*not transferable*" (or by such number of cheques as may be required in accordance with applicable banking law and practice to make payment of any such amounts). Such payments by cheque shall be sent by post to the address of the Noteholder as set forth in the Register or, in the case of joint Noteholders, the address set forth in the Register of that one of them who is first named in the Register in respect of that Note.

Each such cheque shall be made payable to the relevant Noteholder or, in the case of joint Noteholders, the first one of them named in the Register. Cheques may be posted by ordinary post, provided that neither the Issuer, nor the Paying Agent shall be responsible for any loss in transmission and the postal authorities shall be deemed to be the agent of the Noteholders for the purposes of all cheques posted in terms of this Condition 10.2.

In the case of joint Noteholders, payment by electronic funds transfer will be made to the account of the Noteholder first named in the Register. Payment by electronic transfer to the Noteholder first named in the Register shall discharge the Issuer of its relevant payment obligations under the Notes.

10.3. Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note is not a Business Day in the relevant place of payment, the applicable Business Day Convention shall apply and the holder shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of any delay in payment, or if the Business Day Convention is not applicable, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Business Day, and the holder shall not be entitled to further interest or such delay.

10.4. Interpretation of Principal and Interest

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- 10.4.1. any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 12 (*Taxation*);
- 10.4.2. the Final Redemption Amount of the Notes or the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes, as the case may be;
- 10.4.3. the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any), as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, of the Notes;
- 10.4.4. in relation to Instalment Notes, the Instalment Amounts;
- 10.4.5. in relation to Zero Coupon Notes, the Amortised Face Amount (as defined in Condition 11.8.3); and
- 10.4.6. any premium and any other amounts which may be payable by the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes, but excluding for the avoidance of doubt, interest.

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 12 (*Taxation*).

11. **REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE**

11.1. Redemption at Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer in the Specified Currency at its Final Redemption Amount plus interest (if any) specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the Applicable Pricing Supplement on the Maturity Date.

11.2. Redemption for Tax Reasons

Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer at any time (in the case of Notes other than Floating Rate Notes, Indexed Interest Notes or Mixed Rate Notes having an Interest Rate then determined on a floating or indexed basis) or on any Interest Payment Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes, Indexed Interest Notes or Mixed Rate Notes), on giving not less than 30 (thirty) Days nor more than 60 (sixty) Days' notice to the Noteholders prior to such redemption, in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*) (which notice shall be irrevocable, certified by 2 (two) authorised directors of the Issuer and include particulars of the relevant change pursuant to Condition 11.2.1 below), if the Issuer, immediately prior to the giving of such notice, is of the reasonable opinion that:

- 11.2.1. as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of South Africa or any political sub-division of, or any authority in, or of, South Africa having power to tax, or any change or amendment which becomes effective after the relevant Issue Date, the Issuer is or would be required to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 12 (*Taxation*); and
- 11.2.2. the requirement cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it,

provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 (ninety) Days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Notes may be redeemed by the Issuer in accordance with this Condition 11.2 in whole or in part. A redemption in part may be effected by the Issuer:

- 11.2.2.1. notwithstanding that such partial redemption may not entirely avoid such obligation to pay additional amounts as provided for or referred to in Condition 12 (*Taxation*); and
- 11.2.2.2. *mutatis mutandis* in the manner described in Condition 11.3 (*Redemption at the Option of the Issuer*), provided that the references to the giving of notice therein and to the Minimum Redemption Amount and the Higher Redemption Amount (both as

specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) therein shall be disregarded for such purposes.

Notes redeemed for tax reasons pursuant to this Condition 11.2 will be redeemed at their Early Redemption Amount referred to in Condition 11.8 (*Early Redemption Amounts*), together (if appropriate) with interest accrued from (and including) the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date to (but excluding) the date of redemption or as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

11.3. **Redemption at the Option of the Issuer**

If the Issuer is specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as having an option to redeem, the Issuer may, having given not less than 30 (thirty) Days nor more than 60 (sixty) Days' irrevocable notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*) or unless otherwise specified with the Applicable Pricing Supplement, redeem all or some of the Notes (to which such Applicable Pricing Supplement relates) then Outstanding on the Optional Redemption Date(s) and at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the Applicable Pricing Supplement, together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date(s).

Any such redemption must be of a Nominal Amount equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount or a Higher Redemption Amount, both as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed (**Redeemed Notes**) will be selected individually by lot, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by Individual Certificates, and in accordance with the Applicable Procedures in the case of Redeemed Notes which are uncertificated, and in each case not more than 30 (thirty) Days prior to the date fixed for redemption (such date of selection being hereinafter called the **Selection Date**).

In the case of Redeemed Notes represented by Individual Certificates, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*) not less than 30 (thirty) Days prior to the date fixed for redemption. The aggregate Nominal Amount of Redeemed Notes represented by Individual Certificates shall bear the same proportion to the aggregate Nominal Amount of all Redeemed Notes as the aggregate Nominal Amount of the Notes outstanding, in each case on the Selection Date, provided that such first mentioned Nominal Amount shall, if necessary, be rounded downwards to the nearest integral multiple of the Specified Denomination and the aggregate Nominal Amount of Redeemed Notes. No exchange of the relevant uncertificated Notes will be permitted during the period from and including the Selection Date to and including the date fixed for redemption pursuant to this sub-paragraph, and notice to that effect shall be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*) at least 10 (ten) Days prior to the Selection Date.

Holders of Redeemed Notes shall surrender the Individual Certificates, if any, representing the Notes in accordance with the provisions of the notice given to them by the Issuer as contemplated above. Where only a portion of the Notes represented by such Individual Certificates are redeemed, the Transfer Agent shall deliver new Individual Certificates to the Noteholders, as the case may be, in respect of the balance of the Notes.

11.4. Redemption at the Option of the Senior Noteholders

If Senior Noteholders are specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as having an option to request the redemption of Senior Notes, such Senior Noteholders may exercise such option in respect of such Senior Notes by delivering to the Transfer Agent, in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*), a duly executed notice (**Put Notice**), at least 30 (thirty) Days but not more than 60 (sixty) Days, prior to the Optional Redemption Date.

For redemption in part, the redemption amount specified in such Put Notice in respect of any such Senior Note must be of a principal amount equal to or greater than the Minimum Redemption Amount or equal to or less than the Higher Redemption Amount, each as indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

The redemption by the Senior Noteholders of uncertificated Senior Notes shall take place in accordance with the Applicable Procedures.

The Issuer shall proceed to redeem the Senior Notes in respect of which such option has been exercised in accordance with the terms of the Applicable Pricing Supplement, at the Optional Redemption Amount and on the Optional Redemption Date, together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date(s).

In the event that the redeeming Senior Noteholder is the holder of an Individual Certificate, then such Senior Noteholder shall (attached to the Put Notice) deliver the Individual Certificate to the Transfer Agent for cancellation. A holder of an Individual Certificate shall, in that holder's Put Notice, specify a bank account into which the redemption payment amount is to be paid.

The delivery of Put Notices shall be required to take place during normal office hours to the Transfer Agent. Put Notices shall be available for inspection at the Specified Offices of the Transfer Agent.

Any Put Notice given by a holder of any Senior Note pursuant to this paragraph shall be irrevocable except where, after giving the notice but prior to the due date of redemption, an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing in which event such Senior Noteholder, at its option, may elect by notice to the Issuer to withdraw the notice given pursuant to this paragraph and instead to declare such Senior Note forthwith due and payable pursuant to Condition 17 (*Events of Default*).

The Issuer shall have no liability to remedy any defects in any Put Notice or bring any such defects to the attention of any Noteholder.

11.5. Redemption in the event of a Change of Control

The provisions of this Condition 11.5 (*Redemption in the event of a Change of Control*) shall apply if specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

- 11.5.1. A **Change of Control Event** shall occur if at any time while any Note remains Outstanding:
 - (a) a Change of Control occurs; and
 - (b) within the Change of Control Period and in respect of that Change of Control:
 - (i) a Rating Downgrade occurs in relation to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or any Notes rated by a Rating Agency, as the case may be; or
 - (ii) if, at the time the Change of Control occurs, the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or the Notes, as the case may be, are not so rated, a Negative Rating Event occurs.
- 11.5.2. Promptly upon the Issuer becoming aware that a Change of Control Event has occurred, the Issuer shall give a notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*) specifying the nature of the Change of Control Event and the circumstances giving rise to it and the procedure for exercising the option contained in this Condition 11.5.
- 11.5.3. If a Change of Control Event occurs at any time while any Note remains Outstanding, then provided the Noteholders have:
 - (a) in terms of Condition 21 (*Meeting of Noteholders*) convened a meeting of Noteholders within 30 (thirty) Days of the notification set out in Condition 11.5.2 above; and
 - (b) resolved in terms of Condition 21 (*Meetings of Noteholders*) by way of Extraordinary Resolution to require the redemption of the Notes of that Class of Noteholders in these circumstances,

the Issuer shall redeem all Notes held by that Class of Noteholders at its Early Redemption Amount together with accrued interest (if any) within 15 (fifteen) Days of having received a written notice from that Class of Noteholders to redeem such Note.

- 11.5.4. Such option shall be exercisable by a Class of Noteholders by the delivery of a written notice (a **Change of Control Redemption Notice**) to the Issuer at its registered office within 60 (sixty) Days after the occurrence of a Change of Control Event, unless prior to the delivery by that Noteholder of its Change of Control Redemption Notice the Issuer gives notice to redeem the Notes.
- 11.5.5. For the purposes of this Condition 11.5 (*Redemption in the event of a Change of Control*):
 - (a) Acting in Concert means a group of persons who, pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), actively co-operate, through the acquisition of shares in the Issuer by any of them, either directly or indirectly, to obtain or consolidate Control of the Issuer;
 - (b) a Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred at each time (whether or not approved by the senior management or board of directors of the Issuer) that any person (Relevant Person) or person Acting in Concert or any person or persons acting on behalf of any such person(s), at any time directly or indirectly acquires Control of the Issuer, provided that a Change of Control shall not be deemed to have occurred if the shareholders of the Relevant Person are also, or immediately prior to the event which would otherwise constitute a Change of Control, were all of the shareholders of the Issuer;
 - (c) **Change of Control Period** means, in relation to a Change of Control of the Issuer, the period commencing 60 (sixty) Days prior to such Change of Control and ending 60 (sixty) Days after such Change of Control;
 - (d) Control of the Issuer means (A) the holding beneficially of more than 50% (fifty percent) of the issued share capital of the Issuer (excluding any part of that issued share capital that carries no right to participate beyond a specified amount in a distribution of either profits or capital), or (B) the power to cast, or control the casting of votes in respect of, such number of the shares in the issued share capital of the Issuer carrying more than 50% (fifty percent) of the total number of votes that may be cast at a general meeting of the members of the Issuer;
 - (e) Investment Grade Rating means a national scale rating of "Baa3.za" by Moody's, "zaBBB-" by S&P, "BBB-(ZA)" by GCR or its equivalent for the time being, or better;
 - (f) a **Negative Rating Event** shall, in relation to Notes that are unrated and/or where no Rating is assigned to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme, as the case may be, by a Rating Agency at the time a Change of Control occurs, be deemed to have occurred if:
 - (i) the Issuer does not on or before the 60th (sixtieth) Day after the commencement of the Change of Control Period seek, and use all reasonable endeavours to obtain from a Rating Agency, a Rating in respect of itself and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or the Notes, as the case may be, that are not rated; and
 - (ii) if it does so seek and use such endeavours, it has not at the expiry of the Change of Control Period and as a result of such Change of Control obtained an Investment Grade Rating in respect of itself and/or the Programme and/or such Notes, as the case may be;
 - (g) **Rating Downgrade** shall, in relation to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or any Notes, as the case may be, be deemed to have occurred in respect of a Change of Control if within the Change of Control Period the Rating previously assigned to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or such Notes, as the case may be, by any Rating Agency is:
 - (i) withdrawn; or
 - (ii) changed from an Investment Grade Rating to a non-Investment Grade Rating; or
 - (iii) in the case of a non-Investment Grade Rating, downgraded by any Rating Agency by one or more Rating Notches,

provided that no Rating Downgrade shall have occurred if the Rating assigned to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Programme and/or the Notes, as the case may be, is substituted for an Investment Grade Rating by another Rating Agency;

(h) Rating Notch means the difference between one Rating and the Rating immediately below it, for example, from "BB+" to "BB" by the Rating Agency or such similar lower or equivalent Rating.

11.6. **Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating**

The provisions of this Condition 11.6 (*Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating*) shall apply if specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

- 11.6.1. The Issuer shall, for so long as listed Notes remain Outstanding:
- 11.6.1.1. ensure that those Notes remain listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE (the JSE Listing); and
- 11.6.1.2. maintain a Rating (whether or not specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement) in respect of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Notes or the Programme, as the case may be.
- 11.6.2. If a breach of at least one of the undertakings in Condition 11.6.1 above occurs, then the Issuer shall within 3 (three) Business Days of such breach and in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*), give notice (the Issuer Redemption Notice) of such breach and the procedure for exercising the option set out in Condition 11.6.3 below to the Noteholders.
- 11.6.3. Each Noteholder may within the period ending 45 (forty-five) Business Days of receipt of the Issuer Redemption Notice (the Election Period), require the Issuer to redeem its Notes on:
- 11.6.3.1. the Interest Payment Date immediately following the Election Period; or
- 11.6.3.2. if the Election Period expires within a Books Closed Period, the next Interest Payment Date falling after the Interest Payment Date at the end of the Election Period,

by delivery to the Issuer of a notice (the Noteholder Redemption Notice) in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*).

11.6.4. The Issuer shall, in accordance with Condition 11.6.3 above, redeem the Notes relevant to each Noteholder Redemption Notice at the Early Redemption Amount calculated in accordance with Condition 11.8 (*Early Redemption Amounts*), together with accrued interest (if any).

11.7. Clean-Up Call Option

On any Interest Payment Date on which the aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount of the Notes of a Series is equal to or less than 15% (fifteen percent) of the maximum aggregate Nominal Amount of the Notes of that Series that have been issued at any time, and upon giving not less than 20 Days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*) (which notice shall be irrevocable), the Issuer may redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes of that Series at their Early Redemption Amount referred to in Condition 11.8 (*Early Redemption Amounts*), together with accrued unpaid interest (if any) from (and including) the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

11.8. Early Redemption Amounts

For the purpose of Condition 11.2 (Redemption for Tax Reasons). Condition 11.3 (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer). Condition 11.4 (Redemption at the Option of the Senior Noteholders), Condition 11.5 (Redemption in the event of a Change of Control), Condition 11.7 (Clean-Up Call Option), Condition 11.6 (Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating) and/or Condition 17 (Events of Default), the Notes will be redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount plus interest (if any), calculated as follows:

- 11.8.1. in the case of Notes with a Final Redemption Amount equal to the Issue Price, at the Final Redemption Amount thereof; or
- 11.8.2. in the case of Notes (other than Zero Coupon Notes) with a Final Redemption Amount which is or may be less or greater than the Issue Price, at the amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the Applicable Pricing Supplement or, if no such amount or manner is so specified in the Pricing Supplement, at their Nominal Amount; or
- 11.8.3. in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, at an amount (the **Amortised Face Amount**) equal to the sum of: (i) the Reference Price; and (ii) the product of the Implied Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable; or
- 11.8.4. such other amount or method of calculation of the amount payable as is provided in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, it shall be calculated on the basis of actual Days elapsed divided by 365 (three hundred and sixty five), or such other calculation basis as may be specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

11.9. Instalment Notes

Instalment Notes will be redeemed at the Instalment Amounts and on the Instalment Dates. In the case of early redemption in accordance with Conditions 11.2 (*Redemption for Tax Reasons*), Condition 11.3 (*Redemption at the Option of the Issuer*), Condition 11.4 (*Redemption at the Option of the Senior Noteholders*), Condition 11.5 (*Redemption in the event of a Change of Control*), Condition 11.6 (*Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating*) and/or Condition 17 (*Events of Default*), the Early Redemption Amount will be determined pursuant to Condition 11.8 (*Early Redemption Amounts*).

11.10. Partly Paid Notes

If the Notes are Partly Paid Notes, they will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 11 (*Redemption and Purchase*) and the Applicable Pricing Supplement. In the case of early redemption in accordance with Condition 11.2 (*Redemption for Tax Reasons*), Condition 11.3 (*Redemption at the Option of the Issuer*), Condition 11.4 (*Redemption at the Option of the Senior Noteholders*), Condition 11.5 (*Redemption in the event of a Change of Control*), Condition 11.6 (*Redemption in the event of a failure to maintain JSE Listing and Rating*) and/or Condition 17 (*Events of Default*), the Early Redemption Amount will be determined pursuant to Condition 11.8 (*Early Redemption Amounts*).

11.11. Exchangeable Notes

If the Notes are Exchangeable Notes, they will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in the manner indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement. Exchangeable Notes in respect of which Mandatory Exchange is indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement as applying, or upon the exercise by the Noteholder of the Noteholder's Exchange Right (if applicable), will be redeemed by the Issuer delivering to each Noteholder as many of the Exchange Securities as are required in accordance with the Exchange Price. The delivery by the Issuer of the Exchange Securities in the manner set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement shall constitute the *in specie* redemption in full of such Notes.

11.12. Purchases

The Issuer or any other member of the Woolworths SA Group may at any time purchase Notes (in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions with any Noteholders) at any price in the open market or otherwise. Such Notes may, subject to Applicable Law, be held, resold, or, at the option of the Issuer and/or the relevant Subsidiary, as the case may be, surrendered to the Transfer Agent for cancellation.

11.13. Cancellation

All Notes which have been redeemed will forthwith be cancelled. All Notes so cancelled shall be forwarded to the Issuer and cannot be re-issued or resold. Where only a portion of Notes represented by an Individual Certificate are cancelled, the Transfer Agent shall deliver an Individual Certificate to such Noteholder in respect of the balance of the Notes.

11.14. Late Payment on Zero Coupon Notes

If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Zero Coupon Note pursuant to Condition 11 (*Redemption and Purchase*) or upon its becoming due and repayable as provided in Condition 17 (*Events of Default*) is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and repayable in respect of such Zero Coupon Note shall be the amount calculated as provided in Condition 11.8.3 as though the references therein to the date fixed for the redemption or the date upon which such Zero Coupon Note becomes due and payable were replaced by references to the date which is the earlier of: (i) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Zero Coupon Note have been paid; and (ii) 5 (five) Days after the date on which the full amount of the monies payable has been received by the CSD, and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholder in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*).

11.15. Applicable Procedures

The redemption and partial redemption of Beneficial Interests shall take place in accordance with the Applicable Procedures and the Financial Markets Act.

12. TAXATION

- 12.1. All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes by the Issuer will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes or duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of South Africa or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.
- 12.2. In such event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts as shall be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Notes after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note:
- 12.2.1. held by or on behalf of a Noteholder who is liable for such taxes or duties in respect of such Note by reason of his having some connection with South Africa other than the mere holding of such Note or the receipt of principal or interest in respect thereof; or
- 12.2.2. presented for payment by or on behalf of, or held by, a Noteholder who could lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such withholding or deduction by complying with any statutory requirements in force at the present time or in the future by making a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim or filing for exemption to which it is entitled to the relevant tax authority or the Paying Agent (the effect of which is not to require the disclosure of the identity of the relevant Noteholder); or
- 12.2.3. where such withholding or deduction is in respect of taxes levied or imposed on interest or principal payments only by virtue of the inclusion of such payments in the taxable income (as defined in section 1 of the Income Tax Act) or taxable capital gain (as defined in paragraph 1 of Schedule 8 to the Income Tax Act) of any Noteholder; or
- 12.2.4. where (in the case of payment of principal and/or interest which is conditional on surrender and/or presentation of the relevant Individual Certificate in accordance with the

Terms and Conditions) the relevant Individual Certificate is surrendered and/or presented more than 30 (thirty) Days after the Relevant Date, except to the extent that the Noteholder thereof would have been entitled to an additional amount on presenting the same for payment on such thirtieth Day; or

- 12.2.5. held by or on behalf of a Noteholder who is a foreign person (i.e. non-resident for tax purposes) and who does not qualify for any of the exemptions to the withholding tax on interest (levied in terms of section 50B of the Income Tax Act, as may be amended from time to time), in terms of section 50D of the Income Tax Act; or
- 12.2.6. if such withholding or deduction arises through the exercise by revenue authorities of special powers in respect of tax defaulters.
- 12.3. Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to any amounts in respect of the Notes shall be deemed also to refer to any additional amounts which may be payable under these Terms and Conditions or under any undertakings given in addition to, or in substitution for, these Terms and Conditions.

13. EXCHANGE OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS AND REPLACEMENT OF INDIVIDUAL CERTIFICATES

13.1. Exchange of Beneficial Interests

- 13.1.1. The holder of a Beneficial Interest in Notes may, in terms of the Applicable Procedures and subject to section 42 of the Financial Markets Act, by written notice to the holder's nominated Participant (or, if such holder is a Participant, the CSD), request that such Beneficial Interest be exchanged for Notes in definitive form represented by an Individual Certificate (the **Exchange Notice**). The Exchange Notice shall specify (i) the name, address and bank account details of the holder of the Beneficial Interest and (ii) the Day on which such Beneficial Interest is to be exchanged for an Individual Certificate; provided that such Day shall be a Business Day and shall fall not less than 30 (thirty) Days after the Day on which such Exchange Notice is given.
- 13.1.2. The holder's nominated Participant will, following receipt of the Exchange Notice, through the CSD, notify the Transfer Agent that it is required to exchange such Beneficial Interest for Notes represented by an Individual Certificate. The Transfer Agent will, as soon as is practicable but within 14 (fourteen) Days after receiving such notice, in accordance with the Applicable Procedures, procure that an Individual Certificate is prepared, authenticated and made available for delivery, on a Business Day falling within the aforementioned 14 (fourteen) Day period, to the holder of the Beneficial Interest at the Specified Office of the Transfer Agent; provided that joint holders of a Beneficial Interest shall be entitled to receive only one Individual Certificate in respect of that joint holding, and the delivery to one of those joint holders shall be delivery to all of them.
- 13.1.3. In the case of the exchange of a Beneficial Interest in Notes issued in uncertificated form:
- 13.1.3.1. the CSD will surrender (through the CSD system) such uncertificated Notes to the Transfer Agent at its Specified Office; and
- 13.1.3.2. the Transfer Agent will obtain the release of such uncertificated Notes from the CSD in accordance with the Applicable Procedures.
- 13.1.3.3. An Individual Certificate shall, in relation to a Beneficial Interest in any number of Notes issued in uncertificated form of a particular aggregate Nominal Amount standing to the account of the holder thereof, represent that number of Notes of that aggregate Nominal Amount, and shall otherwise be in such form as may be agreed between the Issuer and the Transfer Agent; provided that if such aggregate Nominal Amount is equivalent to a fraction of the Specified Denomination or a fraction of any multiple thereof, such Individual Certificate shall be issued in accordance with, and be governed by, the Applicable Procedures.

13.2. Replacement

If any Individual Certificate is worn out, mutilated, defaced, stolen, destroyed or lost it may be replaced at the Specified Office of the Transfer Agent, on payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer and the Transfer Agent may reasonably require. Worn out, mutilated or defaced Individual Certificates must be surrendered at the Specified Office of the Transfer Agent before replacements will be issued.

13.3. Death and sequestration or liquidation of Noteholder

Any Person becoming entitled to Notes as a consequence of the death, sequestration or liquidation of the holder of such Notes may, upon producing evidence to the satisfaction of the Issuer that he holds the position in respect of which he proposes to act under this Condition 13.3, or of his title as the Issuer and the Transfer Agent shall require, be registered himself as the holder of such Notes or, subject to the Applicable Procedures, this Condition 13.3 and Condition 15.2 (*Transfer of Notes represented by Individual Certificates*), may transfer such Notes. The Issuer and (if applicable) the CSD and the relevant Participant shall be entitled to retain any amount payable upon the Notes to which any Person is so entitled until such Person shall be registered as aforesaid or until such time such Notes are duly transferred.

13.4. **Costs**

The costs and expenses of the printing, issue and delivery of each Individual Certificate and all taxes and governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to such Individual Certificate and/or the printing, issue and delivery of such Individual Certificate shall be borne by the holder of the Notes represented by that Individual Certificate. Separate costs and expenses relating to the provision of Individual Certificates and/or the transfer of Notes may be levied by other Persons, such as a Participant, under the Applicable Procedures, and such costs and expenses shall not be borne by the Issuer. The costs and expenses of the delivery of Certificates and all taxes or governmental charges or insurance charges that may be imposed in relation to such mode of delivery shall be borne by the Noteholder.

14. **REGISTER**

14.1. The Register of Noteholders:

- 14.1.1. shall be kept at the Specified Office of the Transfer Agent and a copy thereof shall be made available for inspection at the registered office of the Issuer (as set out at the end of the Programme Memorandum) or such other Person as may be appointed for the time being by the Issuer to maintain the Register;
- 14.1.2. shall contain the names, addresses and bank account numbers of the registered Noteholders;
- 14.1.3. shall show the total Nominal Amount of the Notes held by Noteholders;
- 14.1.4. shall show the dates upon which each of the Noteholders was registered as such;
- 14.1.5. shall show the serial numbers of the Individual Certificates and the dates of issue thereof;
- 14.1.6. shall be open for inspection at all reasonable times during business hours on Business Days by any Noteholder or any Person authorised in writing by a Noteholder; and
- 14.1.7. shall be closed during the Books Closed Period.
- 14.2. The Transfer Agent shall alter the Register in respect of any change of name, address or account number of any of the Noteholders of which it is notified.
- 14.3. Except as provided for in these Terms and Conditions or as required by law, in respect of Notes, the Issuer will only recognise a Noteholder as the owner of the Notes registered in that Noteholder's name as per the Register.
- 14.4. Except as provided for in these Terms and Conditions or as required by law, the Issuer shall not be bound to enter any trust in the Register or to take notice of or to accede to the execution of any trust (express, implied or constructive) to which any Individual Certificate may be subject.

15. TRANSFER OF NOTES

15.1. Transfer of Beneficial Interests in Notes held in the CSD

- 15.1.1. Beneficial Interests may be transferred only in accordance with the Applicable Procedures through the CSD.
- 15.1.2. Transfers of Beneficial Interests to and from clients of Participants occur by way of electronic book entry in the securities accounts maintained by the Participants for their clients, in accordance with the Applicable Procedures.
- 15.1.3. Transfers of Beneficial Interests among Participants occur through electronic book entry in the central securities accounts maintained by the CSD for the Participants, in accordance with the Applicable Procedures.
- 15.1.4. Transfers of Beneficial Interests in Notes will not be recorded in the Register and the CSD will continue to be reflected in the Register as the Noteholder of such Notes notwithstanding such transfers.

15.2. Transfer of Notes represented by Individual Certificates

- 15.2.1. In order for any transfer of Notes represented by an Individual Certificate to be recorded in the Register, and for such transfer to be recognised by the Issuer:
- 15.2.1.1. the transfer of such Notes must be embodied in a Transfer Form;
- 15.2.1.2. the Transfer Form must be signed by the registered Noteholder of such Notes and the transferee, or any Representatives of that registered Noteholder or transferee; and
- 15.2.1.3. the Transfer Form must be delivered to the Transfer Agent at its Specified Office together with the Individual Certificate representing such Notes for cancellation.
- 15.2.2. Notes represented by an Individual Certificate may only be transferred, in whole or in part, in amounts of not less than the Specified Denomination (or any multiple thereof).
- 15.2.3. Subject to this Condition 15.2, the Transfer Agent will, within 3 (three) Business Days of receipt by it of a valid Transfer Form (or such longer period as may be required to comply with any Applicable Laws and/or Applicable Procedures), record the transfer of Notes represented by an Individual Certificate (or the relevant portion of such Notes) in the Register, and authenticate and deliver to the transferee at the Transfer Agent's Specified Office or, at the risk of the transferee, send by mail to such address as the transferee may request, a new Individual Certificate in respect of the Notes transferred reflecting the outstanding Nominal Amount of the Notes transferred.
- 15.2.4. Where a Noteholder has transferred a portion only of Notes represented by an Individual Certificate, the Transfer Agent will authenticate and deliver to such Noteholder at the Transfer Agent's Specified Office or, at the risk of such Noteholder, send by mail to such address as such Noteholder may request, at the risk of such Noteholder, a new Individual Certificate representing the balance of the Notes held by such Noteholder.
- 15.2.5. The transferor of any Notes represented by an Individual Certificate will be deemed to remain the owner thereof until the transferee is registered in the Register as the holder thereof.
- 15.2.6. Before any transfer of Notes represented by an Individual Certificate is registered in the Register, all relevant transfer taxes (if any) must have been paid by the transferor and/or the transferee and such evidence must be furnished as the Issuer and the Transfer Agent may reasonably require as to the identity and title of the transferor and the transferee.
- 15.2.7. No transfer of any Notes represented by an Individual Certificate will be registered whilst the Register is closed as contemplated in Condition 14 (*Register*).

If a transfer of any Notes represented by an Individual Certificate is registered in the Register, the Transfer Form and cancelled Individual Certificate will be retained by the Transfer Agent.

In the event of a partial redemption of Notes under Condition 11.3 (*Redemption at the Option of the Issuer*), the Transfer Agent shall not be required in terms of Condition 11.3 (*Redemption at the Option of the Issuer*), to register the transfer of any Notes during the period beginning on the tenth Day before the date of the partial redemption and ending on the date of the partial redemption (both inclusive).

16. **PRESCRIPTION**

The Notes will become void unless presented for payment of principal within a period of three years after their redemption date.

17. EVENTS OF DEFAULT

17.1. Senior Notes

17.1.1. If, for any particular Series of Notes, one or more of the following events or unless otherwise set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement (**Events of Default**) shall have occurred and be continuing:

17.1.1.1. *Non-Payment*

the Issuer fails to pay any principal or interest due under the Senior Notes on its due date for payment thereof and any such failure continues for a period of 7 (seven) Days; or

17.1.1.2. Negative Pledge

the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, as the case may be, fails to remedy a breach of Condition 7 (*Negative Pledge*) within 21 (twenty one) Days of receiving written notice from the Senior Noteholders demanding such remedy; or

17.1.1.3. Breach of Material Obligations

the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other material obligations or undertakings (not specifically covered elsewhere in this Condition 17.1) under or in respect of any of the Senior Notes and such failure continues for a period of 30 (thirty) Days after receipt by the Issuer of a notice from the Senior Noteholders (in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*)) in respect of such failure specifying the failure and requesting the Issuer to remedy same; or

17.1.1.4. *Cross Default*

- 17.1.1.4.1. any Material Indebtedness of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary is declared to be or becomes due and repayable before its stated maturity by reason of an event of default (howsoever described); or
- 17.1.1.4.2. the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary fails to make any payment in respect of any Material Indebtedness on the due date for payment (as extended by any originally applicable grace period); or
- 17.1.1.4.3. any security given by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary for any Material Indebtedness becomes enforceable by reason of default in relation thereto and steps are taken to enforce such security; or
- 17.1.1.4.4. a default is made by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary in making any payment due under any guarantee and/or indemnity (at the expiry of any originally applicable grace period) given by it in relation to any Material Indebtedness of any other person; or

17.1.1.5. *Authorisation and Consents*

any action, condition or thing, including obtaining any consent, licence approval or authorisation now or in future necessary to enable the Issuer to comply with its respective obligations under the Notes, or the Guarantor to comply with obligations under the Guarantee is not taken, fulfilled or done or any such consent, licence, approval or authorisation is revoked, modified, withdrawn or withheld or ceases to be in full force and effect, resulting in the Issuer or the Guarantor being unable to perform any of its respective payment or other obligations in terms of the Notes and the Issuer or the Guarantor fails to take reasonable steps to remedy such circumstances within 21 (twenty one) Business Days of receiving written notice from the Noteholders demanding such remedy; or

17.1.1.6. *Insolvency etc.*

an order by any court of competent jurisdiction or authority for the winding-up, dissolution, business rescue proceedings or placement under supervision and commencement of business rescue proceedings of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, as the case may be, is made whether provisionally (and not dismissed or withdrawn within 30 (thirty) Days thereof) or finally, or the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, as the case may be, is placed under voluntary liquidation or curatorship or a meeting is convened to consider the passing of a resolution, or a resolution is passed, to authorise the implementation of any business rescue proceedings in respect of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, provided that no liquidation, curatorship, winding-up, dissolution or business rescue proceedings shall constitute an Event of Default if (i) the liquidation, winding-up, dissolution or business rescue proceedings is for the purposes of effecting an amalgamation, merger, demerger, consolidation, reorganisation or other similar arrangement within the Woolworths SA Group with any third party; or (ii) the liquidation, winding-up, dissolution or business rescue proceedings is for the purposes of effecting an amalgamation, merger, demerger, consolidation, reorganization or other similar arrangement, the terms of which were approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of Noteholders before the date of the liquidation, winding-up, dissolution or business rescue proceedings; or

17.1.1.7. *Winding-up etc.*

the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, as the case may be, initiates or consents to judicial proceedings relating to itself under any applicable compromise with creditors, liquidation, winding-up, business rescue or insolvency or other similar laws or compromises or attempts to compromise, with its creditors generally (or any significant class of creditors) or any meeting of creditors is convened by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, as the case may be, to consider a proposal for an arrangement or compromise with its creditors generally (or any significant class of its creditors), save for any such initiation, consent, attempt or convening of a meeting which relates to the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiaries and is for the purposes of an internal reconstruction or reorganisation within the Woolworths SA Group; or

17.1.1.8. *Enforcement Proceedings*

if a Person validly attaches in execution the whole or a material part of the undertaking or assets of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, as the case may be, or an execution or attachment or other process is validly levied, enforced upon, sued out or put in force against the whole or a material part of the undertaking or assets of any of them in both instances following a judgement against the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Material Subsidiary, as the case may be, by a court of competent jurisdiction and such is not discharged within 30 (thirty) Days; or

17.1.1.9. *Guarantee*

- 17.1.1.9.1. the Guarantee is not in full force and effect and such failure has continued for more than 30 (thirty) Days following the service on the Guarantor and the Issuer of a written notice requiring that failure to be remedied; or
- 17.1.1.9.2. it is or becomes unlawful for the Guarantor to perform any of its obligations under the Guarantee; or
- 17.1.1.9.3. the Guarantor repudiates the Guarantee or there is evidence of an intention to repudiate the Guarantee; or

17.1.1.10. *Other*

any other Event of Default provided for such Series, as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement,

then any Senior Noteholder may, by written notice to the Issuer at the registered office of the Issuer, effective upon the date of receipt thereof by the Issuer, declare the Senior Notes held by the Senior Noteholder to be forthwith due and payable whereupon the same shall become forthwith due and payable at the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 11.8 (*Early Redemption Amounts*), together with accrued interest (if any) to the date of repayment, or as specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement, failing which the Senior Noteholders may by written notice to the Guarantor at the registered office of the Guarantor demand payment in terms of the Guarantee, provided that, notwithstanding the taking of such action, although an amount will be due it may not be payable if the Issuer withholds or refuses to make such payment in order to comply with any law or regulation of South Africa or to comply with any order of a court of competent jurisdiction.

17.1.2. For the purposes of Condition 17.1.1.4 (*Cross Default*), any Indebtedness which is in a currency other than South African Rand shall be converted into South African Rand at the spot rate for the sale of South African Rand against the purchase of the relevant currency quoted by any leading bank of South Africa selected on the date of such Event of Default.

17.2. Subordinated Notes

If the Issuer defaults in relation to Subordinated Notes in the payment of any amount payable in respect of such Notes, and such default continues for a period of 7 (seven) Business Days after receiving written notice from any of the holders of Subordinated Notes, or if an Event of Default as contemplated in Condition 17.1.1.6 (*Insolvency*) occurs, any holder of a Subordinated Note may, subject as provided below, at its discretion and without notice, institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the obligations of the Issuer under such Subordinated Notes, provided that the Issuer shall not be obliged, save in the case of liquidation, winding-up or business rescue proceedings, to pay any sum or sums sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it.

In the event of the winding-up or liquidation, whether finally or provisionally, or business rescue proceedings of the Issuer, otherwise than for the purposes of an amalgamation, merger, consolidation or re-organisation not involving liquidation, winding-up or bankruptcy, then any holder of Subordinated Notes issued by the Issuer may by written notice to the Issuer at its registered office, require that its Subordinated Notes are immediately due and repayable at their Early Redemption Amount together with the accrued interest to the date of payment, save that the Noteholders of Subordinated Notes may only receive payment once all the other creditors of the Issuer have been paid in full.

17.3. Notification of Event of Default

If the Issuer becomes aware of the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Issuer shall forthwith notify all Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*), the Dealer(s) and the JSE in writing.

18. CALCULATION AGENT, TRANSFER AGENT AND PAYING AGENT

Any third party appointed by the Issuer as Calculation Agent, Transfer Agent, Paying Agent or otherwise shall act solely as the agents of the Issuer and does not assume any obligation towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholders. The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of such agents and/or appoint additional or other agents and/or approve any change in the specified office through which any agent acts.

19. NOTICES

- 19.1. Notices to Noteholders shall be valid if mailed to their registered addresses appearing in the Register. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the 7th (seventh) Day after the Day on which it is mailed.
- 19.2. All notices to the holders of Notes represented by Individual Certificates shall be in writing and shall be sent by registered mail to the respective addresses of those Noteholders appearing in the Register or delivered by hand to the respective addresses of those Noteholders appearing in the Register. Each such notice shall be deemed to have been received by the relevant Noteholder on the date on which such notice is sent by registered mail (if such notice is sent by registered mail).
- 19.3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 19.1, for so long as all of the Notes in a Tranche are held in their entirety in the CSD, they may be substituted for the notice contemplated in Condition 19.1, by the delivery of the relevant notice to the CSD, the Participants and the Financial Exchange for communication by them to the holders of Beneficial Interests in such Notes in accordance with the Applicable Procedures. Each such notice will be deemed to have been received by the holders of Beneficial Interests on the Day of delivery of such notice to the CSD.
- 19.4. Notwithstanding the provisions of Conditions 19.1 to 19.3 and in respect of listed Notes only, notices relating to the dissemination of information by the Issuer (save for any notices relating to the amendment of any Condition in terms of Condition 20 (*Amendment of these Conditions*)) may be announced via SENS.
- 19.5. Any notice to the Issuer shall be deemed to have been received by the Issuer, if delivered to the registered office of the Issuer, on the date of delivery, and if sent by registered mail, on the seventh Day after the Day on which it is sent. The Issuer may change its registered office upon prior written notice to Noteholders specifying such new registered office.
- 19.6. For so long as any of the Notes are uncertificated, notice may be given by any holder of an uncertificated Note to the Issuer via the relevant Settlement Agent in accordance with the Applicable Procedures, in such manner as the Issuer and the relevant Participants may approve for this purpose.

20. AMENDMENT OF THESE CONDITIONS

- 20.1. These Terms and Conditions set out all the rights and obligations relating to the Notes and, subject to the further provisions of this Condition 20, no addition, variation or consensual cancellation of these Terms and Conditions shall be of any force or effect unless the JSE has been notified and the amendments have been reduced to writing and signed by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Noteholders.
- 20.2. The Issuer may effect, without the consent of the relevant Class of Noteholders, any modification of the Terms and Conditions which is of a formal, minor or technical nature (including an increase in the Programme Amount and the Guarantee size) or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law of the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is established, provided that the JSE or such other Financial Exchange, as the case may be, shall be notified. Any such modification shall be binding on the relevant Class of Noteholders and any such modification shall be communicated to the relevant Class of Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*) as soon as is practicable thereafter.
- 20.3. Subject to the prior formal approval of the JSE or such other Financial Exchange, as the case may be, the Issuer may, with the prior sanction of an Extraordinary Resolution of Noteholders or with the prior written consent of Noteholders or the relevant Class of Noteholders, as the case may be, holding not less than 66.67% (sixty-six point sixty-seven percent) in Nominal Amount of the Notes Outstanding from time to time, amend these Terms and Conditions and/or the Guarantee, provided that no such amendment shall be of any force or effect unless notice of the intention to make such amendment shall have been given to all Noteholders in terms of Condition 19 (*Notices*).

20.4. Any modification of these Terms and Conditions which may have a direct effect on compliance with the debt listings requirements of the JSE or such other Financial Exchange, as the case may be, will require the approval of the JSE or such other Financial Exchange, as the case may be.

21. MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS

21.1 **Convening of meetings**

- 21.1.1 The Issuer may at any time convene a meeting of Noteholders (a **meeting** or **the meeting**).
- 21.1.2 The Issuer shall convene a meeting upon the requisition in writing of the holders of at least 25% (twenty five percent) of the aggregate Nominal Amount Outstanding of the Notes (**requisition notice**).
- 21.1.3 Whenever the Issuer wishes or is required to convene a meeting, it shall forthwith give notice in writing to the Noteholders of the place, Day and hour of the meeting and of the nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting.
- 21.1.4 All meetings of Noteholders shall be held in Johannesburg.
- 21.1.5 Any director or duly authorised representative of the Issuer, and any other Person authorised in writing by the Issuer, may attend and speak at a meeting of Noteholders, but shall not be entitled to vote, other than as a proxy (as defined below) or duly authorised representative of a Noteholder.

21.2 Requisition

- 21.2.1 A requisition notice shall state the nature of the business for which the meeting is to be held and shall be deposited at the registered office of the Issuer.
- 21.2.2 A requisition notice may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

21.3 **Convening of meetings by requisitionists**

If the Issuer does not proceed to cause a meeting to be held within 10 (ten) Days of the deposit with the company secretary of the Issuer of a requisition notice, requisitionists who together hold not less than 25% (twenty five percent) of the aggregate Nominal Amount outstanding of the Notes for the time being, may themselves convene the meeting, but the meeting so convened shall be held within 60 (sixty) Days from the date of such deposit and shall be convened as nearly as possible in the same manner as that in which meetings may be convened by the Issuer. Notice of the meeting shall be required to be given to the Issuer.

21.4 Notice of meeting

- 21.4.1 Unless the holders of at least 90% (ninety percent) of the aggregate Nominal Amount outstanding of the Notes agree in writing to a shorter period, at least 21 (twenty one) Days written notice specifying the place, Day and time of the meeting and the nature of the business for which the meeting is to be held shall be given by the Issuer to Noteholders. Such notice is required to be given in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*).
- 21.4.2 The accidental omission to give such notice to any Noteholder or the non-receipt of any such notice, shall not invalidate the proceedings at a meeting.

21.5 Quorum

- 21.5.1 A quorum at a meeting shall for the purposes of considering:
- 21.5.1.1 an ordinary resolution generally, consist of Noteholders present in person or by proxy and holding in the aggregate not less than one-third of the aggregate Nominal Amount outstanding of the Notes;
- 21.5.1.2 an Extraordinary Resolution, consist of Noteholders present in person or by proxy and holding in the aggregate not less than 50.1% (fifty point one percent) of the aggregate Nominal Amount outstanding of the Notes.

- 21.5.2 No business shall be transacted at a meeting of the Noteholders unless a quorum is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business.
- 21.5.3 If, within 15 (fifteen) minutes from the time appointed for the meeting, a quorum is not present, the meeting shall, if it was convened on the requisition of Noteholders, be dissolved. In every other case the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same Day in the third week thereafter, at the same time and place, or if that Day is not a Business Day, the following Business Day. If at such adjourned meeting a quorum is not present the Noteholders present in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of considering any resolution, including an Extraordinary Resolution.

21.6 Chairman

The chairman of the meeting shall be appointed by the Issuer.

21.7 Adjournment

- 21.7.1 Subject to the provisions of this Condition 21 (*Meetings of Noteholders*) the chairman may, with the consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld and/or delayed) of, and shall on the direction of the Issuer, adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place.
- 21.7.2 No business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
- 21.7.3 At least 14 (fourteen) Days written notice of the place, Day and time of an adjourned meeting shall be given by the Issuer to each Noteholder. In the case of a meeting adjourned in terms of Condition 21.7.1, the notice shall state that the Noteholders present in person or by proxy at the adjourned meeting will constitute a quorum.

21.8 How questions are decided

- 21.8.1 At a meeting, a resolution put to the vote shall be decided by a poll unless, before or on the declaration of the result of the poll, a vote by show of hands is demanded by the chairman or by any one of the Noteholders present in person or by proxy.
- 21.8.2 Unless a vote by show of hands is demanded, a declaration by the chairman that on a poll a resolution has been carried, or carried by a particular majority, or lost, shall be conclusive evidence of that fact, without proof of the number or proportion of the votes cast in favour of or against such resolution.
- 21.8.3 A poll demanded on the election of a chairman or on the question of the adjournment of a meeting shall be taken forthwith. A poll demanded on any other question shall be taken at such time as the chairman of the meeting directs and the result of such poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting.
- 21.8.4 In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a poll or a show of hands, the chairman shall not be entitled to a casting vote in addition to the vote, if any, to which he is entitled.

21.9 Votes

On a show of hands every Noteholder present in person shall have one vote. On a poll every Noteholder, present in person or by proxy, shall have one vote for each ZAR1,000,000 (One Million Rand) of the Nominal Amount outstanding of the Notes held by him. The joint holders of Notes shall have only one vote on a show of hands and one vote on a poll for each ZAR1,000,000 (One Million Rand) of the Nominal Amount outstanding of the Notes of which they are the registered holder and the vote may be exercised only by that holder present whose name appears first on the Register in the event that more than one of such joint holders is present in person or by proxy at the meeting. The Noteholder in respect of uncertificated Notes shall vote at any such meeting on behalf of the holders of Beneficial Interests in such Notes in accordance with the instructions to the CSD from the holders of Beneficial Interests conveyed through the Settlement Agents in accordance with the Applicable Procedures. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, any Noteholder that is the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries shall not be entitled to vote.

21.10 **Proxies and representatives**

- 21.10.1 Noteholders may:
- 21.10.1.1 present in person; or
- 21.10.1.2 through any appointed Person (a **proxy**), by an instrument in writing (a **form of proxy**), signed by the holder or, in the case of a corporation, executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney of a duly authorised officer of the corporation,

vote on a poll.

- 21.10.2 A Person appointed to act as proxy need not be a Noteholder.
- 21.10.3 The form of proxy shall be deposited at the registered office of the Issuer or at the office where the Register is kept or at such other office as the Issuer may determine not less than 24 (twenty four) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the Person named in such form of proxy proposes to vote, and in default, the proxy shall be invalid.
- 21.10.4 No form of proxy shall be valid after the expiration of 6 (six) months from the date named in it as the date of its execution.
- 21.10.5 A proxy shall have the right to demand or join in demanding a poll.
- 21.10.6 Notwithstanding Condition 21.10.4 the form of proxy shall be valid for any adjourned meeting, unless the contrary is stated thereon.
- 21.10.7 A vote given in accordance with the terms of a proxy shall be valid notwithstanding the previous death or incapacity of the principal or revocation of the proxy or of the authority under which the form of proxy was executed or the transfer of Notes in respect of which the proxy was given, provided that no intimation in writing of such death, incapacity or revocation shall have been received by the Issuer at the office of the Transfer Agent more than, and that the transfer has been given effect to less than, 12 (twelve) hours before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the proxy is to be used.
- 21.10.8 Any Noteholder which is a corporation may by resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise any Person to act as its representative in connection with any meeting or proposed meeting of Noteholders. Any reference in this Condition 21 (*Meetings of Noteholders*) to a Noteholder present in person includes such a duly authorised representative of a Noteholder.

21.11 Minutes

- 21.11.1 The Issuer shall cause minutes of all resolutions and proceedings of meetings to be duly entered in the minute books of the Issuer.
- 21.11.2 Any such minutes as aforesaid, if purporting to be signed by the chairman of the meeting at which such resolutions were passed or proceedings held or by the chairman of the next succeeding meeting, shall be receivable in evidence without any further proof, and until the contrary is proved, a meeting of Noteholders in respect of the proceedings of which minutes have been so made shall be deemed to have been duly held and convened and all resolutions passed thereat, or proceedings held, to have been duly passed and held.

21.11 Mutatis mutandis application

The provisions of this Condition 21 (*Meetings of Noteholders*) shall apply *mutatis mutandis* to the calling and conduct of meetings on an individual Tranche, Series or Class of Noteholders, as the case may be.

22. FURTHER ISSUES

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders to create and issue further Notes having terms and conditions the same as any of the other Notes issued under the Programme or the same in all respects save for the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon, the Issue Price and the Issue Date, so that the further Notes shall be consolidated to form a single Series with the Outstanding Notes. 23. GOVERNING LAW

These Terms and Conditions, the Guarantee and all rights and obligations to the Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of South Africa in force from time to time.

Lape Town on this 17th day of March 2017. SIGNED at ____

For and on behalf of

WOOLWORTHS HOLDINGS LIMITED

ACC Ć Name: MOEGAMAT REEZA TC

Capacity: Director Who warrants his/her authority hereto

Name: JAN MOIR Capacity: Director Who warrants his/her authority hereto

68

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE GUARANTEE

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "Terms and Conditions of the Guarantee" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

GUARANTEE

We, the undersigned,

WOOLWORTHS PROPRIETARY LIMITED

(registration number 1956/000518/07), being a private company incorporated in accordance with the laws of South Africa (the **Guarantor**),

hereby, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantee (as primary obligor and not merely as surety) to the holders of Notes (the **Noteholders**) issued or to be issued by Woolworths Holdings Limited (registration number 1929/001986/06) (the **Issuer**) under the Woolworths Holdings Limited ZAR10,000,000,000 Domestic Medium Term Note Programme (the **Programme**), the due and punctual performance of all obligations arising under the Programme pursuant to this Programme Memorandum which the Issuer may incur to the Noteholders and the due and punctual payment of all amounts due by the Issuer in respect of the Notes arising under the Programme pursuant to the Programme Memorandum issued by the Issuer, dated 17 March 2017, as amended and/or supplemented from time to time (the **Programme Memorandum**) and further, if any obligation guaranteed by it is or becomes unenforceable, invalid or illegal, as an independent and primary obligation, indemnifies the Noteholders immediately on demand against any cost, loss or liability it incurs as a result of the Issuer not paying any amount which would, but for such unenforceability, invalidity or illegality, have been payable by it on the date when it would have been due. The amount payable by the Guarantor under this indemnity will not exceed the amount it would have had to pay under this Guarantee if the amount claimed had been recoverable on the basis of a guarantee.

- 1. Terms used but not defined herein have the meanings set forth in the section of the Programme Memorandum headed "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*" (the **Terms and Conditions**).
- 2. All payments made in terms of this Guarantee shall be made *mutatis mutandis* in accordance with Conditions 9 (*Interest*) and 10 (*Payments*) of the Terms and Conditions.
- 3. This Guarantee shall be binding on the Guarantor, and shall continue to be binding on such Guarantor and, with respect to any payment, or any part thereof, of principal and/or interest on any Note that is rescinded or must otherwise be returned by the Transfer Agent or any Noteholder if such rescission or return of payment has been compelled by law as a result of the insolvency of any of the Issuer or any other person or if such rescission or return of payment is a result of any law, regulation or decree applicable to the Issuer or such persons.
- 4. The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee constitute its unconditional, (and subject to Condition 7 (*Negative Pledge*) and clause 6 below) unsecured and unsubordinated obligations and will rank (subject to any obligations preferred by law) *pari passu* with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor.
- 5. The Guarantor hereby renounces, all benefits arising from the legal exceptions "non numeratae pecuniae" (no money was paid over), "non causa debiti" (lack of actionable debt), "errore calculi" (mistake in calculation of amount due) and "beneficia excussionis et divisionis" (the benefits of excussion and division), with the force and effect of which such Guarantor hereby declares it to be fully acquainted. The Guarantor agrees that this Guarantee is to be in addition and without prejudice to any other suretyship/s and security/ies now or hereafter to be held by the Noteholders and shall remain in force as a continuing security notwithstanding any intermediate settlement of account and notwithstanding any legal disability of such Guarantor.
- 6. For so long as a Tranche of Senior Notes remains Outstanding, the Guarantor undertakes not to create or permit the creation of any Encumbrance, other than any Permitted Encumbrance over any of its present or future businesses, undertakings, assets or revenues to secure any present or future Indebtedness (save for those that have been accorded a preference by law) without at the same time securing all Senior Notes equally and rateably with such Indebtedness

or providing such other security as may be approved by Extraordinary Resolution of the Senior Noteholders, unless the provision of any such security is waived by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Senior Noteholders.

- 7. No action in respect of any collateral or security given by the Issuer, or any other persons, in respect of the Notes is required to be taken before action is taken against the Guarantor under this Guarantee, and the existence or enforceability of this Guarantee shall not affect or be affected by any other security held in respect of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes.
- 8. Any admission made by the Issuer in respect of the Notes shall be binding on the Guarantor.
- 9. A demand made under this Guarantee by any Noteholder after an Event of Default has occurred and while it is continuing shall be made in writing to the Guarantor at the address specified below.
- 10. Payment to the Paying Agent under this Guarantee shall:
- 10.1. be made by and of the Guarantor to the Paying Agent not later than 3 (three) Business Days after receipt of a demand in accordance with clause 9 above;
- 10.2. discharge the Guarantor of its applicable obligations to the Noteholders under this Guarantee; and
- 10.3. *pro tanto* discharge the Issuer of its corresponding obligations to the Noteholders under the Notes.
- 11. Notwithstanding any part payment by the Guarantor or on the Guarantor's behalf, the Guarantor shall have no right to any cession of action in respect of such part payment and shall not be entitled to take any action against the Issuer or against any other surety for the Issuer in respect thereof unless and until the indebtedness of the Issuer to the Noteholders shall have been discharged in full.
- 12. Each notice, demand or other communication under this Guarantee shall be in writing and be delivered personally or by recognised courier or facsimile and be deemed to have been given:
- 12.1. in the case of a facsimile, on the first Business Day following the date of transmission; and
- 12.2. in the case of a letter, when delivered; and
- 12.3. shall be sent to the Guarantor at:

Physical address:

Woolworths House, 93 Longmarket Street Cape Town, 8001 South Africa Attention: WHL Group Company Secretary

Email: legal@woolworths.co.za

or to such other address in South Africa or facsimile number as is notified from time to time by the Guarantor to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (*Notices*) of the Terms and Conditions.

- 13. The Guarantor chooses the above address as its *domicilium citandi et executandi* for all purposes under this Guarantee, whether in respect of court process, notices or other documents or communications of whatsoever nature.
- 14. This Guarantee is, and all rights and obligations relating to this Guarantee are, governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of South Africa.
- 15. This Guarantee will terminate upon all of the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes being fully and finally discharged in accordance with the Terms and Conditions.
- 16. The Guarantor agrees for the benefit of the Noteholders that the Gauteng Local Division, Johannesburg, South Africa (or any successor to that division) shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceedings, and to settle any disputes which may arise out

of or in connection with this Guarantee and, for such purposes, irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such court.

- 17. This Guarantee will be deposited with, and be held by, the Transfer Agent until the later of:
- 17.1. the date on which the Programme is terminated by the Issuer; and
- 17.2. the date on which all of the obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor under or in respect of the Notes have been discharged in full.
- 18. The Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that each Noteholder shall be entitled to require the Transfer Agent to produce the original of this Guarantee on request and further shall be entitled to require the Transfer Agent, which shall be obliged, to provide a copy of this Guarantee to that Noteholder on request. In holding the Guarantee, the Transfer Agent shall not act in any fiduciary or similar capacity for the Noteholders and shall not accept any liability, duty or responsibility to Noteholders in this regard.
- 19. This Guarantee constitutes the whole agreement relating to the subject matter hereof. No amendment (save for the increase in the Programme Amount and the size of the Guarantee) or consensual cancellation of this Guarantee or any provision or term hereof shall be binding unless approved by Extraordinary Resolution of Noteholders or with the prior written consent of Noteholders or the relevant Class of Noteholders, as the case may be, holding not less than 66.67% (sixty-six point sixty-seven percent) in Nominal Amount of the Notes Outstanding from time to time and thereafter recorded in a written document signed by the Guarantor. Any waiver or relaxation or suspension given or made shall be strictly construed as relating strictly to the matter in respect whereof it was made or given.

SIGNED at	on this	da	v of	201	7
••••••	• • • • • • •		, <u> </u>		•

For and on behalf of

WOOLWORTHS PROPRIETARY LIMITED

Name: Capacity: Director Who warrants his/her authority hereto Name: Capacity: Director Who warrants his/her authority hereto

USE OF PROCEEDS

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "Use of Proceeds" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

For purposes of the Commercial Paper Regulations it is recorded that the "*Ultimate Borrower*", as defined in the Commercial Paper Regulations, of the net proceeds from each Tranche of Notes will be the Issuer, unless otherwise indicated in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

The proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied by the Issuer and/or its wholly-owned subsidiaries and/or its holding company for its general corporate purposes as well as the funding of the business operations within the Woolworths SA Group or as may otherwise be described in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.
DESCRIPTION OF WOOLWORTHS HOLDINGS LIMITED AND WOOLWORTHS PROPRIETARY LIMITED

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "Terms and Conditions of the Guarantee" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

1. INTRODUCTION

As at the Programme Date the Woolworths Holdings Limited group (the **WHL Group**) is a southern hemisphere retail group, with its head office in South Africa. It has been listed on the JSE since 1997. It is currently one of the top 40 JSE-listed companies and had a market capitalisation of R87.5 bn (eighty seven billion and five hundred million rand) at 26 June 2016. 40% (forty percent) of the operating profit is currently generated in Australasia.

The WHL Group consists of three major operating divisions:

- Woolworths which is based in South Africa and operates across another 11 (eleven) sub-Saharan African countries. "*Woolworths*" consists of Woolworths Proprietary Limited (as Guarantor) and its subsidiaries in Africa and Mauritius;
- David Jones which is based and trades in Australia and New Zealand. "*David Jones*" consists of David Jones Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries in Australia and New Zealand; and
- Country Road Group which is based in Australia and trades in Australia, New Zealand and South Africa. "*Country Road Group*" consists of Country Road Group Proprietary Limited (Australia) and its subsidiaries in Australia and New Zealand.

Woolworths Financial Services Proprietary Limited (**WFS**) is a joint venture between Woolworths and Barclays Africa Group (formerly Absa Group Limited) (**Barclays Africa**), with Barclays Africa owning fifty per cent (50%) plus one share.

2. HISTORY

Woolworths Holdings Limited (**WHL** or the **Issuer**) is an investment holding company which was incorporated on 11 November 1929, was registered as a public company and listed on the JSE in 1997 under the symbol "WHL"

In 1931, the first Woolworths Proprietary Limited (**Woolworths**) store opened on Adderley Street in Cape Town and within the next five years, Woolworths opened branches in Durban, Port Elizabeth and Johannesburg.

In the 80 years since the opening of its first store, the WHL Group has grown into a leading retail group with a strong presence in sub-Saharan Africa and Australasia.

In 1994, the Woolworths store card was introduced and was the first financial services product offered to the WHL Group's customers. WFS was incorporated in 2000 to provide Woolworths customers with focused financial products and services.

In 1997, the Issuer acquired a controlling interest in Country Road Limited which was founded in 1974, as a manufacturer and supplier of women's casual cotton shirts. The brand was relaunched in 2004 and has become one of the leading speciality brands in the Australian retail and fashion industry.

In 2008, Country Road brand was launched in South Africa and, in 2009, Country Road launched the Trenery brand in both Australia and South Africa.

In October 2012, Country Road acquired Witchery Australia Proprietary Limited (Witchery) for a total consideration of R1.5bn (one billion five hundred million rand) (A\$180m (one hundred and eighty million Australian dollars)). The acquisition of Witchery added the **Witchery** and **Mimco** brands into the WHL Group's portfolio.

In 2014, the Witchery and Mimco brands were launched in South Africa.

On 1 August 2014, WHL acquired David Jones. David Jones opened its first store in Sydney in 1838 and has grown to become one of Australia's leading premium department stores.

David Jones was registered as a public company in 1906 and was listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (**ASX**) in 1920. David Jones was delisted from the ASX on 5 August 2014.

On 2 September 2014, WHL acquired the non-controlling minority interests of Country Road which then became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WHL Group, was de-listed from the ASX and became known as Country Road Group Pty Ltd (**Country Road Group**).

In 2015, Country Road Group brands were rolled out or expanded in David Jones and key Woolworths private label brands were introduced into Australasia through the David Jones stores. The David Jones Collection private label was also re-launched and introduced into South Africa via Woolworths stores.

3. OWNERSHIP AND CONTROL

The shareholding of the WHL Group can be found in the Annual Financial Statements Report of WHL.

Ownership of the WHL Group is widely spread with the Public Investment Corporation being the largest shareholder. More than 44% (forty four percent) of WHL Group's shareholding was held outside of South Africa as at 26 June 2016.

4. WHL GROUP BUSINESS OPERATIONS

A high-level view of the WHL Group company structure (including subsidiaries and/or joint ventures) as at the Programme Date is provided below, together with a more detailed description of the business operations.

4.1 WHL Group Structure



4.2 Business Operations

Company	Woolworths				
Segment	Clothing and General Merchandise	Food	WFS	David Jones	Country Road Group
Ownership	Wholly owned subsidiary.		Joint venture operation with WHL Group holding 50% less one share.	Wholly owned subsidiary acquired from 1 August 2014.	Wholly owned subsidiary from 2 September 2014 (previously 88%)
Established	1931		1994	1838	1974
Incorporated	South Africa		South Africa	Australia	Australia
Profile	A leading South African retailer offering a range of primarily private label products.		A joint venture that offers value- added financial services.	One of Australasia's leading premium department stores.	One of the leading Australian specialty apparel retailer.
Offering	A selected range of quality clothing and general merchandise and a wide range of food products. Financial services provided through WFS.		Woolworths store card, credit card, personal loans and short-term insurance.	Leading international and local brands with strong private label general merchandise and food offering. Financial services provided through joint venture with American	Stylish high- quality apparel, accessories, footwear and homeware.
Employees as at June 2016	30,617 (thirty thousand six hundred and seventeen)		1,014 (one thousand and fourteen)	Express. 5,964 (five thousand nine hundred and sixty four)	5,545 (five thousand five hundred and forty five)
Target customers	Customers in South Africa's Living Standard Measure (LSM) bands 8–10		Customers in South Africa's Living Standard Measure (LSM) bands 8–10.	Customers in Australia's top two affluence bands 4–5.	Customers in Australia's top two affluence bands 4–5. Customers in South Africa's Living Standard Measure (LSM) bands 8–10.

Company	Woolworths				
Segment	Clothing and General Merchandise	Food	WFS	David Jones	Country Road Group
Loyalty programme (no. of customers as at June 2016)	3.2m active WRewa (excluding MySchoo tracking 74% of sale The Woolworths WI programme offers a rewards to custome vouchers and imme on purchases in Wo stores.	ol base), es. Rewards variety of rs including diate discounts	1.4m active store cards and 204,000 (two hundred and four thousand) active credit cards. Store and credit cards are linked to Woolworths WRewards loyalty programme.	Database of 1.7m customer email addresses.	2m active cardholders, tracking 82% of sales.
Store locations as at June 2016	695 285	410	39 in-store financial services hubs	41 (including New Zealand, opened in July 2016)	660
Key Private label brands	Woolworths Studio.W RE: JTOne Distraction	Woolworths	WFS	David Jones	Country Road Trenery Witchery Mimco Politix
Brief description of business operations	Broad range of exclusively private label products that offer customers classic, modern and contemporary styles, balanced with price and value. Merchandise for womenswear, menswear, childrenswear, accessories, footwear and beauty products, along with a range of home accessories and	High-quality private label fresh food, long-life and non-food products and supplies. Customers' most wanted national and international brands for both food and non-food products. Woolworths Food anchored in fresh produce and prepared	Woolworths store card may only be utilised in Woolworths stores, whilst the WFS credit card can be used anywhere. Revolving personal loans provided, the majority of which are for 12 - to 24 - month terms and are backed by	Premium retailer offering leading international brands with strong private label and general merchandise and food offering. Merchandise includes womenswear, childrenswear and toys, accessories, footwear and	Country Road is well-known for its stylish, high-quality apparel, accessories, footwear and homeware for women and men. Trenery provides simple, sophisticated, womenswear and menswear appealing to the classic customer.

Company	Woolworths				
Segment	Clothing and General Merchandise	Food	WFS	David Jones	Country Road Group
	soft furnishings. Anchored by Woolworths brand, as well as exclusive private label brands such as Studio.W (modern menswear, womenswear and homeware), RE: focused denim brand, JTOne and Distraction – lingerie brands. Within beauty, Woolworths offers Woolworths- branded products, as well as premium cosmetics, fragrance and skincare products from leading global brands.	food categories. 90% (ninety percent) of revenue from private label products. 10% (ten percent) of revenue from national and international third-party brands, selectively chosen to represent customers' most desired brands.	debit orders to ensure consistent customer payments. Barclays Africa, provides all required debt funding to WFS. Control by Barclays Africa is limited through measures such as policy setting, setting of credit risk appetite and dual reporting lines over credit and collections, operational risk and compliance, financial reporting and fraud control. Woolworths provides access to distribution channels to facilitate WFS' operations and direction on customer integration. The WFS board has control over strategy, commercial matters, products and	beauty products, along with a range of home accessories and soft furnishings. The food offering is predominantly fresh with serviced concession counters. Exclusive private label brands, Woolworths brands Studio.W, RE:, JTOne and Distraction launched in August 2015. David Jones Collection was re-launched in February 2016. Products are sold through a combination of "own buy" arrangements and concession agreements and to a lesser extent, private label arrangements. The majority of David Jones sales are "own buy", that are products purchased for sale by David	Witchery is positioned as one leading "style authority" and aims to provide the latest fashion for women, men, accessories, footwear and children. Mimco positioned as an accessible luxury accessories and footwear brand with unique designs.

Company	Woolworths				
Segment	Clothing and General Merchandise	Food	WFS	David Jones	Country Road Group
			operations. The WFS board is constituted with directors from Barclays Africa and the WHL Group.	Jones. The remainder of David Jones' product offering is sold through concession agreements. Two financial services card products: the David Jones Store Card and the David Jones American Express Card, both provided through a joint venture with American Express. May only be used in David Jones stores.	
Geographical footprint	In addition to operat Africa, it operates th subsidiaries in Bots Mauritius, Mozambi Swaziland, Ghana, Tanzania, Uganda,	nrough its wana, Lesotho, que, Namibia, Kenya,	South Africa and Namibia	Australia and New Zealand.	Australia, New Zealand and South Africa
Trading format	Full-line flagship sto the widest range wit general merchandis products, with sellin excess of 10, 000 m Mid-tier stores that food and clothing pr space of 1,600 m ² t	th clothing, e and food g space in 1 ² contain both oducts, selling	Financial services hubs in the Woolworths stores.	s stores in Sydney and Melbourne. P Full-line J department ir stores, selling a	Stand-alone retail stores. Concession pads in David Jones stores in Australia and Woolworths
	Clothing-only stores, selling space in excess of 600 m ² to 1,000 m ²	Stand-alone food convenience stores with selling space of 300 m^2 to $1,200 \text{ m}^2$ Large food- only		10,000 m ² to 15,000 m ² . Village stores with a focus on fashion and beauty, selling space of 7,000 m ² .	stores in South Africa.

Company	Woolworths	-			
Segment	Clothing and General Merchandise	Food	WFS	David Jones	Country Road Group
		supermarkets with full-range of food products and services e.g. coffee shop, sushi bar, selling space of 1,800 m ² to 2,500 m ² Concessions in Engen service stations that sell Woolworths food products, selling space of 40 m ² on Engen forecourts.		Limited number of stores currently offer food products and cafes.	

5. MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

5.1 In support of WHL Group's vision of being a leading retail group in the southern hemisphere; the WHL Group follows a formal annual strategy development and review process. WHL Group has refined the eight strategic focus areas used in 2015 down to four strategic focuses that are driven at a group level. The two product-related focus areas of "Be a leading fashion retailer in the southern hemisphere" and "Become a big Food business with a difference", have been incorporated into the commentary on the three companies. The two other strategic focus areas of "Expand into the rest of Africa" and "Simple, convenient and rewarding Financial Services" have now been incorporated into the Woolworths South Africa strategy. All the strategic focus areas are supported by two key enablers, people and infrastructure.

5.2 Group Strategic Focus Areas:

5.2.1 Build Stronger, More Profitable Customer Relationships

The WHL Group customer insights and data will drive and inform all business decisions, shifting the WHL Group from being a customer centric business to a customer driven group. To build on this, the WHL Group continues to enhance its loyalty proposition and offer customers a connected retail experience.

5.2.2 Towards connected retail

The WHL Group is focused on offering customers a connected retail experience, connecting customers seamlessly to personalised marketing, the physical store, the digital experience, supply chain, seamless payment options and helping staff deliver a consistent, brand-aligned customer experience.

5.2.3 Drive Synergies and Efficiencies across the WHL Group

A key strategy for the WHL Group is to leverage scale across the southern hemisphere. Through closer integration across the businesses, the WHL Group aims to be able to drive efficiencies and add significantly to profitability. Key focuses include the co-location of David Jones and Country Road Group in a new Australasian head office in Melbourne, Australia, and leveraging the WHL Group sourcing in order to deliver both superior product and profitability.

5.2.4 *Embed Sustainability throughout the Business*

The WHL Group's vision is to be one of the most sustainable retailers in the southern hemisphere. We will achieve this by entrenching the Good Business Journey throughout the WHL Group. Through this programme, the WHL Group embeds sustainability into every aspect of its business model. The Good Business Journey programme has eight focus areas – ethical sourcing, sustainable farming, energy, water, waste, social development, transformation, and health and wellness.

5.3 Woolworths South Africa – Strategy

Woolworths South Africa's (Woolworths S.A) vision is to be customers' favourite retail brand.

Woolworths S.A focuses on the Living Standard Measure (**LSM**) of 8-10 customers. Woolworths S.A's strategic focus is on retaining current customers, acquiring more customers in its target demographic and increasing the penetration and spend of its black customers.

In support of its strategy, Woolworths S.A invests in channels, including the digital experience, formats and geographies, including building its brand in the African countries in which it currently operate.

The Woolworths Clothing and General Merchandise strategy is to lead the market in quality, relevant fashion ranges and innovation. It also continues to build fashion credibility through clearly segmented, design-led collections. It delivers superior product through fabric innovation, fit and its sustainability credentials.

The Woolworths Food vision is to be the destination of choice in customers' world of food through having the "mind of a supermarket and the soul of a deli." Woolworths Food is on a journey to become a big food business with a difference, maintaining its leadership positioning in fresh produce, innovation and quality, while expanding its ranges at competitive prices to deliver value to its customers.

We are focused on transforming the WFS customer experience to one that is consistent with and aligned to the Woolworths brand. WFS is an integral part of the Woolworths connected retail strategy, with mobile functionality and integration with the Woolworths loyalty programme being strategic focuses.

5.4 David Jones – Strategy

David Jones aims to be Australasia's premium retailer, by profitably combining leading international and local brands with a strong branded private label general merchandise and food offering.

David Jones focuses on the mid-to upper-income customer in Australasia. It focuses on using customer data to inform its business decisions and provide a deeper understanding of customers to better service their needs.

David Jones grows its footprint through the addition of new stores, while simultaneously optimising existing Clothing and General Merchandise business by carving out a space for Food. Key strategic focuses include the redevelopment of the Elizabeth Street flagship store in Sydney to be a world-class department store and the upgrade of the website platform to drive online sales.

David Jones aims to use market insights to optimise the merchandise and brand assortment. This will be achieved by increasing market dominance and exclusivity of key brands and by protecting exclusive brands. It will also continue to build an appropriate private label offering by growing private label ranges.

The vision for the David Jones Good business is to be a trusted, inspirational food brand that connects people who love food through an authentic food experience that offers consistent superior quality, flavour and innovative fresh food. It will deliver this by leveraging the David Jones brand, existing real estate footprint and customer as well as the premium

Food knowledge and skill within the WHL Group. This will enable a transformation of the current Food offer into a unique and differentiated Food experience.

5.5 **Country Road Group – Strategy**

Country Road Group aims to grow its four brands market share and be the connected retail market leader in the southern hemisphere.

It focuses on the mid-to upper-income customer in Australasia and South Africa. It continues to improve the functionality of its Customer Relationship Management programme and leverage the combined customer databases across all four Country Road Group brands in order to drive revenue synergies through cross-shopping opportunities.

Country Road Group continues to invest in innovative digital development focused on digital accessibility and personalisation through enhanced mobile platforms, targeted communication based on customer behaviour and integrated customer experience. While it plans to expand its footprint, the primary focus is enhancing profitability across all channels.

Country Road Group continues to differentiate its brands from its competitors and offer a superior customer proposition by evolving its customer-led strategy. The group will drive and grow the four brands, ensuring that each brand appeals to its specific target customers. The group will also evolve its design-led strategy to emphasize the point of difference in its brands that are relevant to its target customer.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk Management is an integral part of the WHL Group's strategy setting process. The responsibility for designing, implementing and monitoring the risk management plan is delegated to management. The WHL Group Head of Enterprise Risk Management ensures that a consistent approach to risk management is applied across all companies in the WHL Group. Key risks are tabled and reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Risk and Compliance committees. Risk metrics and indicators are clearly defined for all risks, with the risk management process embedded in the WHL Group's business operations. The WHL Group's combined assurance management framework is tabled on an annual basis to ensure that the Board is comfortable with the level and type of assurance that is obtained over the key risks. The effective use and the extent of the types of assurance in the three lines of defence model remain integral to the way in which the operational governance of the WHL Group is managed.

The Board is satisfied that the risk process is effective in continuously identifying and evaluating risks and ensuring that these risks are managed in line with business strategy. The material issues highlighted below are agreed by the Board as being those issues which can materially impact the creation of stakeholder value in the short-, medium- and long-term. The material issues highlight both the risks and opportunities.

Material issue	Risks	Opportunities
The trading environment The South African economy remains under pressure with little relief expected for consumers in the medium- term. Growth in Australia is expected to continue, albeit at a rate lower than the long- term average. Changing and unseasonable weather patterns are influencing customer shopping patterns with a mis-alignment of trading seasons and climates.	 Worsening macro, socio- political risks, particularly in South Africa, negatively impact consumer spending and the WHL Group's profitability. Negative customer perceptions of price and value. Trans-seasonal product not available to customer 	 Customer positioning continues to focus on mid-to-upper-income customers whose spending is more resilient during challenging economic times. Appropriate investment in food prices to improve price perception and retain competitiveness. Increased scale and group sourcing in clothing businesses allows for the unlocking

Material issue	Risks	Opportunities
		of additional margin which can be passed on to the consumer to allow for more competitive pricing. Focusing on KVLs, in order to benchmark them to competitors, and improve price perception.
		 Expand and introduce new ranges appealing to broader customer market
		 Increased focus on speed to market and shorter critical path for design and production
Shifts in consumer spending and behaviour Online shopping has created more price-savvy consumers who expect the in-store experience to add value, be relevant, personalised and entertaining, whilst experiencing an efficient and effective online shopping alternative. Mobile and related technologies are enabling consumers to interact with each other and with retailers directly. This affects every part of the customer journey from researching products and prices before purchase, to post-purchase feedback.	 Our product does not meet customer expectations with respect to fashion and fit Unable to provide customers with a compelling digital offering Delivery of its connected retail experience, particularly mobile, does not meet customer expectations 	 Deliver a Connected Retail experience, connecting the customer consistently and seamlessly across multiple channels. Use loyalty tools to drive more personalised interactions with customers. Customer data and analytics from loyalty to inform business decisions, including product decisions. Continue to build design and sourcing processes, people and capacity to deliver
Competition continues to intensify as northern hemisphere retailers continue to expand into the southern hemisphere. Customers are demanding more fashionable merchandise at competitive prices. At the same time, local competitors are seeking to diversify their operations and increase their scale by acquiring overseas retailers.		 brands which are more design-led and fashion relevant. The group has a strong social media presence in South Africa and Australia, and constantly refresh and enhance its positioning. Balanced real estate growth planned to maximise opportunities.

Material issue	Risks	Opportunities
The effective use of technology Technology is developing rapidly and impacts all aspects of the business. Customers are also embracing technology, particularly mobile and social media, impacting how retailers communicate and transact with them across all channels. The ubiquitous nature of technology has resulted in an increased threat of cyber- attacks and compromised infrastructure and data security.	 Inability to deliver IT requirements to support the growth of the business. Cyber-attacks, IT infrastructure disruptions and data loss. 	 Increase the focus on the customer and integrated, customer- facing technology, particularly mobile. Developing a roadmap of group-wide IT requirements to ensure consistency of services and processes across all entities and protect the businesses from security threats and business interruptions.
The business transformation of David Jones Through the successful transformation and integration of David Jones, the group is able to build a large scale, highly efficient business that will firmly establish it as a leading southern hemisphere retailer and create sustainable shareholder value.	Inability to unlock David Jones' potential transformational and synergistic benefits	 The WHL Group Transformation Management Office (GTMO) provides the framework under which WHL Group transformational work streams are managed to ensure that acquisition benefits are realised. Continue to identify additional synergies and benefits across WHL, unlocking further shareholder value. Leverage core skills across the WHL Group to ensure integration and transfer of knowledge across the WHL Group.
People, Culture and Diversity Competition for talented employees is intensifying with targeted recruitment and poaching of core talent by local and international retailers, offering above market related salaries. In South Africa, there is a further obligation to transform Woolworths in line with the new BEE Codes of Good	 Inability to attract and retain retail talent. Failure to transform the Woolworths in line with the new BEE Codes of Good Practice. 	Employee Value Proposition designed to attract, inspire, engage, retain and motivate the right diverse leadership and talent required to deliver to the strategy. The EVP balances remuneration (financial rewards) with non- financial rewards to drive and deliver a high performance culture.

Material issue	Risks	Opportunities
Practice.		Talent management structures and processes and its broader group talent pool allows for additional development and secondment opportunities.
		 Accredited training programmes for staff and senior leadership development programmes to strengthen management talent.
		 Build on and adapt Woolworths transformation strategy to align to new BEE codes.
Delivering sustained financial performance Through leveraging scale and driving synergies and implementing clear, consistent strategies across the WHL Group, the group intends to generate sustainable returns over the short-, medium- and long- term for its investors and shareholders	 Cost growth is uncontained leading to negative operating leverage (negative JAWS) Reduced liquidity impacts the ability to maintain or grow the business Current trading performance is impacted by management focus on change programs 	 Common seasonality, scale and global sourcing opportunities allow us enhance margins. Leveraging WHL Group systems, processes and structures allow us to improve efficiency and productivity.
Sustainability Retailers continue to experience a significant change in mind-set among consumers that doing business is no longer only about profit, but also creating shared value and meeting responsibilities to contribute to economic development and give back to communities and the planet.	 Failure to maintain sustainability leadership position resulting in the loss of competitive advantage and brand deterioration Scarcity of supply and increasing cost of natural resources (especially water and energy) impacting the operations and supply chain 	 Expansion of the Good Business Journey's (GBJ) principles and initiatives throughout the group. Revised GBJ targets and commitments will deliver renewed focus. We form part of a complex and globalized supply chain with the potential to influence both upstream and downstream value chain players in order to drive positive and sustainable change.

7. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The directors of the Issuer at the Programme Date are:

7.1 SIMON SUSMAN (South African)

Non-independent, Non-executive Director and Chairman

Member of the Nominations, Remuneration, Risk and Compliance, Social and Ethics, and Sustainability committees

Expertise: Retail

Joined the Board in 1995 and appointed as Chairman in 2011

7.2 IAN MOIR (Australian)

Executive Director - WHL Group Chief Executive Officer

Member of the Risk and Compliance, Social and Ethics, and Sustainability committees Expertise: Retail

Joined the Board in 2010

7.3 **PATRICK ALLAWAY** (Australian)

Independent Non-executive Director Member of the Audit, Remuneration, and Risk and Compliance committees Expertise: Finance and banking Joined the Board in 2014

7.4 **PETER BACON** (British)

Independent Non-executive Director Member of the Audit and Remuneration committees Expertise: Business leadership, hotels, gaming and leisure Joined the Board in 2006

7.5 ZARINA BASSA (South African)

Independent Non-executive Director

Chairman of Risk and Compliance Committee

Member of the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration committees

Expertise: Banking and finance

Joined the Board in 2011

7.6 **TOM BOARDMAN** (South African)

Independent Non-executive Director

Lead Independent Director

Chairman of the Remuneration and Nominations committees

Member of the Sustainability, and Social and Ethics committees

Expertise: Business leadership, banking and retail

Joined the Board in 2011

7.7 **HUBERT BRODY** (South African)

Independent Non-executive Director Chairman of Audit Committee Member of the Risk and Compliance committees Expertise: Business leadership, finance and banking Joined the Board in 2014

7.8 ANDREW HIGGINSON (British) Independent Non-executive Director Member of the Audit, Remuneration, and Risk and Compliance committees Expertise: Retail Joined the Board in 2012

7.9 GAIL KELLY (Australian)

Independent Non-executive Director

Member of the Nominations, Remuneration, Risk and Compliance, and Sustainability committees

Expertise: Business leadership, finance and banking

Joined the Board in 2015

7.10 NOMBULELO MOHOLI (South African)

Independent Non-executive Director

Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee

Member of the Remuneration and Risk and Compliance committees

Expertise: Business leadership and telecommunications

Joined the Board in 2014

7.11 LORD ROSE (British)

Independent Non-executive Director

Chairman of the Sustainability Committee

Member of the Nominations, Remuneration, and Risk and Compliance committees

Expertise: Retail

Joined the Board in 2011

7.12 REEZA ISAACS (South African)
 Executive Director - WHL Group Finance Director
 Member of the Risk and Compliance Committee
 Expertise: Retail and financial
 Joined the Board in 2013

7.13 SAM NGUMENI (South African)

Executive Director - WHL Group Chief Operating Officer Member of the Risk and Compliance Committee Expertise: Operations and financial services Joined the Board in 2014

7.14 **ZYDA RYLANDS** (South African)

Executive Director - Chief Executive Officer – Woolworths South Africa Member of the Risk and Compliance, Social and Ethics and Sustainability committees Expertise: Retail

Joined the Board in 2006

7.15 CHANTEL REDDIAR

Group Company Secretary

Address: 93 Longmarket Street, Cape Town, 8000 Telephone Number: +27 21 407 3250

8. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

8.1 WHL Group governance framework

The Board is the custodian of corporate governance within the WHL Group. It is responsible for determining the company's strategic direction and ultimately is accountable for its performance. The deliberations of the Board are guided by a Board charter and supported by a Delegation of Authority, both of which are reviewed annually. The delegation of authority sets out the delegation of matters by the Board to its committees and the WHL Group Chief Executive Officer. A number of governance policies provide context for execution in terms of the delegation of authority.

The WHL Group has a unitary Board of 14 directors, of whom nine are Independent Nonexecutive Directors, one a Non independent Non-executive Director (Chairman), and four Executive Directors. The Board diversity ensures a wide range of skills and experience are brought to the Board's deliberations. The responsibilities of the Chairman and WHL Group Chief Executive Officer are clearly defined and separate. The Chairman is responsible for providing overall leadership of the Board while the WHL Group Chief Executive Officer is responsible for execution of the approved strategy.

The WHL Group governance framework (and structure), as illustrated below, was approved by the Board during the year. The WHL Board and committee structure is supported by three aligned subsidiary governance structures for:

- Woolworths (including WFS and the rest of Africa);
- David Jones; and
- Country Road Group.

This allows information to be reviewed and discussed at the operating entity level to ensure reporting to the WHL Board is at the right level and relevant to its strategic focus.

Various management committees are in place to support the WHL Group governance structure. These include:

- Executive committees for each of Woolworths, David Jones and Country Road Group which are responsible for the day-to-day business operations and operational governance;
- Investment committees to manage the approval of capital planning allocations; and
- WHL Group Treasury Committee to facilitate an optimum debt and capital management model.

8.2 Board process

The Board process is managed by the WHL Group Company Secretary. WHL Group and subsidiary board and committee meetings are held quarterly. Dedicated strategy meetings are held twice a year. The WHL Board meetings are held alternately in South Africa and Australia to ensure that directors receive adequate exposure to the respective local management teams and retail markets within which the WHL Group operates.

The Executive committees of the Woolworths SA Group, David Jones and Country Road Group oversee operational governance and meet monthly. Each business unit has a

leadership team that reviews the strategic objectives and capital initiatives and assesses the risks and opportunities within its unit. The Board committees report back to the Board on how they carried out their responsibilities. The committees assess their mandates annually as documented in their terms of reference and undertake internal reviews of their effectiveness.

8.3 Board activities

The activities and matters discussed at the Board and committee meetings are guided by annual work plans which ensure that, over the course of a financial year, the terms of reference have been adhered to. The terms of reference are reviewed and updated on an annual basis to adopt best practice, and include specific statutory requirements and matters relevant to the business model of the WHL Group. All committees reviewed their responsibilities and are satisfied that they have carried these out during the year.

8.4 King Code application

The Board is responsible for the holistic application of the principles contained in the King III Code and is already deliberating on the requisite principles as set out in the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016, which is applicable to companies for the 2018 financial year. The Board has applied all the principles recommended by King III, with one exception – the election of an Independent Director as Chairman of the Board. The WHL Chairman, Simon Susman, is classified as a Non-independent Director by virtue of the number of WHL shares he holds. In mitigation, the position of Lead Independent Director oversees matters discussed by the Board when the Chairman may, or is seen to have, a conflict of interest.

8.5 Company Secretary

The Board is cognisant of the duties of the WHL Group Company Secretary and has created an environment in which the WHL Group Company Secretary is able to ensure that Board procedures and relevant regulations are fully adhered to. The WHL Group Company Secretary is supported by the governance, risk and compliance business unit. The Board has appointed Chantel Reddiar as the WHL Group Company Secretary and she joined the WHL Group with effect from 5 September 2016. The Board is satisfied that the WHL Group Company Secretary maintains an arm's length relationship with the Board.

8.6 Non-executive Directors

Independent thought is brought to bear on Board decisions with a majority of independent non-executive directors. Nine of the non-executive directors are independent directors as defined in King III and the guidelines outlined in the Listings Requirements.

The Board structure and integrity of individual Directors ensures no one individual dominates the decision-making process.

The independence of Non-executive Directors is reviewed annually by the Nominations Committee. A formal independence test is performed on those directors retiring by rotation at the Annual General Meeting. The Board applies the direction provided by King III in its determination of a director's independence.

To uphold their independence and integrity, Directors must disclose all material interests as and when they arise. A full list of Directors' interests is tabled on a quarterly basis. Directors recuse themselves from any discussion and decision on matters in which they may have a potential conflict of interest.

8.7 Board Committees

All Board committees are chaired by Independent Non-executive Directors. Committee membership ensures that the relevant skills, diversity and experience are appropriate to support the roles and responsibilities of the committee. Regular presentations by senior executives in the WHL Group provide committee members with an opportunity to interrogate and form a first-hand view of matters under discussion. Committees also have access to external consultants and/or specific assurance providers to inform and advise them on their deliberations.

A number of Board committees assist the Board in fulfilling its stated objectives. They are:

- Audit Committee;
- Nominations Committee;
- Remuneration Committee;
- Risk and Compliance committee;
- Social and Ethics Committee; and
- Sustainability Committee.

The Nominations Committee reviews the structure of each committee on an annual basis and proposes changes in line with succession.

The role and responsibilities of each Board committee are set out in their respective terms of reference, which are reviewed on an annual basis and approved by the Board. In line with the delegated powers and authorities, the committees report to the Board quarterly on how they carried out their responsibilities.

The Board and each committee gives attention to new and existing governance and compliance matters according to their respective mandates.

8.8 Audit Committee

Hubert Brody chairs the WHL Audit Committee. This committee is responsible for ensuring that the system of internal financial controls is adequate and effective to fairly state the WHL Group's assessment of a going concern and the financial results. The internal and external annual audit plan is approved to support the assurance that the committee requires over the internal financial controls. An annual assessment of the competence and experience of the WHL Group Finance Director and the function supporting him provides further support on the integrity of the financial statements. Committee membership is restricted to Independent Non-executive Directors with regular attendance from the WHL Group CEO, WHL Group Finance Director, external and internal audit, and senior management responsible for finance and risk. The WHL Group Audit Committee is supported by an Audit Review Panel in Woolworths SA and audit committees David Jones and Country Road Group, all chaired by Independent Directors. After due consideration, the Audit Committee recommends the Annual Financial Statements to the Board for approval.

8.9 Nominations Committee

Tom Boardman, the Lead Independent Director, is the Chairman of the Nominations Committee. This committee is responsible for ensuring that the Board is structured with directors who have the skills, experience and diversity required for effective oversight and governance for the WHL Group. It also ensures that membership of each Board committee is appropriate given their roles and responsibilities. This committee manages the performance evaluations of the Board, its committees, individual directors, the WHL Group Company Secretary and secretarial function. The committee ensures that there is proper succession planning for the Board, WHL Group CEO and WHL Group executives, and reviews the independence and tenure of Non-executive Directors.

8.10 **Remuneration Committee**

Tom Boardman is the Chairman of the WHL Remuneration Committee. This committee ensures that the WHL Group offers a compelling employee value proposition, with a reward structure that is appropriate to the WHL Group's operations. It also ensures that short- and long-term incentives are aligned to the Group's strategic objectives and have challenging performance conditions for achievement of targets. Zarina Bassa, who chairs the Woolworths Remuneration Committee, was appointed to the committee in May 2016. The WHL Group Remuneration Committee is supported by remuneration committees in each of the three business operating entities, all chaired by Independent Directors.

8.11 Risk And Compliance Committee

Zarina Bassa is the Chairman of the WHL Risk and Compliance Committee. This committee ensures that the WHL Group's material issues and significant risks are identified, evaluated, and effectively managed and reported on through an effective ERM framework and that the mitigation and risks is assured through the combined assurance model. The committee ensures that the WHL Group's policies and processes are adequate to manage compliance with the regulatory landscape applicable for the WHL Group's business model. As risk and strategy are integrally linked, committee membership includes all Executive Directors. External audit, internal audit, and senior executives managing risk also attend these committee meetings. The WHL Group Risk and Compliance Committee is supported by Risk and Compliance committees in each of the three business operating entities, all chaired by Independent Directors.

8.12 Social And Ethics Committee

Nombulelo Moholi is the Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee. This committee ensures that the WHL Group plays a strong corporate citizenship role in the geographies in which it operates and has specific statutory responsibilities for the South African operations as envisaged by the Companies Act, including a focus on socioeconomic development and transformation for Woolworths SA. The WHL Group has adopted the principles of the UN Global Compact and ensures that policies adopted by the WHL Group support this. The Woolworths Trust, which manages the Woolworths SA corporate investment programme, reports to this committee. Zyda Rylands was appointed to this committee in May 2016 in her capacity as Woolworths SA CEO.

8.13 Sustainability Committee

Lord Rose is the Chairman of the Sustainability Committee. This committee ensures that the WHL Group manages its responsible retailing practices, which are encompassed in the WHL Group's Good Business Journey programme. This committee reviews and approves the strategic focus of the Good Business Journey programme, targets and key focus areas for the period to 2020. It works closely with the Social and Ethics Committee. It has oversight over the eight focus areas of the GBJ programme together with the five commitments.

8.14 Ethics

The WHL values of quality and style, value, service, innovation, integrity, energy and sustainability and derivations of these at the subsidiary level, underpin behaviour and decision-making processes in the WHL Group and form a material part of each employee's performance appraisal assessment.

The WHL Group maintains policies on gifts, insider trading and conflict of interests, and a zero-tolerance policy towards fraud, theft, corruption or any similar illegal behaviour. The WHL Group has adopted a whistle-blowing policy and an anti-corruption and sanctions policy to align with the OECD guidelines on corruption.

INVESTOR CONSIDERATIONS

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "Investor Considerations" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

The Issuer believes that the factors outlined below may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring. In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Notes are also described below. The value of the Notes could decline due to any of these risks, and investors may lose some or all of their investment.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the Notes, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the Issuer based on information currently available to it, or which it may not currently be able to anticipate. Accordingly, the Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are exhaustive.

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Programme Memorandum to reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

References below to the "Terms and Conditions", in relation to Notes, shall mean the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" set out under the section of this Programme Memorandum headed "Terms and Conditions of the Notes".

Factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme

Risks Relating to the Notes

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Programme Memorandum or any applicable supplement;
- have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such an investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

There may not be an active trading market for the Notes

Notes issued under the Programme will be new securities which may not be widely distributed and for which there is currently no active trading market (unless in the case of any particular Tranche, such Tranche is to be consolidated with and form a single series with a Tranche of Notes which is already issued). If the Notes are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general economic conditions and the financial condition of the Issuer. There is no assurance as to the development or liquidity of any trading market for any particular Tranche of Notes.

The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity

Unless in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the Applicable Pricing Supplement specifies otherwise, in the event that the Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Notes due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of the government of South Africa or any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Conditions.

In addition, if in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the Applicable Pricing Supplement specifies that the Notes are redeemable at the Issuer's option in certain other circumstances, the Issuer may choose to redeem the Notes at times when prevailing interest rates may be relatively low. In such circumstances an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as that of the relevant Notes.

Because uncertificated Notes are held by or on behalf of the CSD, investors will have to rely on their procedures for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer

Notes issued under the Programme which are listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE or such other or additional Financial Exchange and/or held in the CSD may, subject to Applicable Laws and the Applicable Procedures, be issued in uncertificated form. Unlisted Notes may also be held in the CSD in uncertificated form. Notes held in the CSD will be issued, cleared and settled in accordance with the Applicable Procedures through the electronic settlement system of the CSD. Except in the limited circumstances described in the Terms and Conditions, investors will not be entitled to receive Individual Certificates. The CSD will maintain records of the Beneficial Interests in Notes and/or issued in uncertificated form, which are held in the CSD (whether such Notes are listed or unlisted). Investors will be able to trade their Beneficial Interests only through the CSD and in accordance with the Applicable Procedures.

Payments of principal and/or interest in respect of uncertificated Notes will be made to the CSD or the Participants and the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under the Notes by making payments to or to the order of the CSD or the Participants for distribution to their account holders. A holder of a Beneficial Interest in uncertificated Notes, whether listed or unlisted, must rely on the procedures of the CSD to receive payments under the relevant Notes. Each investor shown in the records of the CSD or the Participants, as the case may be, shall look solely to the CSD or the Participant, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to the registered holder of such uncertificated Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, such Beneficial Interests.

Holders of Beneficial Interests in uncertificated Notes will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the relevant Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by the CSD to appoint appropriate proxies.

Recourse to the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust

The holders of Notes that are not listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will have no recourse against the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust. Claims against the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust may only be made in respect of the trading of Notes listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE and in accordance with the rules of the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust. Unlisted notes are not regulated by the JSE.

Credit Rating

Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme, the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or the Programme, as the case may be, may be rated or unrated. A Rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning Rating Agency. Any adverse change in an applicable credit rating could adversely affect the trading price for the Notes issued under the Programme.

Risks related to the structure of the particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of certain such features:

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of the Notes. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem the Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period. The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to re-invest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

Index-Linked and Dual Currency Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes the terms of which provide for interest or principal payable in respect of such Notes to be determined by reference to an index or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a **Relevant Factor**) or with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

- the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
- no interest may be payable on such Notes;
- payments of principal or interest on such Notes may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected;
- the amount of principal payable at redemption may be less than the Nominal Amount of such Notes or even zero;
- a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices;
- if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest payable is likely to be magnified; and
- the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

Partly-paid Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Failure to pay any subsequent instalment could result in an investor losing all of its investment.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Variable Rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer's ability to convert the interest rate will affect the secondary market and the market value of such Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate may at any time be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: Individual Certificates

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive an Individual Certificate in respect of such holding and would need to purchase a Principal Amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a minimum Specified Denomination.

If Individual Certificates are issued, holders should be aware that Individual Certificates which have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

Modification and waivers and substitution

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

Change of law

The Notes are governed by, and will be construed in accordance with, South African law in effect as at the Programme Date. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to South African law or administrative practice in South Africa after the Programme Date.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Risks Relating to the Issuer

Risks affecting the business of the Issuer are set out in the section of this Programme Memorandum, headed "*Description of Woolworths Holdings Limited and Woolworths Proprietary Limited*" as well as in the Issuer's published Integrated Report.

SETTLEMENT, CLEARING AND TRANSFER OF NOTES

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "Settlement, Clearing and Transfer of Notes" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

Notes listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE and/or held in the CSD

Each Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE in uncertificated form will be held in the CSD. A Tranche of unlisted Notes may also be held in the CSD.

Clearing systems

Each Tranche of Notes listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will be issued, cleared and settled in accordance with the Applicable Procedures for the time being of the JSE and the CSD through the electronic settlement system of the CSD. Such Notes will be cleared by Participants who will follow the electronic settlement procedures prescribed by the JSE and the CSD.

The CSD has, as the operator of an electronic clearing system, been appointed by the JSE to match, clear and facilitate the settlement of transactions concluded on the JSE. Subject as aforesaid each Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will be issued, cleared and transferred in accordance with the Applicable Procedures and the Terms and Conditions, and will be settled through Participants who will comply with the electronic settlement procedures prescribed by the JSE and the CSD. The Notes may be accepted for clearance through any additional clearing system as may be agreed between the JSE, the Issuer and the Dealer(s).

Participants

The CSD maintains accounts only for Participants. As at the Programme Date, the Participants which are approved by the JSE, in terms of the listing requirements of the JSE, as Settlement Agents to perform electronic settlement of funds and scrip are Citibank N.A. South Africa Branch; FirstRand Bank Limited; Nedbank Limited; Standard Chartered Bank, Johannesburg Branch; Société Générale, Johannesburg Branch; The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited and the South African Reserve Bank. Euroclear, as operator of the Euroclear System, and Clearstream will settle offshore transfers in the Notes through their Participants.

Settlement and clearing

Participants will be responsible for the settlement of scrip and payment transfers through the CSD, the JSE and the South African Reserve Bank.

While a Tranche of Notes is held in the CSD, the CSD will be named in the Register as the sole Noteholder of the Notes in that Tranche. All amounts to be paid and all rights to be exercised in respect of Notes held in the CSD will be paid to and may be exercised only by the CSD for the holders of Beneficial Interests in such Notes.

In relation to each Person shown in the records of the CSD or the relevant Participant, as the case may be, as the holder of a Beneficial Interest in a particular Nominal Amount of Notes, a certificate or other document issued by the CSD or the relevant Participant, as the case may be, as to the Nominal Amount of such Notes standing to the account of such Person shall be *prima facie* proof of such Beneficial Interest. The CSD (as the registered Noteholder of such Notes named in the Register) will be treated by the Issuer, the Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent and the relevant Participant as the holder of that aggregate Nominal Amount of such Notes for all purposes.

Payments of all amounts in respect of a Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE and/or held in uncertificated form will be made to the CSD, as the registered Noteholder of such Notes, which in turn will transfer such funds, via the Participants, to the holders of Beneficial Interests. Each of the Persons reflected in the records of the CSD or the relevant Participant, as the case may be, as the holders of Beneficial Interests in Notes shall look solely to the CSD or the relevant Participant, as the case may be, for such Person's share of each payment so made by (or on behalf of) the Issuer to, or for the order of, the CSD, as the registered Noteholder of such Notes.

Payments of all amounts in respect of a Tranche of Notes which is listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE and/or held in uncertificated form will be recorded by the CSD, as the registered Noteholder of such Notes, distinguishing between interest and principal, and such record of payments by the CSD, as the registered Noteholder of such Notes, shall be *prima facie* proof of such payments.

Transfers and exchanges

Subject to the Applicable Laws, title to Beneficial Interest held by clients of Participants indirectly through such Participants will be freely transferable and pass on transfer thereof by electronic book entry in the securities accounts maintained by such Participants for such clients. Subject to the Applicable Laws, title to Beneficial Interests held by Participants directly through the CSD will be freely transferable and pass on transfer thereof by electronic book entry in the central securities accounts maintained by the CSD for such Participants. Beneficial Interests may be transferred only in accordance with the Applicable Procedures.

Beneficial Interests may be exchanged for Notes represented by Individual Certificates in accordance with Condition 15.2 (*Transfer of Notes represented by Individual Certificates*).

Records of payments, trust and voting

Neither the Issuer nor the Paying Agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, Beneficial Interests, or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to Beneficial Interests. Neither the Issuer nor the Paying Agent nor the Transfer Agent will be bound to record any trust in the Register or to take notice of or to accede to the execution of any trust (express, implied or constructive) to which any Note may be subject. Holders of Beneficial Interests vote in accordance with the Applicable Procedures.

BESA Guarantee Fund Trust

The holders of Notes that are not listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will have no recourse against the JSE or the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust. Claims against the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust may only be made in respect of the trading of the Notes listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE and in accordance with the rules of the BESA Guarantee Fund Trust.

Notes listed on any Financial Exchange other than (or in addition to) the Interest Rate Market of the JSE

Each Tranche of Notes which is listed on any Financial Exchange other than (or in addition to) the Interest Rate Market of the JSE will be issued, cleared and settled in accordance with the rules and settlement procedures for the time being of that Financial Exchange. The settlement and redemption procedures for a Tranche of Notes which is listed on any Financial Exchange (other than or in addition to the JSE) will be specified in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "Subscription and Sale" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

The Dealer has in terms of the programme agreement dated 17 March 2017, as may be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time (the **Programme Agreement**), agreed with the Issuer a basis upon which it may from time to time agree to subscribe for Notes or procure the subscription of the Notes.

Selling restrictions

South Africa

Each Dealer has (or will have) represented, warranted and agreed that it (i) will not offer Notes for subscription, (ii) will not solicit any offers for subscription for or sale of the Notes, and (iii) will itself not sell or offer the Notes in South Africa in contravention of the Companies Act, Banks Act, Exchange Control Regulations and/or any other Applicable Laws and regulations of South Africa in force from time to time.

Prior to the issue of any Tranche of Notes under the Programme, each Dealer who has (or will have) agreed to place that Tranche of Notes will be required to represent and agree that it will not make an *"offer to the public"* (as such expression is defined in the Companies Act, and which expression includes any section of the public) of Notes (whether for subscription, purchase or sale) in South Africa. This Programme Memorandum does not, nor is it intended to, constitute a prospectus prepared and registered under the Companies Act.

Offers not deemed to be offers to the public

Offers for subscription for, or sale of, Notes are not deemed to be offers to the public if:

- (a) made only to certain investors contemplated in section 96(1)(a) of the Companies Act; or
- (b) the total contemplated acquisition cost of Notes, for any single addressee acting as principal, is equal to or greater than ZAR1,000,000, or such higher amount as may be promulgated by notice in the Government Gazette of South Africa pursuant to section 96(2)(a) of the Companies Act.

Information made available in this Programme Memorandum should not be considered as "*advice*" as defined in the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act, 2002.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the **Securities Act**) and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Prior to the issue of any Tranche of Notes under the Programme, each Dealer who has (or will have) agreed to place that Tranche of Notes will be required to represent and agree that:

- (a) the Notes in that Tranche have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act;
- (b) it has not offered, sold or delivered any Notes in that Tranche and will not offer, sell or deliver any Notes in that Tranche (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 (forty) Days after completion of the distribution, as determined and certified by the Dealer(s) or, in the case of an issue of such Notes on a syndicated basis, the relevant Lead Manager, of all Notes of the Series of which that Tranche of Notes is a part, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons;

- (c) it will send to each dealer to which it sells any Notes in that Tranche during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of such Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons; and
- (d) it, its Affiliates and any Persons acting on its or any of its Affiliates behalf have not engaged and will not engage in any directed selling efforts in the United States (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) with respect to the Notes in that Tranche and it, its Affiliates and any Persons acting on its or any of its Affiliates' behalf have complied and will comply with the offering restrictions requirements of Regulation S.

Until 40 (forty) Days after the commencement of the offering of a Series of Notes, an offer or sale of such Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with an exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

European Economic Area

Prior to the issue of any Tranche of Notes under the Programme, each Dealer who has (or will have) agreed to place that Tranche of Notes will be required to represent and agree that, in relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each a **Relevant Member State**), with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the **Relevant Implementation Date**) it has not made and will not make an offer of any of such Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of any of such Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State:

- (a) in the period beginning on the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to those Notes which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State in accordance with the Prospectus Directive and/or, where appropriate, published in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State in accordance with Article 18 of the Prospectus Directive and ending on the date which is 12 (twelve) months after the date of such publication;
- (b) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;
- (c) at any time to fewer than 100 or, if the relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal Persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (d) at any time in any other circumstances which do not require the publication by the Issuer of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State and the expression "*Prospectus Directive*" means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State) and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State and the expression "2010 PD Amending Directive" means Directive 2010/73/EU.

United Kingdom

Prior to the issue of any Tranche of Notes under the Programme, each Dealer who has (or will have) agreed to place that Tranche of Notes will be required to represent and agree that:

(a) in relation to any of the Notes in that Tranche which have a maturity of less than one year, (i) it is a Person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any of such Notes other than to Persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any of such Notes other than to Persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold,

manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of such Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act, 2000 (the **FSMA**) by the Issuer;

- (b) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any of the Notes in that Tranche under circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (c) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any of the Notes in that Tranche in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

General

Prior to the issue of any Tranche of Notes under the Programme, each Dealer who has (or will have) agreed to place that Tranche of Notes will be required to agree that:

- (a) it will (to the best of its knowledge and belief) comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations in force in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, subscribes or procures the subscription for, offers or sells Notes in that Tranche or has in its possession or distributes the Programme Memorandum and will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it for the purchase, subscription, offer or sale by it of Notes in that Tranche under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such purchases, subscription, offers or sales; and
- (b) it will comply with such other or additional restrictions as the Issuer and such Dealer agree and as are set out in the Applicable Pricing Supplement.

Neither the Issuer nor any of the Dealer(s) represent that Notes may at any time lawfully be subscribed for or sold in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder nor assumes any responsibility for facilitating such subscription or sale.

SOUTH AFRICAN TAXATION

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "South African Taxation" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

The comments below are intended as a general guide to the relevant tax laws of South Africa as at the Programme Date. The contents of this section headed "South African Taxation" do not constitute tax advice and do not purport to describe all of the considerations that may be relevant to a prospective subscriber for or purchaser of any Notes. Prospective subscribers for or purchasers of any Notes should consult their professional advisers in this regard.

Securities Transfer Tax

The issue, transfer and redemption of the Notes will not attract securities transfer tax under the Securities Transfer Tax Act, 2007 (the **STT Act**) because the Notes do not constitute "securities" as defined in the STT Act. Any future transfer duties and/or taxes that may be introduced in respect of (or applicable to) the transfer of Notes will be for the account of holders of the Notes.

Value-Added Tax

No value-added tax (VAT) is payable on the issue or transfer of the Notes. The issue, sale or transfer of the Notes constitute "financial services" as defined in section 2 of the Value-Added Tax Act, 1991 (the VAT Act). In terms of section 2 of the VAT Act, the issue, allotment, drawing, acceptance, endorsement or transfer of ownership of a debt security as well as the buying and selling of derivatives constitute a financial service, which is exempt from VAT in terms of section 12(a) of the VAT Act.

However, commissions, fees or similar charges raised for the facilitation of the issue, allotment, drawing, acceptance, endorsement or transfer of ownership of Notes constitute *"debt securities"* as defined in section 2(2)(iii) of the VAT Act will be subject to VAT at the standard rate (currently 14% (fourteen percent)), except where the recipient is a non-resident as contemplated below.

Services (including exempt financial services) rendered to non-residents who are not in South Africa when the services are rendered, are subject to VAT at the zero rate in terms of section 11(2)(I) of the VAT Act.

Income Tax

Under current taxation law effective in South Africa a "*resident*" (as defined in section 1 of the Income Tax Act) is subject to income tax on his/her worldwide income. Accordingly, all Noteholders who are "*residents*" of South Africa will generally be liable to pay income tax, subject to available deductions, allowances and exemptions, on any income (including income in the form of interest) earned in respect of the Notes. Non-residents of South Africa are subject to income tax on all income derived from a South African source (subject to domestic exemptions or relief in terms of an applicable double taxation treaty).

Interest income is derived from a South African source if that amount:

- (a) is incurred by a person that is a South African tax resident, unless the interest is attributable to a foreign permanent establishment of that resident; or
- (b) is derived from the utilisation or application in South Africa by any person of any funds or credit obtained in terms of any form of "*interest-bearing arrangement*".

The Notes will constitute an *"interest-bearing arrangement"*. The Issuer is tax resident in South Africa as at the Programme Date. Accordingly, unless the Notes are attributable to a permanent establishment of the Issuer outside of South Africa, the interest paid to the Noteholders will be from a South African source and subject to South African income tax unless such income is exempt under section 10(1)(h) of the Income Tax Act (see below).

Under section 10(1)(h) of the Income Tax Act, any amount of interest that is received or accrued by or to a Noteholder who, or which, is not a resident of South Africa during any year of assessment is exempt from income tax, unless:

- (a) that person is a natural person who was physically present in South Africa for a period exceeding 183 days in aggregate during the twelve month period preceding the date on which the interest is received by, or accrues to, that person; or
- (b) the debt from which the interest arises is effectively connected to a permanent establishment of that person in South Africa.

If a Noteholder does not qualify for the exemption under Section 10(1)(h) of the Income Tax Act, an exemption from, or reduction of any South African income tax liability may be available under an applicable double taxation treaty.

Furthermore, certain entities may be exempt from income tax. Purchasers are advised to consult their own professional advisers as to whether the interest income earned on the Notes will be exempt under section 10(1)(h) of the Income Tax Act or under an applicable double taxation treaty.

Under section 24J of the Income Tax Act, broadly speaking, any discount or premium to the principal amount of a Note is treated as part of the interest income on the Note. Interest income which accrues (or is deemed to accrue) to a Noteholder is deemed, in accordance with section 24J of the Income Tax Act, to accrue on a day-to-day basis until that Noteholder disposes of the Note or until maturity unless an election has been made by the Noteholder, which is a company, if the Noteholder is entitled under Section 24J(9) of the Income Tax Act to make such election, to treat its Notes as trading stock on a mark-to-market basis. This day-to-day basis accrual is determined by calculating the yield to maturity (as defined in Section 24J of the Income Tax Act) and applying this rate to the capital involved for the relevant tax period. The premium or discount is treated as interest for the purposes of the exemption under section 10(1)(h) of the Income Tax Act.

Section 24JB deals with the fair value taxation of financial instruments for certain types of taxpayers (**covered persons**). Noteholders should seek advice as to whether these provisions may apply to them.

To the extent the disposal of the Note gives rise to a gain or a loss, the normal principles are to be applied in determining whether such gain or loss should be subject to income tax in terms of the Income Tax Act.

Capital Gains Tax

Capital gains and losses of residents of South Africa on the disposal of Notes are subject to capital gains tax unless the Notes are purchased for re-sale in the short term as part of a scheme of profit making, in which case the proceeds will be subject to income tax. Any discount or premium on acquisition which has already been treated as interest for income tax purposes under section 24J of the Income Tax Act will not be taken into account when determining any capital gain or loss. In terms of section 24J(4A) of the Income Tax Act an adjusted loss on transfer or redemption will, to the extent that it has previously been included in the taxable income of the holder (as interest), be allowed as a deduction from the taxable income of the holder when it is incurred during the year of assessment in which the transfer or redemption takes place, and accordingly will not give rise to a capital loss.

Capital gains tax under the Eighth Schedule to the Income Tax Act will not be levied in relation to Notes disposed of by a Person who is not a resident of South Africa unless the Notes disposed of are attributable to a permanent establishment of that Person through which a trade is carried on in South Africa during the relevant year of assessment.

Purchasers are advised to consult their own professional advisers as to whether a disposal of Notes will result in a liability to capital gains tax.

Withholding Tax

A final withholding tax on interest is levied at the rate of 15%, applying to interest payments made from a South African source to foreign persons (i.e. non-residents), subject to certain exemptions (see below). South Africa is also a party to double taxation treaties that may provide full or partial relief from the withholding tax on interest, provided that certain requirements are met.

The available exemptions apply in respect of the instrument giving rise to the interest, to the foreign person receiving the interest, or to the person liable for the interest (i.e. the Issuer).

Regarding the exemptions applicable in respect of the instrument, an amount of interest is exempt if it is paid to a foreign person in terms of *"listed debt"*, being debt listed on a *"recognised exchange"*, as defined in terms of paragraph 1 of the Eighth Schedule to the Income Tax Act. The Notes may be

listed on a recognised exchange. Thus, to the extent that the Notes remain listed on that exchange (and to the extent that that exchange remains a recognised exchange), any interest paid to a foreign person in respect of the Notes will be exempt from the withholding tax on interest. If the Notes are not listed on a recognised exchange, then the interest paid to a foreign person will not be exempt from the withholding tax on interest unless another exemption is applicable.

Regarding the exemptions applicable in respect of the foreign person receiving the interest, an amount of interest is exempt if-

- that foreign person is a natural person who was physically present in South Africa for a period exceeding 183 days in aggregate during the twelve month period preceding the date on which the interest is paid;
- (b) the debt claim in respect of which that interest is paid is effectively connected with a permanent establishment of that foreign person in South Africa, if that foreign person is registered as a taxpayer in terms of <u>Chapter 3</u> of the Tax Administration Act, 2011; and
- (c) The foreign person submits a declaration confirming their exemption to the person liable for the payment of the interest before payment of the interest is made.

If a foreign person does not qualify for the above exemption, then any interest paid to that foreign person will not be exempt from the withholding tax on interest unless another exemption is applicable.

Regarding the exemptions applicable in respect of the person liable for the interest, none of these will be applicable in respect of the Issuer. Thus, if the exemptions in respect of listed debt and foreign persons above are not applicable, then any interest paid to a foreign person will not be exempt from the withholding tax.

Definition of Interest

The references to "*interest*" above means "*interest*" as understood in South African tax law. The statements above do not take account of any different definitions of "*interest*" or "*principal*" which may prevail under any other law or which may be created by the Terms and Conditions or any related documentation.

SOUTH AFRICAN EXCHANGE CONTROL

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "South African Exchange Control" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

The information below is intended as a general guide to the position under the Exchange Control Regulations as at the Programme Date. The Exchange Control Regulations are subject to change at any time without notice. The contents of this section headed "South African Exchange Control" do not constitute exchange control advice and do not purport to describe all of the considerations that may be relevant to a prospective subscriber for or purchaser of any Notes. Prospective subscribers for or purchasers of any Notes should consult their professional advisers in this regard.

Non-South African resident Noteholders and emigrants from the Common Monetary Area

Dealings in the Notes and the performance by the Issuer of its obligations under the Notes and the applicable Terms and Conditions may be subject to the Exchange Control Regulations.

Emigrant Blocked Rands

Blocked Rands may be used for the subscription for or purchase of Notes. Any amounts payable by the Issuer in respect of the Notes subscribed for or purchased with Blocked Rands may not, in terms of the Exchange Control Regulations, be remitted out of South Africa or paid into any non-South African bank account.

Emigrants from the Common Monetary Area

Any Individual Certificates issued to Noteholders who are emigrants from the Common Monetary Area will be endorsed "*emigrant*". Such restrictively endorsed Individual Certificates shall be deposited with an authorised foreign exchange dealer controlling such emigrant's blocked assets.

In the event that a Beneficial Interest in Notes is held by an emigrant from the Common Monetary Area through the CSD, the securities account maintained for such emigrant by the relevant Participant will be designated as an "*emigrant*" account.

Any payments of interest and/or principal due to a Noteholder who is an emigrant from the Common Monetary Area will be deposited into such emigrant Noteholder's Blocked Rand account, as maintained by an authorised foreign exchange dealer. Interest payments are freely transferable and may be credited to the emigrant's non-resident Rand account. Capital amounts in respect of principal are not freely transferable from the Common Monetary Area and may only be dealt with in terms of the Exchange Control Regulations.

Non-residents of the Common Monetary Area

Any Individual Certificates issued to Noteholders who are not resident in the Common Monetary Area will be endorsed "*non-resident*". In the event that a Beneficial Interest in Notes is held by a non-resident of the Common Monetary Area through the CSD, the securities account maintained for such Noteholder by the relevant Participant will be designated as a "*non-resident*" account.

It will be incumbent on any such non-resident Noteholder to instruct the non-resident's nominated or authorised dealer in foreign exchange as to how any funds due to such non-resident in respect of Notes are to be dealt with. Such funds may, in terms of the Exchange Control Regulations, be remitted abroad only if the relevant Notes are acquired with foreign currency introduced into South Africa or Rand from a non-resident Rand account and provided that the relevant Individual Certificate has been endorsed "non-resident" or the relevant securities account has been designated as a "non-resident" account, as the case may be.

The Issuer is domiciled and incorporated in South Africa and as such is not required to obtain exchange control approval.

For purposes of this section, **Common Monetary Area** means South Africa, Lesotho, Namibia, and Swaziland.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Capitalised terms used in this section headed "General Information" shall bear the same meanings as used in the Terms and Conditions, except to the extent that they are separately defined in this section or this is clearly inappropriate from the context.

Authorisation

All consents, approvals, authorisations or other orders of all regulatory authorities required by the Issuer under the laws of South Africa as at the Programme Date have been given for the establishment of the Programme and the issue of Notes and for the Issuer to undertake and perform its obligations under the Programme Memorandum and the Notes.

Listing

The Programme Memorandum was approved by the JSE on or about 17 March 2017. Notes to be issued under the Programme may be listed on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE or any other Financial Exchange. Unlisted Notes may also be issued under the Programme Memorandum.

Documents Available

So long as the Notes are capable of being issued under the Programme, copies of the documents incorporated under the section headed "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*" will, when published, be available at the registered office of the Issuer as set out at the end of this Programme Memorandum. This Programme Memorandum, any supplement and/or amendment hereto, the Applicable Pricing Supplements relating to any issue of listed Notes and the published audited annual financial statements of the Issuer will also be available on the Issuer's website at www.woolworthsholdings.co.za and this Programme Memorandum, any supplements relating to any issue of listed Notes will be available on the JSE's website <u>www.jse.co.za</u>.

Material Change

As at the Programme Date, and after due and careful inquiry, there has been no material change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer, its subsidiaries and the Guarantor since the date of the Issuer's and the Guarantor's respective latest audited financial statements. As at the Programme Date, there has been no involvement by Ernst & Young in making the aforementioned statement.

Litigation

Save as disclosed herein, the Issuer and/or the Guarantor (whether as defendant or otherwise) are not engaged in any legal, arbitration, administration or other proceedings the results of which might have or have had a significant effect on the financial position or the operations of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor, nor are they aware of any such proceedings being threatened or pending.

Auditor

Ernst & Young Inc. have acted as the auditor of the financial statements of the Issuer for the financial periods ended on or about 30 June 2014, 2015 and 2016 and of the Guarantor for the financial periods ended on or about 30 June 2014, 2015 and 2016 and in respect of those periods, have issued unmodified audit reports.

ISSUER

Woolworths Holdings Limited

(registration number 1929/001986/06)

Woolworths House 93 Longmarket Street Cape Town, 8001 South Africa Private Bag X680 Cape Town, 8000 South Africa

Contact: WHL Group Company Secretary

GUARANTOR

Woolworths Proprietary Limited (registration number 1956/000518/07)

Woolworths House 93 Longmarket Street Cape Town, 8001 South Africa Private Bag X680 Cape Town, 8000 South Africa

Contact: WHL Group Company Secretary

ARRANGERS

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division (registration number 1962/000738/06)

3rd Floor, East Wing 30 Baker Street Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2001 South Africa P O Box 61344 Marshalltown, 2107 South Africa Contact: Mr A Contogiannis Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited (registration number 1929/001225/06)

1 Merchant Place Cnr Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road Sandton, 2196 South Africa P O Box 786273 Sandton, 2146 South Africa

Contact: Mr D Wood

DEALERS

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division

(registration number 1962/000738/06)

3rd Floor, East Wing 30 Baker Street Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2001 South Africa P O Box 61344 Marshalltown, 2107 South Africa

Contact: Mr A Contogiannis

Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited (registration number 1929/001225/06)

1 Merchant Place Cnr Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road Sandton, 2196 South Africa P O Box 786273 Sandton, 2146 South Africa

Contact: Mr D Wood

Investec Bank Limited, acting through its Corporate and Institutional Banking division (registration number 1969/004763/06)

> 3rd Floor 100 Grayston Drive Sandown

Sandton, 2196 South Africa P O Box 785700 Sandton, 2146 South Africa

Contact: Mr A Ideler

Nedbank Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division (registration number 1951/000009/06)

> 135 Rivonia Road Sandown, 2196 South Africa P O Box 1144 Johannesburg, 2000 South Africa

Contact: Mr B Stewart

Absa Corporate and Investment Bank, a division of Absa Bank Limited

(registration number 1986/004794/06)

15 Alice Lane Sandton, 2196 South Africa Private Bag X10056 Sandton, 2146 South Africa

Contact: Mr K Naidoo

JSE DEBT SPONSOR

Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited (registration number 1929/001225/06)

1 Merchant Place Cnr Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road Sandton, 2196 South Africa P O Box 786273 Sandton, 2146 South Africa

Contact: Mr D Wood

PAYING AGENT, TRANSFER AGENT AND CALCULATION AGENT

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited,

acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking division

(registration number 1962/000738/06)

25 Pixley Ka Isaka Seme Street Johannesburg, 2001 South Africa PO Box 61344 Marshalltown, 2107 South Africa

Contact: Ms P Vermeulen

LEGAL ADVISORS TO ISSUER AND GUARANTOR

Bowman Gilfillan Incorporated

(registration number 1998/021409/21)

165 West Street Sandown Sandton, 2196 South Africa P O Box 785812 Sandton, 2146 South Africa

Contact: Mr C van Heerden

AUDITORS TO THE ISSUER AND GUARANTOR Ernst & Young Incorporated

Ernst & Young House 35 Lower Long Street Cape Town, 8001 South Africa P O Box 656 Cape Town, 8000 South Africa

Contact: Mr A Cadman